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GROUP restructuring

RMBH implemented a far reaching restructuring on 7 March 2011.
This included the following key steps:
•	the acquisition by RMBH of additional FirstRand Limited
(“FirstRand”) ordinary shares thereby increasing RMBH’s holding
in FirstRand to 33,9%;
•	the separation of RMBH’s insurance and banking interests, through
the transfer of RMBH’s insurance interests to Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited (“RMI Holdings”); and
•	the unbundling of RMI Holdings to RMBH’s ordinary shareholders
on a one-for-one basis.
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where we are

 MBH is now a focused investment
R
company, holding a 33,9% interest
in FirstRand, Southern Africa’s
pre-eminent banking group.

+21% to
241,3 cents

R1,4 billion
or 101,0 cents

Normalised earnings

ordinary DIVIDEND

R1,3 billion
or 95,0 cents

R36,6 billion
or 2 589 cents

SPECIAL DIVIDEND

INTRINSIC VALUE
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Where WE ARE

 HE group’s entrepreneurial culture
T
and track record for innovation
contributed during the current year to
a strong outcome against a challenging
background, with normalised
earnings increasing by 21%.
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approach to integrated reporting

• T
 his is RMBH’s first annual integrated report. Currently
very little guidance is available on what integrated reporting
entails, especially given the focused and
specialised nature of RMBH’s business model as an
investment holding company. We accept that our approach
will evolve as the investor community moves towards
the formalisation of a framework for integrated reporting.

Approach to INTEGRATED REPORTING

• R
 MBH does not believe integrated reporting has a significant
influence on how we run the business but have evolved
our reporting structure into a more transparent
approach and have connected the various areas
of financial statement reporting, sustainability reporting,
management commentary and governance and remuneration
into a more cohesive whole.
• W
 e are mindful of the fact that significant elements
of the disclosure has already been made by FirstRand,
and rather than a by rote replication of
the information we have chosen to rather crossrefer stakeholders to the FirstRand report where appropriate.
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our track record
(including RMI Holdings for 2011)
Dividend PER SHARE [cents]

Our TRACK RECORD

Share price HISTORY [cents]

Normalised EARNINGS PER SHARE [cents]

Annual compound GROWTH
(including RMI Holdings)
Against an earnings background that
showed significant volatility in recent
years, investors in RMBH and RMI
Holdings have benefited from strong
investment outcomes both in capital
growth and dividend returns over most
time horizons.

Per share

Since
listing
in 1993

10 years

5 years

3 years

1 year

Dividend

24%

16%

7%

4%

27%

Share price (closing)

20%

12%

10%

23%

25%

Total shareholder return

26%

17%

15%

29%

33%
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our STRUCTURE

RMBH has significant influence
over one of SOUTH AFRICA’S leading
bank and financial services groups.

Our STRUCTURE

Interest 33,9%

FirstRand limited

FirstRand Limited (“FirstRand or the FirstRand group”)
The FirstRand group consists of a portfolio of leading financial services franchises; these are
First National Bank (“FNB”), the retail commercial and wholesale bank, Rand Merchant Bank (“RMB”),
the investment bank, and WesBank, the instalment finance business.

FNB services the retail, business and
medium corporate segments. In addition
it provides transactional services
to the group’s large corporate clients.
The FirstRand
group provides
customers with
a comprehensive
range of products
and services
according to
specific target
market segments.

RMB is responsible for the large corporate
segment, to which it provides loans, value
added advisory and structuring services.

WesBank is South Africa’s dominant
movable asset financier.

The balance of the group includes its African banking subsidiaries
and Group treasury.

4

2011 annual integrated report

executive review

GROUP RESTRUCTURING
Having obtained the requisite shareholder and regulatory
approval, RMBH implemented a far reaching

restructuring on 7 March 2011.
This included, inter alia, the following steps:
• t he issue of new RMBH ordinary shares to
Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Pty)
Limited for a cash consideration of R2,5 billion;

Executive REVIEW

• t he acquisition by RMBH of additional FirstRand
ordinary shares in exchange for the issue of
new RMBH ordinary shares, thereby increasing
RMBH’s holding in FirstRand to 33,9%;
• t he separation of RMBH’s insurance and banking
interests, through the transfer of RMBH’s
insurance interests to a wholly-owned
subsidiary, RMI Holdings; and
• t he unbundling of RMI Holdings to RMBH’s
ordinary shareholders on a one-for-one basis and
the separate listing of RMI Holdings on the JSE 
as an insurance-focused investment entity.
After the restructuring, RMBH’s sole interest is its 33,9% investment in FirstRand, one of South Africa’s
pre-eminent banking groups.
RMBH’s results for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 thus represents an amalgam of its attributable
share of FirstRand’s income (after recognising the change in interest during the year) and its attributable
share of the income of its insurance interests up to the unbundling thereof. This, together with accounting
for the restructuring itself, gives rise to a number of counter-intuitive outcomes in the reported results.
To overcome the impact of this, the commentary focuses on normalised earnings from continuing
operations as its main measurement. A reconciliation of the adjustments made to derive normalised
earnings is presented in the accompanying schedules. The computation of normalised earnings has not
been audited.
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executive review continued

GT Ferreira // Chairman
Overview of results
Global economic growth started to moderate in the first half of 2011, particularly in highly-indebted, developed
economies and sentiment was further dampened by increased concern over the fiscal health of certain peripheral
Eurozone nations.
Factors that weighed on global economic activity included the devastating Japanese earthquake (resulting in the
disruption of global supply chains); political unrest in North Africa and the Middle East; adverse weather conditions; and
growing demand from emerging market economies (pushing oil and grain prices upwards).
Against this uncertain global economic backdrop, the South African economy held up well, registering quarterly growth
rates above 2,5% during the financial year. South African consumers, who benefited from low debt service costs and
robust real income growth, were the main drivers behind this expansion. In addition, increased global commodity prices
provided support to the South African export sector. However, employment growth, demand for credit and investment
spending by the private sector stayed sluggish. Inflation remained within the South African Reserve Bank’s (“SARB”)
target band.
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Executive REVIEW

Peter Cooper //
Chief executive officer
Financial director

/

RMBH continued to build on its strong first half performance to produce excellent results for the financial year to
30 June 2011, achieving normalised earnings from continuing operations of R3,09 billion, an increase of 28% on the
previous year.
After taking cognisance of the ordinary shares issued during the year, the following outcome was achieved:
2011
R million

Cents
per share

% change
cents per share

Attributable earnings

4 121

321,9c

+60

Headline earnings

2 966

231,7c

+15

Normalised earnings

3 091

241,3c

+21

Year ended 30 June 2011
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executive review continued
SOURCES of income by business area
FirstRand’s well-diversified income stream is drawn from the full spectrum of banking services and is predominantly
sourced from Southern Africa. RMBH’s proportional interest therein may be extrapolated as follows:

Retail banking
Corporate banking
Investment banking

47%
20%
33%

Normalised earnings sources
RMBH’s attributable share of normalised earnings was derived from the following business areas:

Executive REVIEW

FirstRand
FNB – South Africa
FNB Africa
RMB
WesBank
FirstRand Corporate Centre
(including preference dividend payments)
Normalised earnings from continuing operations

2011
R million

2010
R million

%
change

5 022
540
3 610
1 862

4 276
455
3 316
953

17
19
9
95

(717)

28

8 283

22

(917)
10 117

Attributable to RMBH
Funding cost

3 201
(110)

2 494
(86)

28
28

Normalised earnings from continuing operations

3 091

2 408

28

GROUP Capital position and borrowings
At the end of June 2011, RMBH’s net borrowings at holding company level amounted to some R1,37 billion
(2010: R0,75 billion). We anticipate that borrowings can be maintained at this level.
The intrinsic value of RMBH’s investment portfolio reflects the effect of the unbundling that took place during the year,
with the values at year end being as follows:
2011

2010

Market value of interest in FirstRand
Net borrowings

37 922
(1 368)

30 609
(754)

Market value of interest in FirstRand after borrowings
Assets unbundled

36 554
–

29 855
8 860

Total Intrinsic Value

36 554

38 715

Per RMBH share (cents)

2 589c

3 202c

R million

At 30 June 2011 RMBH’s market capitalisation amounted to R37,7 billion or 2 665c per share, representing a 2,9%
premium to the group’s underlying intrinsic value.
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DIVIDEND payment
RMBH has traditionally followed the practice of returning substantially all net dividends (after providing for funding and
other costs incurred at the centre) received by it in the ordinary course of business to shareholders. It is envisaged that
this practice will continue after the group restructuring.
For the year ended 30 June 2011, RMBH’s normalised earnings from continuing operations (that is after recognising the
impact of the unbundling of RMI Holdings) amounted to 241,3 cents per share (2010: 199,2 cents).
The board is of the opinion that RMBH is adequately capitalised at this stage and that the company will be able to meet
its obligations in the foreseeable future after payment of the final dividend declared below.
Having due regard to the final dividend receivable from FirstRand and applying the dividend practice outlined above, the
board of RMBH has declared a final dividend of 58,3 cents per share. Such final dividend, together with the interim
dividend of 42,7 cents brings the total dividends for the year ended 30 June 2011 to 101,0 cents (2010: 124,0 cents).
Such dividend is covered 2,4 times by normalised earnings per share.
In total, an RMBH shareholder who has retained his RMI Holdings shares from the unbundling would have received the
following ordinary dividends per share for the year ended 30 June 2011:

RMBH
RMI Holdings

Interim

Final

2011
Total

2010
Total

42,7
22,8

58,3
33,7

101,0
56,5

124,0
–

65,5

92,0

157,5

124,0

%
change

Executive REVIEW

Cents per share

+27

The board of RMBH is of the view that the level of borrowings that the group currently carries at the centre is appropriate.
Consistent with its policy of not retaining surplus resources at the centre, the board has decided to return the proceeds
of the special dividend declared by FirstRand to shareholders. Accordingly, the board of RMBH has declared a special
dividend of 95,0 cents per share.

OUTLOOK for the coming year
Significant disquiet in global markets results in a highly uncertain outlook. We expect that domestic economic conditions
will remain subdued in the current financial year. Growth in retail advances will remain low and given current levels of
corporate capacity, investment opportunities will be limited and growth in corporate advances is therefore expected to
remain subdued.
Given the revenue pressures resulting from such a low growth macro environment, FirstRand continues to drive cost
efficiencies.
In addition, FirstRand’s operating franchises will continue to focus on opportunities in those market segments that display
growth trends, and where they remain under-represented. With the exception of WesBank which anticipates a healthy
lending landscape in both corporate and retail portfolios, overall balance sheet growth will be tough to generate.
However, non-interest revenue should remain healthy, particularly given FNB’s focus on innovation and customer service
delivery and the strength of RMB’s investing, trading and advisory franchises.
GDP growth in Sub-Saharan Africa is expected to further strengthen in 2011 and 2012 and all of FirstRand’s franchises
will continue to capitalise on growth opportunities in those countries identified as priorities for expansion. FNB will
continue to expand its operating footprint supported by its South African platform and RMB will mine the trade
and investment flows between Asia and Africa, leveraging off the existing FNB platforms and its own platform in India.
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executive review continued

The restructuring of the RMBH group into focused, separately listed
banking (via RMBH) and insurance (via RMI Holdings) groups has
given shareholders greater flexibility and transparency in managing
their investment in the group.
The quality of FirstRand’s operating franchises and their respective strategies domestically and in the rest of Africa should
underpin that group’s ability to provide us, as shareholders, with sustainable superior returns.
During the year we restructured the board to take cognisance of the group restructuring. To the new directors that have
joined, a warm welcome. To those whom has departed, it is only a partial farewell, as we still benefit from their guidance
and wisdom at the RMI Holdings board.
Finally to all other stakeholders, be they staff, management or shareholders – thank you for your support and effort,
without which RMBH cannot grow and prosper.

Executive REVIEW

For and on behalf of the board

GT Ferreira
Chairman
Sandton
14 September 2011
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P Cooper
Chief executive officer

rmbh normalised earnings
Computation of normalised earnings (unaudited)
The group believes that normalised earnings more accurately reflect operational performance. Headline earnings are
adjusted to take into account non-operational and accounting anomalies. These unaudited adjustments are consistent
with those reported at 30 June 2010.

Headline earnings attributable to equity holders
RMBH’s share of adjustments made by associates:
Treasury Shares
Reversal of private equity subsidiary realisations
Net realised and fair value gains on
shareholders funds
Basis changes and investment variances
Amortisation of intangible assets relating to business
combinations
Recapture of reinsurance
Other
IFRS 2 share based expenses
Normalised earnings after normalised adjustments
by associates
Adjustment for:
RMBH shares held by policyholders
Group treasury shares
Normalised earnings attributable to equity holders

Note

1

2011
Unaudited

2010
Unaudited

%
change

3 746

3 594

4

162
156

83
–

(26)
6

–
–

35
78
13
(5)

–
–
–
73

4 165
2
3

55
(201)
4 019

3 750
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RMBH normalised earnings

For the year ended 30 June
R million

66
(249)
3 567

13

Notes:
1. Deconsolidation of treasury shares and “deemed” treasury shares by FirstRand and Discovery to account for:
– the Discovery BEE transaction;
– FirstRand shares acquired to hedge liabilities under staff share schemes; and
– FirstRand shares held as policyholders’ assets by group insurers.
2. Deconsolidation of “deemed” RMBH treasury shares held for policyholders by group insurers.
3. Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMBH shareholding in group companies, i.e. reflecting treasury shares
as if they are non-controlling interests.

Sources of normalised earnings (unaudited)
For the year ended 30 June
R million

2011
Unaudited

2010
Unaudited

%
change

Normalised earnings from:
FirstRand
Funding costs

3 201
(110)

2 494
(86)

28
28

Normalised earnings from continuing operations

3 091

2 408

28

Momentum
MMI Holdings
Discovery
OUTsurance
RMB Structured Insurance

152
121
342
291
22

418
–
389
341
11

Normalised earnings from unbundled operations

928

1 159

(20)

4 019

3 567

13

2011
Unaudited

2010
Unaudited

%
change

3 091
1 281
241,3
241,3

2 408
1 209
199,2
199,2

28

Normalised earnings for the year

From continuing operations
For the year ended 30 June
R million
Normalised earnings from continuing operations
Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions)
Normalised earnings per share (cents)
Diluted normalised earnings per share (cents)

21
21
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group overview

Group OVERVIEW

FirstRand

Sizwe Nxasana //
Chief executive officer, FirstRand

Johan Burger //
Chief financial officer /
Chief operating officer, FirstRand
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FirstRand coMPRISES a portfolio of South Africa’s leading
financial services franchises, the most important of which
are First National Bank (retail and commercial banking), Rand Merchant

Group OVERVIEW

Bank (investment banking) and WesBank (instalment finance).

R10,1 billion
Normalised earnings

33,9%
RMBH INTEREST

FirstRand continued to build on its strong first half performance to produce excellent results
for the financial year to 30 June 2011:
• achieving

normalised earnings from normalised continuing operations of R10,1 billion,
an increase of 22% on the previous period; and
• producing a normalised return on equity (“ROE”) of 18,7% (2010: 17,7%).
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group overview continued
FirstRand continued
Integrated highlights:
2011

2010*

% change

Continuing operations
Headline earnings
Normalised earnings
Return on equity %
Return on average assets %
Credit loss ratio %
Net interest margin %

9 258
10 117
18,7
1,5
0,93
4,58

7 789
8 283
17,7
1,3
1,39
4,58

19
22

Core Tier 1 ratio %**
Tier 1 ratio %**
Diluted normalised earnings per share (cents)
Ordinary dividend per share (cents)
Special dividend per share (cents)
Net asset value per share (cents)

13,8
15,0
179,4
81,0
70,0
1 044,0

12,6
13,5
146,9
64,0
–
875,9

22
27
100
19

Non-financial highlights
Economic value added to society by continuing
operations (R million)
Total workforce (number)
South African workforce (number)
% ACI employees (SA operations)
Skills development investment (R million)
Retail customers (million)
BEE procurement spend (%)
Carbon emissions (Kw/h (000))

34 421
34 612
30 600
70
271
8,6
73
280 664

27 056
34 904
31 288
68
216
8,2
63
311 371

27
(1)
(2)
3
25
5
16
(10)

Group OVERVIEW

R million

* 2010 data has been restated to exclude Momentum and Outsurance.
** Comparative value for June 2010 is shown for FirstRand Bank Holdings (the Bank controlling company at that time). FirstRand Limited
become the Bank controlling company effective 1 July 2010.

With effect from 7 March 2011, RMBH’s sole interest is its 33,9% investment in FirstRand, one of South Africa’s preeminent banking groups.
FirstRand’s vision is to be the African financial services group of choice, creating long-term franchise value and delivering
superior and sustainable economic returns to shareholders within acceptable levels of volatility. It seeks to:
• b
 ecome a predominant South African player focusing on both existing markets and those markets where the business
is currently under-represented; and
• further grow the existing African franchise, targeting those markets that are expected to produce above average
domestic growth and are strongly positioned to benefit from the trade and investment flows between Africa and Asia,
particularly China and India.
These strategies are executed through FirstRand’s operating franchises, within a strategic framework set by the group.
During the year, FNB, the retail and commercial bank; RMB, the investment bank; and WesBank, the instalment finance
business, continued to make good progress against this strategic intent.

Operational performance
FirstRand’s operating franchises, FNB, RMB and WesBank, delivered very strong operational performances.
Overall non-interest revenue (“NIR”) grew 7% as a result of ongoing customer acquisition and robust transactional
volumes at FNB, particularly in electronic channels. WesBank generated strong fee and commission growth and RMB’s
knowledge-based fee income benefited from good deal flow throughout the year.
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Earnings continued to be positively impacted by the significant decrease in retail bad debts (impairment charge down
34% on the previous period), particularly in the large books of FNB and WesBank. The absolute rate of reduction in bad
debts flattened in the second half of the year and has now reached a normalised level.
Investment income also contributed strongly, driven by the private equity and resources portfolios of RMB, and profits
from the disposal of Visa Inc. shares.
Asset margins benefited from new business repricing across the large lending books, although given the significant size
of the in-force advances (particularly in residential mortgages) compared to the current levels of new business, the
benefits will take time to materialise. Margins also continued to be impacted by the negative endowment effect on
capital and deposits as average interest rates for the financial year were 114 bps lower than the previous period.
Overall FirstRand’s group operating expenses reflect good ongoing cost control with costs increasing only 9%.

FirstRand capital position
Given the macro environment, FirstRand seeks to operate at the higher end of its targeted capital levels to ensure balance
sheet resilience. Its targeted capital adequacy ratio of 12% to 13,5% needs to be contrasted to the actual FirstRand ratio
of 16,5%.

Group OVERVIEW

FirstRand has completed a process of assessing current ratios against anticipated deployment, the implementation of
Basel III regulatory changes and its ability to generate future capital through earnings. It is of the view that it is currently
operating above the appropriate target levels. This can be ascribed to:
• the
 recent disposal of certain non-core assets, including the group’s stakes in VISA Inc. and OUTsurance, has resulted
in an excess that is not required for the current expansion strategy and regulatory changes; and
• the group’s operating franchises are generating good returns at a time when there is limited opportunity to grow risk
weighted assets due to the current economic climate.
The group has declared a special dividend of 70 cents per share due to the disposal of the non-core assets. It is FirstRand’s
view that as shareholders were invested in these assets through FirstRand, the opportunistic transactions led to the
unlocking of shareholder value and this realised value should be returned to shareholders.

Progress with FirstRand’s African expansion strategy
The case for investing in Africa is persuasive – economies are strong, political risks have stabilised, and the business
climates continue to improve.
FirstRand has a compelling strategy to grow its franchises on the African continent, matched with a highly disciplined
approach to protecting shareholder returns. In order to protect its ROE as it builds a presence outside of its core South
African operations, FirstRand prefers “greenfields” operations or small rather than significant acquisitions. While this can
mean expansion takes longer, potential dilution of returns can be contained. “Bolt-on” acquisitions to existing
“greenfields” operations are also preferable, as these can bring additional scale more rapidly.
The group regards domestic market size and potential market growth as early key considerations when identifying
priority countries for expansion outside of South Africa. Based on these considerations, Nigeria, Ghana, Tanzania,
Botswana, Kenya, Uganda, Angola and Zambia have been identified as the more desirable markets. As these priority
countries present different commercial opportunities, FNB, RMB and WesBank pursue differentiated entry strategies,
albeit within the group’s overall risk appetite and framework. Thus, FNB continues to make significant progress in
building out its infrastructure in Zambia and has established a full service banking operation in Tanzania, while RMB
(which already has a presence in India) has opened representative offices in Kenya and Angola to benefit from investment
and trade flows between these countries and India.
For an indepth review of FirstRand’s performance, RMBH shareholders are referred to www.firstrand.co.za.
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corporate governance report
In the almost two decades since its JSE listing, RMBH successfully built up a portfolio comprising significant stakes in
Southern Africa’s pre-eminent financial services businesses. After the restructuring completed during March 2011, RMBH
is now a focused financial services group that holds a significant investment in FirstRand, itself the owner of the country’s
leading banking enterprises including FNB, RMB and WesBank (as set out on page 4).
A core element of RMBH’s success can be ascribed to an “owner-manager” culture which has been inculcated at every
business in which it invested. Thus:
• while the RMBH board is responsible for the maintenance of sound corporate governance, it believes that its
implementation is best managed at an investee level; and consequently,
• FirstRand has its own governance structure, i.e. board of directors, executive team, audit, risk, capital and compliance
and remuneration committees that monitor operations and deal with governance and transformation related issues.
Effective corporate governance forms part of RMBH’s investment assessment criteria which is further monitored by nonexecutive board representation on those boards.

Corporate GOVERNANCE REPORT

RMBH subscribes to a set of values which seek to foster integrity,
innovation, individual empowerment and personal accountability.
RMBH re-enforces these values through various board committees
with clearly defined responsibilities.
Board of directors

Directors’ affairs and
Management
governance committee committee

Audit and Risk
committee

Social and
Ethics committee

In South Africa, principles and guidelines for corporate governance are set by:
• the King III Report’s Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct (“King III”); and
• effective 1 May 2011, the new Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (“Companies Act”).
Both RMBH and FirstRand endorse King III. RMBH is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”). RMBH therefore
also complies with the JSE Listing Requirements.

Approach to Integrated Reporting
This is RMBH’s first annual integrated report (as envisaged by King III). Currently very little guidance is available on what
integrated reporting entails, especially given the focused and specialised nature of RMBH’s business model as an
investment holding company. We accept that our approach will evolve as the investor community moves towards the
formalisation of a framework for integrated reporting.
RMBH does not believe integrated reporting has a significant influence on how we run the business but have evolved
our reporting structure into a more transparent approach and have connected the various areas of financial statement
reporting, sustainability reporting, management commentary and governance and remuneration into a more cohesive
whole. We are mindful of the fact that significant elements of the disclosure has already been made by FirstRand and,
rather than a by rote replication of the information, we have chosen to rather cross-refer stakeholders to the FirstRand
report where appropriate.
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King III
King III became effective on 1 July 2010 for RMBH. The JSE Listings Requirements prescribe that all JSE-listed companies
provide a narrative of how it has applied the recommendations contained in King III, in respect of financial years
commencing on or after the effective date.
During the year under review RMBH applied all principles of King III, save for the following recommendations which were
deviated from:
• The majority of the board should be independent non-executives. The RMBH board consists of eleven members
of whom ten are non-executives. Of the non-executives directors five are seen as not being independent, primarily as
a result of their interests in the company, or due to the fact that they represent significant shareholders. RMBH believes
that all board members are suitably qualified and believes that the current composition of the board is in the best
interest of all stakeholders without prejudice to them.
• The three highest earners who are not board members remuneration should be disclosed. After due consideration
of this recommendation, RMBH decided that the disclosure of executives and non-executive directors is sufficient and
appropriately demonstrates alignment between remuneration and shareholders return.
• Management should report annually on the IT platform of the business. RMBH does not have any direct customers
that require services by an IT platform. Currently all IT functions (largely administrative in nature) have been outsourced
and the arrangement is reviewed annually. Management has therefore not performed a review of the IT platform

Corporate GOVERNANCE REPORT

as recommended.

Year under review
Disclosure in this report is limited to RMBH. FirstRand, the only entity over which RMBH has significant influence,
discloses the relevant information in its own annual integrated report.
The Companies Act places certain duties on directors and determines that they should apply the necessary care and skill
in fulfilling their duties. To ensure that this is achieved, the board applies best practice principles, as contained in King
III, where appropriate.
The following are the notable aspects of RMBH’s corporate governance:

The Board of Directors
Role and responsibilities
The board’s paramount responsibility is the positive performance of RMBH in creating value for its shareholders. In so
doing it should take account of the legitimate interests and expectations of other stakeholders. RMBH’s stakeholders
include the present and potential beneficiaries of RMBH group as investors in it.
In terms of its formal charter, the board’s responsibilities include the appointment of the executive officers, approval of
corporate strategy, risk management and corporate governance. The board reviews and approves the business plans and
monitors financial performance of the group and implementation of the strategies. The board is the guardian of the
values and ethics of the company and its investees and seeks to ensure that the company is and is seen to be a
responsible corporate citizen. The board is also responsible for formulating the company’s communication policy and
ensuring that spokespersons of the company adhere to it. This responsibility includes clear, transparent, balanced and
truthful communication to shareholders and relevant stakeholders.
The board has a fiduciary duty to act in good faith, with due care and diligence, and in the best interests of the group
and its stakeholders. It is the primary body responsible for the corporate governance values of the group. While control is
delegated to the management committee in the day-to-day management of the group, the board retains full and effective
control over the group. A formal board charter, as recommended by King III, has been adopted. The charter includes a
code of ethics to which all directors subscribe. The code deals with duties of care and skill, as well as those of good faith,
including honesty and integrity and the need to always act in the best interests of the company. Procedures exist in terms
of which unethical business practices can be brought to the attention of the board by directors or employees.

2011 annual integrated report
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corporate governance report continued
Board members have full and unrestricted access to management and all group information and property. They are
entitled, at the cost of the group, to seek independent professional advice in the fulfilment of their duties. Directors may
meet separately with management without the attendance of executive directors.
After evaluating their performance in terms of their respective charters, the directors are of the opinion that the board
and the subcommittees have discharged all their responsibilities.

Composition of the board
RMBH has a unitary board with a non-executive director as chairman. The chairman is not independent in terms of the
definition stated below. The Board believes that the chairman’s specialist knowledge of the financial services industry
makes it appropriate for him to hold this position.
The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate and the composition of the board ensures a balance of
authority precluding any one director from exercising unfettered powers of decision making. The directors are individuals
of a high calibre with diverse backgrounds and expertise, facilitating independent judgement and broad deliberations
in the decision-making process. The board each year evaluates its composition to ensure an appropriate mix of skills
and experience.
The board comprises eleven members of whom ten are non-executive directors. Five of the non-executive directors are
also independent directors in terms of the definition stated below. During the year, Mr Goss was appointed as lead
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independent non-executive director. The independence of the directors classified as “independent” was evaluated by
weighing all relevant factors, including length of services, which may impair independence.
There is a clear policy in place detailing procedures for appointments to the board. Such appointments are formal and a
matter for the board as a whole. New directors are subject to a ‘fit and proper’ test. An informal orientation programme
is available to incoming directors. No director has an automatic right to a position on the board. All directors are required
to be elected by shareholders at an annual general meeting. The company in general meeting may appoint any person
to be a director subject to the provisions of its memorandum of incorporation.
During the year Messrs Goss, Shubane and Mrs Sebotsa retired in terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation
and, being eligible, were re-elected by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the company. Messrs Crouse
and Carroll were appointed to the RMBH board on 25 May 2011. Mr Durand resigned as a non-executive director on
25 May 2011.
The names of the directors, their age, qualifications and other detail appear on pages 28 to 29.
The boards of the group’s major investment and its operating divisions are similarly constituted with the necessary mix
of skills, experience and diversity. There is also an appropriate mix between executive and non-executive appointments.

Term of office
Non-executive directors retire by rotation every three years and are eligible for re-election. Re-appointment of nonexecutive directors is not automatic. The retirement age of the directors is set at seventy.
The chief executive officer has an employment contract that can, subject to fair labour practices, be terminated with one
month’s notice.

Definition of independence
An independent non-executive director is a non-executive director who:
• is not a representative of a shareholder who has the ability to control or significantly influence management of
the board;
• does not have a direct or indirect interest in the company which exceeds 5% of the shares in issue;
• does not have a direct or indirect interest which is material to his/her personal wealth;
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• has not been employed by the company or the group of which it currently forms part in any executive capacity for the
preceding three financial years; and is
• free

from any business or other relationship which could be seen as by an objective outsider to interfere materially
with the individual’s capacity to act in an independent manner.

Directors’ interests
It is not a requirement of the company’s memorandum of incorporation or the board charter that directors own shares
in the company. Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the company are disclosed on page 30.

Board proceedings
The board meets once every quarter. Should an important matter arise between scheduled meetings, additional meetings
may be convened.
Before each board meeting, an information pack, which provides background information on the performance of the
group for the year to date and any other matters for discussion at the meeting, is distributed to each board member.
At its meetings, the board considers both financial and non-financial qualitative information that might have an impact
on the stakeholders in the group.
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Details of the board meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2011, as well as the attendance by individual
members, are disclosed in the section “Directorate” on page 32. The attendance by the directors at the company’s
annual general meeting is disclosed in the section “Directorate” on page 32.

Board committees
The board has established four sub-committees to assist the directors in their duties and responsibilities. There are:
•
•
•
•

a Directors’ affairs and governance committee (incorporating the Remuneration committee).
a Management committee;
an Audit and Risk committee; and
a Social and Ethics committee.

Each committee has a formal charter and report to the board at regular intervals. The charters, which set out the
objectives, authority, composition and responsibilities of the committee, have been approved by the board. All the
committees are free to take independent outside professional advice, as and when required, at the expense of the group.
Further details of the board committees are provided on pages 19 to 24.

Company secretary
The company secretary of RMBH is Anthony Maher, a Chartered Accountant (South Africa). He was appointed by the
board in 2008. All directors have unlimited access to the services of the company secretary, who is responsible to the
board for ensuring that proper corporate governance principles are adhered to.

Directors’ affairs and governance committee

(incorporating the remuneration committee)

Role and responsibilities
The committee’s primary objectives are to assist the board in discharging its responsibilities relative to:
• its
 determination and evaluation of the adequacy, efficiency and appropriateness of the corporate governance
structures in the company;
• board and board committee structures;
• the maintenance of a board directorship continuity programme;
• the remuneration, other benefits and employment conditions of any executive directors;
• the self-assessment of the effectiveness of the board as a whole and the contribution of each director; and
• ensuring that succession plans are in place for the key posts in the greater group.
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Governance effectiveness
During the year under review the board conducted evaluations to measure its effectiveness and that of its members. The
evaluations conducted in respect of the period under review found no material concerns in respect of board and board
committee performance. The directors are aware of the need to convey to the chairman any concerns that they might
have in respect of the performance and conduct of their peers.
The performance of the chief executive officer is also formally evaluated at least once per year.

Ethics
Upon joining the group all directors are obliged to sign a code of ethics. RMBH’s code of ethics addresses duties of care
and skill, good faith, honesty and integrity, whistle blowing, processes for dealing with conflicts of interest and the need
to always act in the best interests of the group.
Soliciting or accepting payments, other than declared remuneration, gifts and entertainment as consideration to act or
fail to act in a certain way is not allowed. The group does not make political donations.
No issues of impropriety or unethical behaviour on the part of any of the directors were drawn to the attention of the
committee during the year.
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Conflicts
Mechanisms are in place to recognise, respond to and manage any potential conflicts of interest. Directors sign a
declaration stating that they are not aware of any undeclared conflicts of interest that may exist due to their interests in,
or association with, any other company. In addition, directors disclose interests in contracts that are of significance to
the group’s business and do not participate in the voting process of these matters.
All information acquired by directors in the performance of their duties, which is not disclosed publicly, is treated as
confidential. Directors may not use, or appear to use, such information for personal advantage or for the advantage of
third parties.
All directors of the company are required to comply with the RMBH Code of Conduct and the requirements of the JSE
regarding inside information, transactions and disclosure of transactions.

Dealings in securities
In accordance with the JSE Listing Requirements, the company has adopted a code of conduct to avoid insider trading.
During the closed periods (as defined) directors and designated employees are prohibited from dealing in the company’s
securities. Outside closed periods directors and designated employees may only deal in the company’s securities with the
authorisation of the chairman. The closed periods last from the end of a financial reporting period until the publication of
financial results for that period. Additional closed periods may be declared from time to time if circumstances warrant it.

Executive remuneration
The committee is also responsible for the determination of the remuneration of the chief executive officer – the sole
executive director employed by the group. It provides oversight of all forms of executive remuneration and rewards,
including fees, basic and variable pay other benefits and share related awards. The committee also reviews proposals to
shareholders on non-executive director remuneration.
Remuneration and fees payable to both executive and non-executive directors are approved at the annual general
meeting of shareholders.
The committee seeks to align executive remuneration with stakeholder interests through appropriate refinements
to fixed, variable and long-term remuneration arrangements relative to company performance and industry specific
remuneration practices. The strategy is accordingly tailored towards:
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• c reating recognisable alignment between rewards and the risk exposure of shareholders and other stakeholders;
• incentivising the delivery of consistent performance in line with strategic goals and risk tolerances and rewarding
success appropriately;
• delivering compensation that is affordable and reasonable in terms of the value created for shareholders; and
• encouraging behaviour consistent with the group’s business philosophy and corporate culture.
To align remuneration with shareholder returns and the group’s remuneration policy specifically addresses the following
factors:
• individual

performance measured against both financial and non‑financial performance criteria, individual behaviour
and competitive performance;
• incentives which diminish or disappear in the event of poor group performance;
• no multi year guaranteed incentives, substantial severance arrangements or remuneration linked to revenue generation
by formula;
• significant deferral of variable remuneration into RMBH shares for a period of two years; and
• transparency to enable stakeholders to make reasonable assessments of reward practices and underlying governance
processes.
In conducting the annual remuneration review, the committee also gave consideration to the outcomes of remuneration reviews
in other group companies and had reference to independent advice on both general and specific remuneration practices.
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The committee considered the expanded remuneration disclosure requirements enacted and recommended during the year.
It holds the view that neither of the other two group employees are “prescribed officers” in the context of the Companies
Act and that no meaningful benefit would be derived by other stakeholders in specific disclosure of their remuneration.
Details of directors’ remuneration for the year under review can be found on pages 30 to 31 of this report.

Composition of the committee
The committee comprises all of the non-executive directors. The committee was chaired by the lead independent nonexecutive director.

Committee proceedings
The committee shall meet at least twice annually with additional meetings when required at the request of the board or
any committee member or as often as it deems necessary to achieve its objectives as set out in the terms of reference
or at the request of the board.
The committee may invite any of the directors, professional advisors or officers whose input may be required to the meetings.
The chairman may excuse from the meeting or from any item on the agenda any of the attendees at a meeting who
may be considered to have a conflict of interest, or for confidentiality reasons.

Management Committee
Role and responsibilities
The committee is responsible for implementing the strategies approved by the board and for managing the affairs of
the group.
In terms of its charter, the committee is also responsible for:
•
•
•
•
•
•

t he development, implementation and monitoring of strategies and policies of the group;
the optimisation of the group capital base and its financial resources;
the timeous and transparent communication with all stakeholders;
ensuring best practices in the terms of corporate governance across the group;
managing the group image and reputational issues; and
optimising overall group profitability through synchronising the strategies of the operating units of the group and
leveraging off group strength.
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Composition of the committee
The committee comprises four members, three of whom are non-executive. The committee is chaired by the chairman
of the board.
The names of the members of the committee, are disclosed in the section “Directorate” on page 32.

Committee proceedings
The committee will meet at least once a quarter or at the call of the chairperson. Comprehensive minutes of meetings
are kept.

Audit and Risk Committee
Role and responsibilities
The committee’s objectives are to assist the board of directors in fulfilling its fiduciary duties with regard to:
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• t he safeguarding of the group’s assets;
• the financial reporting process;
• the system of internal control;
• the management of financial and non-financial risks;
• the audit process and approval of non-audit services;
• the group’s process for monitoring compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to it;
• the group’s compliance with the corporate governance practices;
• review of the annual integrated report;
• the business conduct of the group and its officials; and
• the appointment of the external auditor and the evaluation of their services and independence.

Finance function
The committee has considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of
the finance function and experience of the senior members of management responsible for the financial function.
The committee has considered and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the
financial director.

Effectiveness of company’s internal financial controls
The committee report to the board that they are of the opinion that based on enquiries made and the reports from the
internal and external auditors, the risk management processes and systems of internal control of the company and its
investments were effective for the period under review. No material weakness in financial control of the company and
its subsidiaries was reported for the period under review.

Auditor independence
At the annual general meeting held in December 2010 shareholders approved the committee’s recommendation for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors of the company until the next annual general meeting. Mr Tom
Winterboer was appointed as the individual registered auditor undertaking the company’s audit for the year under review.
RMBH believes that the auditors have observed the highest level of business and professional ethics. The committee is
satisfied that the auditors have at all times acted with unimpaired independence. Details of fees paid to the external
auditors are disclosed in note 22 of the group annual financial statements. No non-audit services were provided during
the current financial year.
The independent auditor attends all audit committee meetings and the annual general meeting of shareholders. The
partner responsible for the audit is required to rotate every five years. The committee meets with the auditors
independently of senior management.
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Companies Act
As required in terms of the Companies Act, the committee is satisfied that it complied with and performed its functions
and that the company’s external auditors are independent of the company.

King III
During the year under review the committee updated its charter to ensure that new obligations in terms of the King III
Code are met. These updates are effective from 1 July 2010.

Composition of the committee
The committee comprises a minimum of three members and consists only of non-executive directors who must act
independently. The Chairman is an independent non-executive director and attends the annual general meeting.

Committee proceedings
The committee meets at least twice a year or at the call of the chairperson, any member of the committee, the board
or the auditors. Comprehensive minutes of meetings are kept.
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Details of committee meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2011, as well as the attendance by individual
members are disclosed in the section “Directorate” on page 32.
The chief executive officer/financial director attends the meetings. The committee invites, at its discretion, the appropriate
representatives of the external auditors, other professional advisors, officers or members of staff whose input may
be required.
Board members have the right of attendance.
The chairperson may excuse from the meeting or from any item on the agenda any of the attendees at a meeting who
may be considered to have a conflict of interest.

Social and Ethics committee
Composition of the committee
The committee comprises a minimum of three members and consists only of non-executive directors who must act
independently. The chairman is an independent non-executive director and attends the annual general meeting.

Role and responsibilities
This committee is a statutory requirement as per the new Companies Act. The committee’s objectives are to monitor:
• the
 social and economic development, including the 10 principles as set out in the United Nations Global Compact
principles, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development recommendations regarding corruption, the
Employment Equity Act and the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act;
• good corporate citizenship including promotion of equality; prevention of unfair discrimination, reduction of corruption;
contribution to the development of communities, and record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving;
• the environment, health and public safety, including the impact of the company’s activities;
• consumer relationships; including the company’s advertising, public relations and compliance with consumer
protection laws; and
• labour and employment including the standing in terms of the International Labour Organisation Protocol on decent
work and working conditions, the company’s employment relationships and its contribution toward the educational
development of its employees.
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Committee proceedings
The committee will meet at least twice a year or at the call of the chairperson, any member of the committee or the
board. Comprehensive minutes of meetings are kept.
The chairman will be required in future to report at the annual general meeting. The first report back will be at 2012
annual general meeting.

Risk management and internal control
RMBH recognises that managing risk and compliance is an integral part of generating sustainable shareholder value and
enhancing stakeholder interests.
The board and the boards of investees are accountable for establishing, maintaining and monitoring the effectiveness of
the processes of risk management and systems of internal control applied throughout the group and in any joint ventures
and associations to which the group is party.
The group’s risk management and control framework covers the following key aspects:
• identifying key performance indicators;
• identifying significant business risks, both financial and other;
• maintaining proper accounting records;
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• ensuring the reliability of financial information used within the business for decision-making or for publication;
• ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations and codes of conduct;
• ensuring that the group is not unnecessarily exposed to avoidable financial risks such as the risks associated with fraud,
potential liability and loss, including the safeguarding of assets;
• managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board members and shareholders, including misuse of
corporate assets and abuse in related party transactions;
• ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
• monitoring the progress of group companies in complying with the Financial Sector Charter;
• ensuring that the group and any projects in which it is involved are subject to sound environmental practices; and
• ensuring that the appropriate balance is struck between entrepreneurial endeavour and sound business practice.

Overall effectiveness of control environment
As with most systems of internal control, the effectiveness of internal control systems in the group is subject to inherent
limitations, including:
• the possibility of human error and/or poor decision-making;
• the deliberate circumventing of controls by employees or others;
• management overriding controls; and
• the occurrence of unforeseeable circumstances.
Controls systems are therefore designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure. Accordingly, it is recognised
that a sound system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against risks impacting
the achievement of business objectives or any misstatement or loss.
Management reports regularly to the respective group boards on the effectiveness of the group’s risk and compliance
management and control framework. The effectiveness of this framework is subject to continuous review.
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Integrated assurance
The board does not only rely on the adequacy of the internal control embedment process but considers reports on the
effectiveness of risk management activities. The Audit and Risk committee ensures that the assurance functions of
management as well as internal and external audit are sufficiently integrated.
The various assurance providers to the board comprise the following:

Management committee and senior management consider the company’s risk strategy and policy along with the
• The
effectiveness and efficiency thereof.
• The Audit and Risk committee considers the adequacy of risk management strategies, systems of internal control, risk
profiles, legal compliance, internal and external audit reports and also reviews the independence of the auditors, the
extent and nature of their engagements, scope of work and findings. This committee also reviews the level of
disclosure in the annual financial statements and the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by management,
the ethics register and other loss incidents reported. The board reviews the performance of the Audit and Risk
committee against its charter.

Internal audit
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 MBH outsources its internal audit function to FirstRand Internal Audit division (“Internal Audit”). Internal Audit is an
R
effective independent appraisal function and employs a risk-based audit approach. The head of Internal Audit has direct
access to the chairman of the Audit and Risk committee as well as to the chairman of the group.

External audit
T he company’s external auditor attends all Audit and Risk committee meetings and has direct access to the chairman of
the Audit and Risk committee and the chairman of the group. The external audit scope of work is adequately integrated
with the Internal Audit function without the scope being restricted.
T he directors are of the opinion that, based on enquiries made and the reports from the internal and external auditors,
the risk management processes and systems of internal control of the company and its subsidiaries were effective for
the period under review.
T he Audit and Risk committee has satisfied itself that there are effective audit committees functioning at the company’s
associated companies.
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sustainability report
RMBH is committed to good corporate citizenship practices and organisational integrity in the direction, control and
stewardship of the group’s affairs. To the extent that it is possible, the directors of RMBH seek to ensure that this
commitment is practised and reported on by the company’s associate (FirstRand). This commitment provides stakeholders
with comfort that the group’s affairs are being managed in an ethical and disciplined manner.
This discussion is a limited overview from a RMBH perspective. FirstRand publishes a detailed sustainability review.
RMBH subscribes to a philosophy of providing meaningful, timely and accurate communication to its key stakeholders,
based on transparency, accountability and integrity.
The direct stakeholders of RMBH are shareholders, analysts, employees, suppliers, regulators; government and civil society,
communities and indirectly customers.

Shareholders
Communication
RMBH’s communication practices are designed to allow investors to make decisions about the acquisition and ownership
of shares. The company communicates formally with shareholders twice a year when it announces interim and year end
results. These comprehensive reports are sent to all shareholders and are accessible on the company’s internet site (www.
rmbh.co.za). The chairman and chief executive officer meet with investors and investment analysts from time to time.

Ownership
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Significant shareholdings are disclosed on page 121. An analysis of the RMBH share price and trading data appears on
page 121.

Customers
FirstRand provides a comprehensive range of financial services to South African corporates and individuals. In this regard
the integrity of its various brands, their image and reputation are paramount to ensure the sustainability of their
businesses, FirstRand regularly engages with its customers to measure satisfaction levels and gain insight into their needs.
FirstRand emphasis on innovation encourages new solutions for extending financial services to new markets.
In terms of the Financial Sector Charter, FirstRand is committed to providing financial services to previously disadvantaged
communities.

Employees
RMBH together with FirstRand (collectively “the group”) believe that employees have an important role to play in
sustaining the positive performance of the group. The human resource strategy is to attract, develop and retain the best
industry talent. We empower our people, hold them accountable, and reward them appropriately.
The group follows a practice of aligning employee remuneration with shareholders return. FirstRand’s division operates
across a variety of financial services activities, each with a distinct employment and human resources pressure. The
group’s remuneration policy takes account of the diverse needs of the group and the implementation of appropriate
industry remuneration practices in accordance with the group’s remuneration policy. During the current year special
attention was applied to the effective application of the Financial Stability Board’s Principles for Sound Compensation
and the Financial Services Authority’s remuneration code of practice.
Compensation consists of the following:
• b
 asic salary plus benefits; and, where appropriate,
• annual performance related rewards; as well as
• share incentive schemes.
Remuneration is based on individual and business unit performance. Annual remuneration reviews encompass all three
elements. All employees are required to belong to a medical aid.
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Employment equity
In line with the business philosophy of empowerment, each business unit in the group is charged with meeting its targets
in terms of plans submitted to the Department of Labour as required by the Employment Equity Act. During the year
steps were taken to achieve greater alignment between employment equity performance, talent management and skills
development. During the year macro economic conditions continue to negatively impact employee growth which in turn
negatively impacted the employment equity component of the group. The group, however, remains committed to the
transformation process.

Employee wellness
The group is committed to the health and safety of employees and has implemented procedures to ensure optimal health
and safety conditions for employees.
Of growing importance is the impact of HIV/Aids on the workforce and the South African economy in general. The group
has adopted an HIV/Aids policy that is based on education, communication, counselling and confidentiality.

Suppliers
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The group has established a set of procurement guidelines to assist in meeting their commitment to place business with
BEE suppliers. FirstRand has developed a centralised procurement function, the principal objective is to improve the
B-BBEE procurement spend and leverage efficiencies through economies of scale with improved coordination of
procurement functions.

Regulators
The group is subject to the independent oversight of South African regulatory authorities. The group representatives
interact with a wide spectrum of regulatory bodies, including the South African Reserve Bank, the Financial Services
Board and the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The relationship sought is one of compliance and constructive participation
in committees with a view to ensuring that South African industry practice remains amongst the best in the world.
The group supports initiatives aimed at infrastructure development, the promotion of democracy and business and
government dialogue. The group is represented on the council which oversees the implementation of the Financial
Sector Charter.

Communities
All group companies are committed to uplifting the societies in which they operate through following sound employment
practices and meeting the real needs of the communities.
FirstRand group companies contribute 1% of its after-tax earnings to the FirstRand Foundation which has, since its
inception in 1999, contributed more than R800 million to various community upliftment programmes. In addition, staff
in the group is encouraged to give of their time and skills in community related work.

Natural environment
The group is committed to reduce both the direct and indirect impacts its business activities have on the natural
environment. Both direct and indirect impacts are regulated through application of relevant legislation, subscription to
voluntary external regulations, and ongoing internal self regulation.
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1

1. Gerrit Thomas Ferreira [63] Non-executive Chairman / BCom, Hons B (B&A), MBA
Appointed: November 1987 GT Ferreira has been involved in the financial services sector since graduating from the University of Stellenbosch. He started his
career at the Bank of Johannesburg in 1972 and was a co-founder of Rand Consolidated Investments (“RCI”) in 1977. RCI acquired control of Rand Merchant
Bank (“RMB”) in 1985 and he was managing director of RMB from 1985 to 1988 after which he was elected as executive chairman. When RMBH was
founded in 1987 he was appointed chairman, a position which he still holds. Following the formation of FirstRand he was appointed non-executive chairman
from 1998 to 2008. He is a member of the Council of the University of Stellenbosch.

RMBH – committee memberships: Management committee // Directors’ affairs committee
Listed directorships: Remgro Limited // Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited – Chairman

2. Peter Cooper [55] Chief Executive Officer / Financial director / BCom (Hons), CA (SA), HDipTax
Appointed: November 1999 Peter Cooper graduated from the University of Cape Town. After qualifying as a chartered accountant he worked in the financial
services sector, first as a tax consultant and later specialising in structured finance with UAL Merchant Bank. He joined RMB’s Special Projects division in 1992
and transferred to RMBH in 1997.

RMBH – committee memberships: Management committee
Listed directorships: Discovery Holdings Limited // Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited – Chief Executive Officer

3. Niall david joseph carRoll [46] Independent non-executive / BCom (Hons), CA (SA), CFA, Licentiate and Fellow,
Trinity College London
Appointed: May 2011 Niall Carroll is a chartered accountant and completed his articles with Deloitte Haskins & Sells, followed by 12 years at Deutsche Bank.
He was appointed CEO of Royal Bafokeng Finance in 2004 and of Royal Bafokeng Holdings in 2006.
RMBH – committee memberships: Audit and Risk committee // Directors’ affairs committee // Social and Ethics committee
Listed directorships: Impala Platinum Holdings Limited // Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
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4. LEON CROUSE [58] Non-executive / CA (SA)
Appointed: May 2011 Leon Crouse studied at the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University in Port Elizabeth and qualified as a chartered accountant in 1977.
He joined the former Rembrandt group in 1986 and transferred to Switzerland to hold the position of financial controller of Compagnie Financiére Richemont
AG. He was part of the team that unbundled the luxury goods business from the Rembrandt group to form separately listed Richemont.
In 1993, as a Rembrandt appointee, he returned to South Africa to become a founder member of the Vodacom group executive team finally serving as its
Chief financial officer. Rembrandt, at the time, held 15% interest in Vodacom. He joined Remgro in April 2008 as designate Director: Group Finance and was
appointed to the board on 18 June 2008.

RMBH – committee memberships: Directors’ affairs committee
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited // Remgro Limited //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

5. Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar [62] Non-executive / MCom, CA (SA)
Appointed: November 1987 Laurie Dippenaar graduated from Pretoria University, qualified as a chartered accountant with Aiken & Carter (now KPMG) and
spent three years with the Industrial Development Corporation before becoming a co-founder of RCI in 1977. He became an executive director of RMB in
1985. He was appointed managing director of RMB in 1988 which position he held until 1992 when RMBH acquired a controlling interest in Momentum. He
served as executive chairman of that company from 1992 until the formation of FirstRand in 1998. He was appointed as the first chief executive of FirstRand
and held this position until the end of 2005 when he assumed a non-executive role. He was elected to the position of chairman of FirstRand in November
2008 and chairman of MMI Holdings December 2010.

RMBH – committee memberships: Directors’ affairs committee  //   Management committee
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited – Chairman  //  MMI Holdings Limited – Chairman  //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

6. Jan Willem Dreyer [60] Independent non-executive / BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDipTax
Appointed: October 1987 Jan Dreyer is a graduate of Stellenbosch University and the University of the Witwatersrand. He joined Edward Nathan Friedland
Mansell & Lewis where he was admitted as an attorney in 1975. Thereafter he joined Hofmeyr Van der Merwe & Botha, where he worked as a commercial
lawyer. He was admitted as a partner in 1978 and was chairman of the firm from 1993 until 1999. In 2000 Jan left the legal profession to join Rembrandt
group as an executive director. Upon the split of that company into Remgro and Venfin, he became a non-executive director of each of the two companies.
He was re-appointed an executive director of Remgro during November 2008. He joined the board of RMB in 1984 and on the formation of RMBH, joined
its board.

RMBH – committee memberships: Audit and Risk committee  //  Directors’ affairs committee  //  Social and Ethics committee
Listed directorships: Dorbyl Limited  // Remgro Limited //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

Appointed: November 1987 Pat Goss graduated from the University of Stellenbosch. He qualified as a chartered accountant with Ernst and Young and then
joined the Industrial Development Corporation. He has served as a director on various group companies for the past 30 years. A former chairman of the Natal
Parks Board, his family interests include Umgazi River Bungalows and other conservation related activities.

RMBH – committee membership: Directors’ affairs committee

Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

8. Paul Kenneth Harris [61] Non-executive / MCom
Appointed: July 1992 Paul Harris graduated from the University of Stellenbosch and joined the Industrial Development Corporation. He was a co-founder of
RCI in 1977 and he became an executive director of the RMB in 1985. He spent four years in Australia where he founded Australian Gilt Securities (later to
become RMB Australia) and returned to South Africa in 1991 as deputy managing director of RMB. In 1992, he took over as chief executive officer.
Subsequent to the formation of FirstRand, he was appointed chief executive officer of FirstRand Bank Holdings in 1999, a position he held until December
2005 when he was appointed chief executive officer of FirstRand. He retired from his executive position at the end of December 2009.

RMBH – committee memberships: Directors’ affairs committee  //  Management committee
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited //  MMI Holdings Limited  // Remgro Limited //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

9. Sonja Emilia Ncumisa Sebotsa [39] Independent non-executive / LLB (Hons) LSE, MA (McGill), SFA
Appointed: February 2008 Ms Sebotsa is a principal partner in Identity Partners, an investment firm which holds equity investments, carries out advisory work
and facilitates finance for SMEs by the Identity Development Fund.
Sonja Sebotsa’s areas of study were in Law, Business and Economics. She had been an executive director of WDB Investment Holdings where she led the
structuring of WDB’s participation in the FirstRand BEE transaction. As a result, she served as WBD’s representative on the FirstRand board. She was previously
a vice president in the investment banking division of Deutsche Bank, in Mergers & Acquisitions and Corporate Finance.

RMBH – committee memberships: Audit and Risk committee  //  Directors’ affairs committee  //  Social and Ethics committee
Listed directorships: Anglo Platinum Limited //  Discovery Holdings Limited  //  Mr Price Group Limited  //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

10. Khehla Cleopas Shubane [55] Independent non-executive / BA (Hons), MBA
Appointed: November 1993 Khehla Shubane graduated at the University of the Witwatersrand. Prior to this he was a student at the University of the North
where his studies were terminated following his arrest for political activities, conviction and sentence which he served on Robben Island. Upon his release he
was employed at Liberty Life for a short time. He served on various political organisations until joining the Centre for Policy Studies in 1988. He is an author
and has co-authored several political publications, and is a member of the board of the Centre for Policy Studies.
RMBH – committee memberships: Directors’ affairs committee       Listed directorships: MMI Holdings Limited  //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

11. Matthys Hendrik Visser [56] Non-executive / BComm (Hons), CA (SA)
Appointed: April 2009 Thys Visser is a chartered accountant who qualified with Arthur Young & Company in Cape Town before joining Rembrandt group where
he held a number of positions, including financial director in 1991 and managing director in 1992. He is currently chief executive officer of Remgro Limited.
RMBH – committee membership: Directors’ affairs committee
Listed directorships: Distell Group Limited  // FirstRand Limited //  Mediclinic International Limited  //
Rainbow Chicken Limited – Chairman  // Remgro Limited //  Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORATE

7. Patrick Maguire Goss [63] Lead Independent non-executive / BEcon (Hons), BAccSc (Hons), CA (SA)

DIRECTORATE continued
Directors’ interests in ordinary shares of rmbh

DIRECTORATE

According to the register of directors’ interests maintained by the company in accordance with section 30(4)(d) of the Companies
Act, directors have disclosed the following interests in the ordinary shares of RMBH at 30 June 2011:
Direct
beneficial
000’s

Indirect
beneficial
000’s

Held by
associate
000’s

Total
2011
000’s

Total
2010
000’s

Executive
P Cooper
Non-executive
NDJ Carroll
L Crouse
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
JJ Durand
GT Ferreira
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser

539

–

3 061

3 600

2 400

–
–
–
1
–
20 982
–
1 420
–
3
–

–
–
85 179
–
–
149
11 580
27 936
–
–
–

–
–
233
–
–
60 104
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
412
1
–
235
580
356
–
3
–

–
–
575
1
–
191
580
095
–
3
–

Total interest 2011

22 945

124 844

63 398

211 187

–

Total interest 2010

27 102

132 545

62 198

–

221 845

Total
2011
R000’s

Total
2010
R000’s

85

81
11
29

90

87
11
30

Since the end of the financial year to the date of this report, the interest of directors remained unchanged.

Directors’ emoluments
Schedule of directors’ emoluments in respect of the year ended 30 June
Services
as director
R000’s

Cash
package
R000’s

Other
benefits
R000’s

Performance
related
R000’s

–
–

3 039
(613)

668
(137)

2 550
–

6 257
(750)

7220
–

–

2 426

531

2 550

5 507

7 220

348
5
5
106
217
149
106
106
185
153
106

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

348
5
5
106
217
149
106
106
185
153
106

371
–
76
118
214
42
118
118
185
118
118

1 486

2 426

531

2 550

6 993

8 698

Executive
P Cooper
Recovered from RMI Holdings
Net emoluments from RMBH
Non-executive
GT Ferreira
NDJ Carroll
L Crouse
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
JJ Durand
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser
Total

Notes:
1. “Other benefits” comprise provident fund and medical aid contributions.
2. “Performance related” payments are in respect of the year ended 30 June 2011, but will become payable in tranches over the next two years.
3. Mr Cooper is also a participant under the FirstRand Share Incentive Schemes. Details thereof are disclosed below.
4. Directors fees for serviced rendered by Messrs Crouse, Durand and Visser were paid to the Remgro group.
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Directors’ participation in firstrand group share incentive schemes
Share option scheme: ordinary shares

Strike
price
cents
P Cooper

FirstRand
FirstRand
FirstRand

Strike date
From

To

1 533
3/10/2008 3/10/2010
1 350** 1/10/2009 1/10/2011
1 770** 1/10/2010 1/10/2012

Taken up
this year

Closing
balance
30 June
2011

Benefit
derived

000’s

000’s

000’s

000’s

–
–
–

(400)
–
–

–
400
400

2 160
–
–

Opening
balance
1 July
2010

Forfeited
this year

000’s
400
400*
400*

* Share appreciation rights.
**	The strike price of the share appreciation rights scheme has been adjusted for the Momentum unbundling. Some share appreciation rights
granted are subject to further vesting conditions.

Forfeitable share plan
P Cooper

RMBH
RMBH
RMBH
RMBH

Benefit
derived
R000’s

644,5
–

–
300,0

644,5
300,0

–
–

231,6
29,1

–
–

231,6
29,1

–
–

Strike
date

2 591 1/10/2012
3 438 14/9/2013

Strike
price
cents
RMBH Share Appreciation rights:
P Cooper

Issued
000’s

Closing
balance
30 June
2011
000’s

Closing
balance
30 June
2010
000’s

++ 1/10/2011
++ 14/09/2012

DIRECTORATE

Director’s participation in rmbh phantom share schemes

++ No strike price is associated with the award made under the forfeitable share plan.

Directors’ emoluments paid by subsidiaries and associates
Schedule of directors’ emoluments paid by subsidiaries and associates in respect of the year ended 30 June

Services as director

Total
2011
R000’s

Total
2010
R000’s

Executive
P Cooper
Non-executive
GT Ferreira
NDJ Carroll
L Crouse
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
JJ Durand
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser

–

643

–
–
719
3 213
–
–
636
552
–
–
475

–
–
417
3 612
–
–
708
3 636
334
189
564

Total

5 595

10 103

1. Director fees for serviced rendered by Mr Cooper were paid to RMBH.
2. Director fees for serviced rendered by Messrs Crouse, Durand and Visser were paid to the Remgro group.
3. Messrs Ferreira, Carroll, Dreyer and Durand earned no fees from subsidiaries and associates.
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DIRECTORATE continued
Board meetings
The board met six times during the year and attendance was as follows:
September
2010

November
2010*

November
2010

March
2011

May
2011

ü
ü

ü
ü

ü
ü

ü
ü

ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü

ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü

ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü

ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü

ü
ü
ü
ü
ü
ü

GT Ferreira – Chair
P Cooper
NDJ Carroll – appointed 25 May 2011
L Crouse – appointed 25 May 2011
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
JJ Durand – resigned 25 May 2011
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser

ü
ü
ü
ü
ü

* Extra-ordinary strategic meeting

Management committee meetings
DIRECTORATE

The management committee continued to meet during the year on a regular basis. The members of the management committee
are Mr GT Ferreira (Chair) and Messrs P Cooper, LL Dippenaar and PK Harris.

Audit AND risk committee meetings
The Audit and Risk committee met during the year and attendance was as follows:
September
2010

March
2011

ü
ü

ü
ü

JW Dreyer – Chair
SEN Sebotsa
With effect from 25 May 2011 the members of the committee are Messrs Dreyer, Carroll and Ms Sebotsa.

Directors’ affairs committee meetings
Since all non-executive directors are members of this committee, matters relating to the charter of this committee are dealt with
as an integral part of the normal proceedings of the quarterly board meetings. When these issues are discussed, it is usual for the
Chief Executive Officer to excuse himself from the meeting.

Annual general meeting
All the directors attended the annual general meeting of the shareholders held on 3 December 2010.

General meeting to approve the unbundling of the group’s insurance interests
Messrs Ferreira, Cooper, Dreyer and Goss attended the general meeting of the shareholders held on 18 February 2011.
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These financial statements have been audited in terms of the Companies Act (71 of 2008).
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directors’ responsibility statement

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
The directors of RMB Holdings Limited are required by the Companies Act (Act 71 of 2008) to prepare group and separate audited
annual financial statements. In discharging this responsibility, the directors rely on management to prepare the group and separate
annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and for keeping adequate
accounting records in accordance with the group’s system of internal control. As such, the annual financial statements include
amounts based on judgments and estimates made by management.
In preparing the annual financial statements, suitable accounting policies have been applied and reasonable estimates have been
made by management. The directors approve significant changes to accounting policies, however, there were no changes to
accounting policies during the financial year. The financial statements incorporate full and appropriate disclosure in line with the
group’s philosophy on corporate governance.
The directors are responsible for the group’s system of internal control. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the
directors set the standards for internal control to reduce the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include
the appropriate delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the group.

Directors’ responsibility STATEMENT

Based on the information and explanations given by management and the internal auditors, nothing has come to the attention
of the directors to indicate that the internal controls are inadequate and that the financial records may not be relied on in
preparing the group and separate annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS and maintaining accountability for the
group’s assets and liabilities. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate any breakdown in the functioning of
internal controls, resulting in a material loss to the group, during the year and up to the date of this report. Based on the effective
internal controls implemented by management, the directors are satisfied that the group and separate annual financial statements
fairly present the state of affairs of the group and company, at the end of the financial year, and the net income and cash flows
for the year. Peter Cooper CA (SA) supervised the preparation of the financial statements for the year.
The directors have reviewed the group and company’s budget and flow of funds forecast and considered the group and company’s
ability to continue as a going concern in the light of current and anticipated economic conditions. The directors have reviewed
the assumptions underlying these budgets and forecasts based on currently available information. On the basis of this review, and
in the light of the current financial position and profitable trading history, the directors are satisfied that the group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. The going concern basis therefore continues to apply and has been
adopted in the preparation of the annual financial statements.
It is the responsibility of the group’s independent external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, to report on the fair presentation
of the annual financial statements. Their unqualified report appears on page 36.
The group annual financial statements of the group, which appear on pages 37 to 94 the separate annual financial statement of
the company, which appears on pages 95 to 113, were approved by the board of directors on 14 September 2011 and are signed
on its behalf by:

GT Ferreira
Chairman
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P Cooper
Chief executive officer

declaration by the company secretary

in respect of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are
required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

AL Maher
Company Secretary

Declaration by the COMPANY SECRETARY / Audit and Risk committee REPORT

14 September 2011

audit and risk committee report
The Audit and Risk committee has pleasure in submitting this report, as required in terms of the Companies Act. The Audit and
Risk committee consists of three non-executive directors who act independently as described in section 94 of the Companies Act.
During the year under review, two meetings were held and the committee members attended both the meetings. At the
meetings, the members fulfilled all their functions as prescribed by the Companies Act. A detailed list of the functions of the Audit
and Risk committee is contained in the corporate governance report. The Audit and Risk committee has satisfied itself that the
auditors are independent of the company and are thereby able to conduct their audit functions without any undue influence from
the company.

JW Dreyer
Chairman of Audit and Risk committee
14 September 2011

2011 annual integrated report

35

independent auditor’s report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
We have audited the group annual financial statements and annual financial statements of RMB Holdings Limited, which comprise
the group and separate statements of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the group and separate income statements,
group and separate statements of comprehensive income, group and separate statements of changes in equity and group and
separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information, and the directors’ report, as set out on pages 37 to 113.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Independent auditor’s REPORT

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the group and separate financial position of RMB
Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2011, and its group and separate financial performance and its group and separate cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act
of South Africa.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: Tom Winterboer
Registered Auditor
Sunninghill
14 September 2011
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directors’ report

Nature of business
Having obtained the requisite shareholder and regulatory approval, RMBH implemented a far reaching reorganisation on
7 March 2011. This included, inter alia, the following steps:
• the issue of new RMBH ordinary shares to Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Pty) Limited for R2,5 billion cash;
• the acquisition by RMBH of additional FirstRand Limited (“FirstRand”) ordinary shares in exchange for the issue of new RMBH
ordinary shares, thereby increasing RMBH’s holding in FirstRand to 33,9%;
• the separation of RMBH’s insurance and banking interests, through the transfer of RMBH’s insurance interests to a whollyowned subsidiary, RMI Holdings; and
• the unbundling of RMI Holdings to RMBH’s ordinary shareholders on a one-for-one basis and the separate listing of RMI
Holdings on the JSE as an insurance-focused investment entity.
After the reorganisation, RMBH’s sole interest is its 33,9%* investment in FirstRand, one of South Africa’s pre-eminent
banking groups.
*A
 ctual interest differs from the effective interest used for financial reporting due the consolidation of treasury shares and “deemed” treasury shares
held by group companies (see note 36, page 91).

Further details regarding the investment are provided on pages 87 to 89 of these annual financial statements.

Share capital
Ordinary shares
During the year RMBH issued:

Directors’ REPORT

• 72 463 768 ordinary shares to Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Pty) Limited for R2,5 billion cash; and
• 130 127 994 ordinary shares to Remgro Limited in exchange for additional FirstRand ordinary shares.
There was no change in the authorised ordinary share capital during the year.
At the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the company, held on 3 December 2010, a special resolution was passed
authorising the board of the company or the board of a subsidiary of the company to approve the purchase of shares in RMBH
during the period up to and including the date of the following annual general meeting. The repurchase is limited in any one
financial year to a cumulative maximum of 10% of the company’s issued share capital. This resolution is subject to the provisions
of the Companies Act, as amended, and the JSE Listings Requirements.
To date, no action in terms of this resolution has taken place.

Preference shares
There was no change in the authorised preference share capital and no preference shares were issued during the year.

Shareholder analysis
Based on information disclosed by STRATE and investigations conducted on behalf of the company, the following shareholders
have an interest of 5% or more in the issued ordinary share capital of the company:

Financial Securities Limited (Remgro)
Public Investment Corporation
LL Dippenaar
GT Ferreira
Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Pty) Limited

2011

2010

31%
13%
6%
6%
5%

25%
15%
7%
7%
–

Earnings
Headline earnings of the group for the year ended 30 June 2011 amounted to R3,75 billion (2010: R3,59 billion).
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director’s report continued

Dividends
The following ordinary dividends were declared by RMBH during the year under review:
• An interim dividend for the six month period ended 31 December 2010 of 42,7 cents (2010: 54,0 cents) per ordinary share,
declared on 9 March 2011 and paid on 4 April 2011.
• A final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 58,3 cents (2010: 70,0 cents) per ordinary share, declared on
14 September 2011, payable on 17 October 2011.
• A special dividend of 95,0 cents declared on 14 September 2011, payable on 17 October 2011.
The last day to trade in RMBH shares on a cum-dividend basis in respect of the final and special dividend will be Friday, 7 October
2011, while the first day to trade ex-dividend will be Monday, 10 October 2011. The record date will be Friday, 14 October 2011
and the payment date Monday, 17 October 2011.
No dematerialisation or rematerialisation of shares may be done during the period Monday, 10 October 2011 to Friday, 14 October
2011, both days inclusive.

Directorate
The directorate consists of:

Directors’ REPORT

GT Ferreira (Chairman)
LL Dippenaar
L Crouse
PM Goss
SEN Sebotsa
MH Visser

P Cooper (Chief executive officer/Financial director)
NDJ Carroll
JW Dreyer
PK Harris
KC Shubane

Mr JJ Durand resigned from the board effective 25 May 2011. Messes NDJ Carroll and L Crouse were appointed to the board
effective 25 May 2011.

Directors’ interests in rmbh
Details of individual directors’ interests in the company are disclosed on page 30.

Interest of directors and officers
During the financial year, no contracts were entered into in which directors or officers of the company had an interest and which
significantly affected the business of the group. The directors had no interests in any third party or company responsible for
managing any of the business activities of the group except to the extent that they are shareholders in RMBH as disclosed in this
report. Arm’s length banking and assurance transactions entered into by the company’s directors with the group’s associates are
disclosed in note 28.

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed on page 30 to 31.

Directors’ participation in group share incentive schemes
RMBH does not operate an equity-settled share incentive scheme in its own right.
Mr Cooper was a member of the FirstRand executive committee. As such he was a participant in the FirstRand Share Incentive
Schemes, details of which are set out on page 31. FirstRand recovers the annual cost attributable to Mr Cooper’s participation in
its share incentive schemes from RMBH. During the year ended 30 June 2011 the costs incurred by RMBH in this regard amounted
to R111 572 (2010: R286 714).
RMBH operates a phantom share scheme as part of its remuneration philosophy, which tracks the company’s share price and
settles in cash. Mr Cooper participates in this scheme, details of which are set out on page 31.
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Property and equipment
There was no change in the nature of the property and equipment or in the policy regarding its use during the year.

Insurance
RMBH has appropriate insurance cover against crime risks as well as professional indemnity.

Company secretary and registered offices
Mr AL Maher is the company secretary. The address of the company secretary is that of the company’s registered office. The company’s
registered office is at:
3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196.

Events subsequent to reporting date

Directors’ REPORT

Other than for the final dividend declaration, there are no other material facts or circumstances that have occurred between the
accounting date and the date of this report.
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statement of financial position
as at 30 June

Group
June 2011
R million

Group
June 2010
R million

2,1
–
25 060,7
18,5
15,3
–
–
9,7
15,1

165,0
46,1
22 371,4
5 288,3
333,3
37,5
151,6
264,4
2 749,2

25 121,4

31 406,8

8 749,6
14 951,4

5 126,0
17 721,6

Total shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

23 701,0
–

22 847,6
1 035,6

Total equity

23 701,0

23 883,2

6

–

4 184,4

11
12
13
14
15

–
1 228,1
131,7
–
–

15,0
1 365,8
349,9
93,1
12,1

16
17

–
7,0
–
5,0
48,6
–
–
–

942,2
1,7
14,4
21,9
468,5
23,1
23,3
8,2

1 420,4

7 523,6

25 121,4

31 406,8

Notes
ASSETS
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in associates
Equity and debt securities
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables
Deferred acquisition cost
Reinsurance contracts
Deferred taxation
Cash and cash equivalents

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Total assets

Statement of FINANCIAL POSITION

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders
Share capital and premium
Reserves

LIABILITIES
Insurance contracts
Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Policyholders’ interest
Policyholders’ contingency provision
Investment contracts:
– at fair value through profit or loss
Long-term liabilities
Deferred acquisition revenue
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Deferred taxation
Taxation
Short-term portion of financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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9
10

18
19
7
13

income statement

Notes

Group
June 2011
R million

Group
June 2010
R million

2 543,5
–
17,4
(8,7)

Continuing operations
Share of after-tax profits of associate companies
Fee income
Investment income
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets

20
21

4 255,0
2,9
9,6
0,2

Net income
Marketing and administration expenses

22

4 267,7
(50,0)

2 552,2
( 22,0)

Result of operating activities
Finance costs

23

4 217,7
(97,6)

2 530,2
(100,2)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

24

4 120,1
1,0

2 430,0
1,1

4 121,1

2 431,1

1 205,9
4 982,8
1 369,7

1 413,8
–
–

Profit for the year

11 679,5

3 844,9

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interests

11 467,7
211,8

3 606,5
238,4

Profit for the year

11 679,5

3 844,9

Group
June 2011
R million

Group
June 2010
R million

11 679,5

3 844,9

Profit for the year from continuing operations
Profit from discontinued operations
Profit attributable to discontinued operations
Profit after tax on unbundling of discontinued operations
Negative goodwill on acquisition of associate

3

37
37
38

Income STATEMENT / Statement of COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 30 June

statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss from discontinued operations
Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates after tax and non-controlling interests

12,6
10,6
(126,9)

25,2
18,3
(105,5)

Other comprehensive loss for the year from discontinued operations

(103,7)

(62,0)

Total comprehensive income for the year

11 575,8

3 782,9

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the group
Non-controlling interests

11 355,0
220,8

3 527,8
255,1

Total comprehensive income for the year

11 575,8

3 782,9
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statement of CHANGES IN EQUITY

Statement of CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

Group
R million

Share
capital

Balance at 1 July 2010
Issue of shares
Total comprehensive
income
Dividends paid
Dividends-in-specie paid
Income of associate
companies retained
Movement in
treasury shares
Capital invested by
non-controlling interests
Transfer to
contingency reserve
Share option expense
reserve – IFRS2
Transfers relating
to short-term
insurance interests:
– Change in reserves due
to change in holding
Change in carrying value
of associate due to
elimination of
treasury shares
Transfers relating
to associates:
– Consolidation of
share trust
– Fair value adjustment
for preference shares
– Change in accounting
policy – owner occupied
properties
– Transfer to puttable
non-controlling
interests liability
– Other

5 126,0
6 735,3

14 614,2
–

610,2
–

2 497,2
–

1 035,6
–

23 883,2
6 735,3

–
–
(3 238,1)

(126,9)
–
(6 976,4)

14,2
–
(325,3)

11 467,7
(1 448,7)
(6 352,6)

220,8
(98,5)
(1 307,1)

11 575,8
(1 547,2)
(18 199,5)

Balance at 30 June 2011
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Other
nondistributable
reserves

Equity
accounted
reserves
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–

3 512,2

–

126,4

114,7

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,1

(36,1)

–

–

2,9

–

–

–

(600,9)

(3 512,2)

–

–

7,4

–

248,5

–

130,0

130,0

–

–

1,3

0,3

4,5

1,3

–

18,9

20,2

–

–

–

(600,9)

–

1 419,9

–

–

–

1 419,9

–

178,6

–

–

–

178,6

–

83,8

–

–

–

83,8

–
–

(216,0)
(15,2)

–
–

–
–

–
–

(216,0)
(15,2)

339,4

2 624,0

–

8 749,6

11 988,0

23 701,0

Other
nondistributable
reserves

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

Balance at 1 July 2009
Total comprehensive
income
Dividends paid
Income of associate
companies retained
Movement in
treasury shares
Capital invested by
non-controlling interests
Sale of emerging
market portfolio
Transfer to
contingency reserve
Share option expense
reserve – IFRS2
Transfers relating
to short-term
insurance interests:
– Change in reserves due
to change in holding
Change in carrying value
of associate due
to elimination of
treasury shares
Transfers relating
to associates:
– Consolidation of
share trust
– Effective change
in shareholding
of subsidiary
– Other

5 190,7

12 496,1

560,1

2 395,5

1 098,5

21 740,9

–
–

(105,5)
–

26,8
–

3 606,5
(1 197,0)

255,1
(189,8)

3 782,9
(1 386,8)

–

2 281,7

–

(2 281,7)

–

–

(64,7)

94,9

–

0,7

–

30,9

–

–

–

–

188,4

188,4

–

–

–

–

(322,8)

(322,8)

–

–

28,8

(28,8)

–

–

–

–

5,4

2,0

(3,2)

4,2

–

–

(10,9)

–

9,4

(1,5)

–

(91,0)

–

–

–

(91,0)

–

(19,8)

–

–

–

(19,8)

–
–

(7,4)
(34,8)

–
–

–
–

–
–

(7,4)
(34,8)

Balance at 30 June 2010

5 126,0

14 614,2

610,2

2 497,2

1 035,6

23 883,2

Group
R million
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Statement of CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
capital

Equity
accounted
reserves
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statement of CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

935,5
(4,4)

1 457,8

931,1

Net cash generated from operating activities – discontinued operations

593,0

1 824,6

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Net (additions)/disposal to investments

–
(47,3)

(3,2)
306,6

Net cash (used in)/inflow from investing activities – continuing operations

(47,3)

303,4

(843,4)

(542,0)

2 461,5
131,7
(4,4)
(94,4)
(1 447,1)

–
(113,2)
(4,1)
(86,0)
(1 195,4)

1 047,3

(1 398,7)

79,5

(368,3)

2 286,9

750,1

Net cash used in investing activities – discontinued operations
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of shares
Net amount of borrowings received/(repaid)
Cost of funding
Dividends paid on preference shares in issue
Dividends paid to shareholders

Statement of CASH FLOWS

Group
June 2010
R million

1 460,5
(2,7)

Net cash generated from operating activities – continuing operations

Net cash inflow from/(used in) financing activities – continuing operations
Net cash proceeds from/(used in) financing activities – discontinued
operations
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing and discontinued
operations
Unrealised foreign currency translation adjustment included in cash and cash
equivalents
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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Group
June 2011
R million
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A

25,9
(5 046,9)
2 749,2
15,1

12,8
–
1 986,3
2 749,2

notes to the statement of CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June

Group
June 2010
R million

4 120,1

2 430,0

Cash flows from operating activities
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:
Profit before taxation (continuing operations)
Adjusted for:
Dividend-in-specie received

(6,1)

–

Equity accounted earnings

(2 754,4)

(1 580,8)

Depreciation

0,9

0,2

Share option expenses

9,0

4,0

–

(10,5)

Investment income

4,4

4,1

Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue

93,1

96,1

Net fair value (gain)/loss on assets at fair value through profit or loss

(0,2)

0,8

(8,8)
2,5

(3,8)
(4,6)

Funding costs

Changes in working capital
Current receivables and prepayments
Current payables and provisions
Cash generated from operations

1 460,5

Notes to the statement of CASH FLOWS

A.

Group
June 2011
R million

935,5
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accounting policies
for the year ended 30 June 2011
1. Basis of preparation
RMBH is an investment holding company. RMBH’s separate
and group annual financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(”IFRS”), the requirements of the Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements.
All references to the group results refer to that of RMBH and
its associate FirstRand. OUTsurance and RMBSI were consolidated
up to the date of the RMI Holdings unbundling. The accounting
policies of these former subsidiaries are documented as part
of these accounting policies but are no longer relevant at
year end. For further detail on the unbundling refer to the
directors’ report.
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
using the historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
and liabilities where it adopts the fair value basis of accounting.

Accounting POLICIES

transactions with the government and other governmentrelated entities. It also clarifies and simplifies the definition
of a related party. The group has not been impacted by this
amendment.
• Annual improvements: The IASB made amendments to a
number of accounting standards. The aim is to clarify and
improve the accounting standards. The improvements
include those involving terminology or editorial changes
with minimal effect on recognition and measurement. The
annual improvements project for 2009 is effective for annual
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2010. The group
has adopted the amendments made as a result of the
annual improvements project during the current financial
year. These amendments have not had a significant impact
on the group’s results nor has it resulted in the restatement
of prior year numbers.

use of estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the

2. C
 onsolidation and equity
accounting

reported amounts in the statement of financial position and

The group financial statements include the assets, liabilities

profit or loss. Although estimates are based on management’s

and results of the operations of the holding company and its

best knowledge and judgements of current facts as at reporting

subsidiaries.

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the

date, the actual outcome may differ from those estimates.
Where appropriate, details of estimates are presented in the
accompanying notes to the financial statements.
All monetary information and figures presented in these
financial statements are stated in millions of Rand, unless
otherwise indicated.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these group and separate financial statements are set out
below and are consistent in all material aspects with those
adopted in the previous year, except for the adoption of
certain standards or interpretations effective for the first time
in the current year as shown below. Those standards and
interpretations which have no impact on the separate and
group financial statements are not disclosed below:

Accounting policies of subsidiaries and associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the group.
Subsidiaries: Subsidiaries that have been consolidated are
companies in which the group, directly or indirectly, has a longterm interest of more than one half of the voting rights or has
power to exercise control over the operations.
The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets
transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition related costs are
expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination

• Amendments to IFRS 2: Group cash-settled share-based

are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

payment transactions: The amendment clarifies the

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises

accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value

transactions. The entity receiving the goods or services shall

or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the

measure the share-based payment transaction as equity-

acquiree’s net assets.

settled only when the awards granted are its own equity
instruments, or the entity has no obligation to settle the
share-based payment transaction. The entity settling a
share-based payment transaction when another entity in the
group receives the goods or services recognises the
transaction as equity-settled only if it is settled in its own
equity instruments. In all other cases, the transaction is
accounted for as cash-settled. The group has not been
impacted by this amendment.
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for government related entities to disclose details of all

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisitiondate fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is accounted for
directly in profit or loss.

• Amendment to IAS 24 – Related party disclosures: This

The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of

amendment provides partial relief from the requirement

during the year are included in consolidated profit or loss and
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Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from

venture. The group measures at fair value any investment it has
retained in the entity when significant influence is lost and
recognises the resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. The gain
or loss is measured as the difference between the fair value of
this retained investment and the carrying amount of the
original investment at the date significant influence is lost.

the equity of the owners of the group. Profit or loss and each

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its

component of other comprehensive income are attributed to

associates are eliminated to the extent of the groups’ interest

the owners of the group and to the non-controlling interests

in the entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the

in proportion to their relative holdings even if this results in the

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

transferred.

Intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains are

Dilutionary and anti-dilutionary effects of equity transactions

eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also

by associate companies that RMBH is not party to, are accounted

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impair-

for directly against equity.

ment of the asset transferred.

Separate financial statements: In RMBH’s separate financial

Common control transactions are business combinations in

statements, investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and

which the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the

associated companies are carried at cost. Transaction costs are

same party both before and after the business combination,

recognised directly in the income statement.

and control is not transitory. The consideration transferred for
an acquisition of a subsidiary in a common control transaction
is measured at the group carrying value of the assets
transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the acquisition date. The acquirer incorporates the
assets and liabilities of the acquiree at their pre-combination
carrying amounts from the date that control is obtained.

3. R
 evenue and expenditure
recognition
Interest income and expense: The group recognises interest
income and expense in profit or loss for all instruments
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable

Any excess or deficit of the consideration transferred over the

preference shares, are included in loans and advances or long-

cumulative total of the at acquisition date net asset value of

term liabilities. Dividends received or paid on these instruments

the acquiree, the relevant non-controlling interests and the fair

are included and accrued in interest income and expense using

value of any previous equity interests held, is recognised directly

the effective interest method.

in equity.

Fair value income: The group includes profits or losses, fair

Consolidation of share incentive trusts and collective

value adjustments, dividends and interest on trading financial

investment schemes (including policyholders): The group

instruments, as well as trading related financial instruments

consolidates share incentive trusts and collective investment

designated at fair value through profit or loss as fair value

schemes in which it is considered to have control through its size

income in profit or loss.

of investment, voting control or related management contracts.

Fee and commission income: The group generally recognises

Associate companies: Associates are entities in which the

fee and commission income on an accrual basis when the

group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but does

service is rendered. Commission income on acceptances, bills

not demonstrate control.

and promissory notes endorsed is credited to income over the

The group includes the results of associates in its group

lives of the relevant instruments on a time apportionment basis.

financial statements using the equity accounting method, from

Dividends: The group recognises dividends when the group’s

the effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.

right to receive payment is established. This is on the last day

The investment is initially recognised at cost. The group’s invest-

to trade for listed shares, and on the date of declaration for

ment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition,

unlisted shares.

net of any accumulated impairment loss.
The group’s share of associate companies’ other comprehensive

Accounting POLICIES

consolidated comprehensive income from or to the date on
which effective control was acquired or ceased. Transactions
with owners are recognised in equity only when control is
not lost.

Insurance Contracts: Revenue treatment is detailed in note 20
of the accounting policies.

movements is accounted for in the group’s other comprehensive
income. The group’s share of associate companies’ movement
in other equity is accounted for directly in equity.

4. Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency: The financial

Equity accounting is discontinued from the date that the group

statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the

ceases to have significant influence over the associate or joint

functional and presentation currency of RMBH.
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accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Transactions and balances: Foreign currency transactions are

calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or

translated into the functional currency using the exchange

substantively enacted by the reporting date, in each particular

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Translation

jurisdiction within which the group operates.

differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss.
Foreign currency translation differences on monetary items,

Secondary taxation on companies is provided for in respect of
dividend payments, net of dividends received or receivable and
is recognised as a taxation charge for the year.

such as foreign currency bonds, are not reported as part of the

7. Recognition of assets

fair value gain or loss in other comprehensive income, but

Assets

are recognised as a translation gain or loss in profit or loss
when incurred.
Translation differences on non-monetary items classified as
available-for-sale, such as equities, are included in the availablefor-sale reserve in other comprehensive income when incurred.
Group companies: The results and financial position of all
the group entities are translated into the South African Rand
as follows:
• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

The group recognises assets when it obtains control of a
resource as a result of past events, and from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the enterprise.

Contingent assets
The group discloses a contingent asset where, as a result of
past events, it is highly likely that economic benefits will flow
to it, but this will only be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events which are
not wholly within the group’s control.

Accounting POLICIES

that statement of financial position;
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is

8. R
 ecognition of liabilities, provisions
and contingent liabilities

not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of

Liabilities and provisions: The group recognises liabilities,

• income and expenses for each income statement are

the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case

obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an

dates of the transactions); and

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of other comprehensive income.

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the

Contingent liabilities: The group discloses a contingent

translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of

liability where:

borrowings and other currency instruments designated as
hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity.
When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

5. Borrowing costs
The group capitalises borrowing costs that are directly

• it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the
existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the enterprise; or
• it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle an obligation; or
• the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of

9. Financial instruments

a qualifying asset up to date on which construction or

Financial instruments disclosed in the financial statements

installation of the assets is substantially completed.

include cash and cash equivalents, investments, derivative

Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

6. Direct taxes
Direct taxes include South African and foreign jurisdiction
corporate tax payable, as well as capital gains tax.
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including provisions, when it has a present legal or constructive

income and expenses are translated at the actual rates at the

instruments, debtors and short-term loans, trade and other
payables and borrowings. Financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value, including transaction costs, when the
group becomes party to the contractual terms of the
instruments. The transaction costs relating to the acquisition of
financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are

The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year

expensed. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments

as adjusted for items which are non-taxable or disallowed. It is

are measured as follows:
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Loans and receivables and borrowings: Loans and receivables

continues to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and

and borrowings are non-derivative financial instruments with

recognises a financial liability for the consideration received. In

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active

subsequent periods, the group recognises any income on the

market. These instruments are carried at amortised cost using

transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial

the effective interest rate method.

liability.

Held-to-maturity financial instruments: Instruments with

Where the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the
group shall determine whether it has retained control of the
financial asset. Where the group has not retained control it
shall derecognise the financial asset and recognise separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or
retained in the transfer. Where the group has retained control
of the financial asset, it shall continue to recognise the financial
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the
financial asset.

hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity financial
instruments and are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.
Available-for-sale financial instruments: Other long-term
financial instruments are classified as available-for-sale and are
carried at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial
instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise. When these financial instruments
are either derecognised or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments are realised and included in the income statement.
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:
These instruments, consisting of financial instruments held-fortrading and those designated at fair value through profit or
loss at inception, are carried at fair value. Derivatives are also
classified as held-for-trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of these financial instruments are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Financial assets and liabilities are designated on initial
recognition as at fair value through profit and loss to the extent
that it produces more relevant information because it either:
• results in the reduction of measurement inconsistency (or
accounting mismatch) that would arise as a result of measuring
assets and liabilities and the gains and losses on them on a
different basis; or
• is a group of financial assets and/or financial liabilities that is
managed and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and this is the basis on which information
about the assets and/or liabilities is provided internally to the
entity’s key management personnel.
The group derecognises an asset when the contractual rights to
the asset expires, where there is a transfer of contractual rights
that comprise the asset, or the group retains the contractual
rights of the assets but assumes a corresponding liability to
transfer these contractual rights to another party and
consequently transfers substantially all the risks and benefits
associated with the asset.
Where the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset, the group continues to
recognise the asset. If a transfer does not result in derecognition
because the group has retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the group

Financial liabilities (or portions thereof) are derecognised when
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled
or has expired. On derecognition, the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability, including related
unamortised costs, and the amount paid for it is included in
profit or loss.

Accounting POLICIES

fixed maturity that the group has the intent and ability to

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an organised
financial market is measured at the bid price for financial assets
and ask/offer price for financial liabilities. The fair value of the
financial instruments that are not traded in an organised
financial market is determined using a variety of methods and
assumptions that are based on market conditions and risk
existing at reporting date, including independent appraisals
and discounted cash flow methods. Fair values represent an
approximation of possible value, which may differ from the
value that will finally be realised.
Where a current legally enforceable right of set-off exists for
recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is
an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset
simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis, all related financial
effects are offset.
All purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised
at the trade date.

10. Property and equipment
The group carries property and equipment at historical cost
less depreciation and impairment, except for land which is
carried at cost less impairment. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.
Property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated to reduce the book value of these assets to
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives.
Freehold properties and properties held under finance leases
are further broken down into significant components that
are depreciated to their respective residual values over the
economic lives of these components.
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accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The periods of depreciation used are as follows:

12. Impairment of assets

Freehold property and property held under finance lease

Impairment

• Buildings and structures

50 years

• Mechanical, electrical and components

20 years

• Computer equipment

3 years

• Furniture, fittings and office equipment

6 years

An asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less cost to sell or its value in use. The decline in value is
accounted for in profit or loss.

• Motor vehicle

4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Assets that are
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred. Gains or losses on disposals are determined
by reference to the carrying amount of the asset and the net

Accounting POLICIES

proceeds received, and are recorded in profit or loss on disposal.

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated companies are reviewed annually and written down
for impairment where necessary.

Financial instruments carried at amortised cost
The group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset is impaired at each reporting date. A financial
asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of

Leased assets – Assets leased in terms of finance leases, i.e.

the asset (a ’loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on

where the group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards

the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can

of ownership, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the

be reliably estimated.

lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans

of the minimum finance lease payments. Leased assets are

and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at

depreciated over the shorter of the lease period or the period

amortised cost has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured

over which the particular asset category is otherwise depreciated.

as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the

The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,

present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the

are included in non-current liabilities. Each lease payment is

financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying

allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to

amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is

achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The

recognised in profit or loss. If a held-to-maturity investment

finance charges are accounted for in profit or loss over the term

or a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for

of the lease using the effective interest rate method. Hire

measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest

purchase agreements are accounted for as finance leases.

rate determined under contract. As a practical expedient, the

Leases of assets where the lessor substantially retains all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.

group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.

Payments made under operating leases are accounted for in

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss

income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, such as

11. Intangible assets

improved credit rating, the previously recognised impairment

Goodwill: Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries or businesses

loss is reversed and is recognised in profit or loss.

is disclosed separately. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is
included in investments in associates.

Financial assets carried at fair value

Other intangible assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated

At each reporting date the group assesses whether there is

amortisation and any recognised impairment losses. Intangible

objective evidence of possible impairment of financial assets

assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their expected

carried at fair value. In the case of equity investments classified

useful lives. The amortisation charge is reflected in marketing

as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the

and administration expenses in profit or loss.

fair value of the security below its cost is evidence that the

The carrying amounts of intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis or sooner if there is an indication
of impairment.
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assets are impaired. If any such objective evidence of impairment exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative
loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost
and current fair value, less any impairment loss on the financial

Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets are reflected

asset previously recognised in profit or loss is removed from

under operating expenditure in profit or loss.

equity and recognised in profit or loss.
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Impairment losses on equity instruments that were recognised

Post-retirement medical benefits: In terms of certain

in profit or loss are not subsequently reversed through profit or

employment contracts, the group provides for post-retirement

loss – such reversals are accounted for in the statement of

healthcare benefits to qualifying employees and retired

other comprehensive income.

personnel by subsidising a portion of their medical aid
contributions. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued

Goodwill

over the period of employment using an accounting
methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.

Goodwill is assessed annually for possible impairments. For

The entitlement to these benefits is usually based on the

purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-

employee remaining in service up to retirement age and

generating units, being the lowest component of the business

completing a minimum service period. Qualified actuaries

measured in the management accounts that is expected to

perform annual valuations.

business component. Impairment losses relating to goodwill
are not reversed.

Leave pay: The group recognises in full employees rights to
annual leave entitlement in respect of past service.
Bonuses: Management and staff bonuses are recognised as an

13. Deferred taxation

expense in staff costs as incurred when it is probable that the

The group calculates deferred taxation on the comprehensive
basis using the liability method on a statement of financial
position based approach. It calculates deferred tax liabilities or
assets by applying corporate tax rates to the temporary
differences existing at each reporting date between the tax
values of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount, where
such temporary differences are expected to result in taxable or
deductible amounts in determining taxable income for future
periods when the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities
are recovered or settled. The group recognises deferred tax
assets if the directors consider it probable that future taxable
income will be available against which the unused tax losses
can be utilised.

economic benefits will be paid and the amount can be reliably

14. Employee benefits

The group initially recognises borrowings, including debentures,

Post-employment benefits: The group operates defined
benefit (through its associates) and defined contribution
schemes, the assets of which are held in separate trusteeadministered funds. The pension plans are generally funded by
payments from employees and the relevant group companies,
taking account of the recommendations of independent

measured.
Intellectual property bonuses: In terms of the intellectual
property bonus plan operated by a subsidiary, employees were
paid intellectual property bonuses at the company’s discretion.
The beneficiaries under the plan were subject to retention
periods and amounts to be repaid should the employee be
in breach of the retention period. The intellectual property
bonuses are recognised as current service costs over a 2.5 to
3 year period and are originally valued using the projected
credit unit method.

15. Borrowings
at the fair value of the consideration received. Borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Discounts or
premiums on debentures issued are amortised on a basis that
reflects the effective yield on the debentures over their life
span. Interest paid is recognised in profit or loss on an effective
interest rate basis.

qualified actuaries. For defined benefit plans the pension

Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable

accounting costs are assessed using the projected unit credit

preference shares, are included in liabilities.

method. These funds are registered in terms of the Pension
Funds Act, 1956, and membership is compulsory for all group

16. Share capital

employees. Qualified actuaries perform annual valuations.

Share issue costs directly related to the issue of new shares or

The group writes off current service costs immediately, while

Accounting POLICIES

generate cash flows that are largely independent of another

options are shown as a deduction from equity.

it expenses past service costs, experience adjustments, changes

Dividends paid on ordinary shares are recognised against

in actuarial assumptions and plan amendments over the

equity in the period in which they are declared. Dividends

expected remaining working lives of employees. The costs are

declared after the reporting date are not recognised but

written off immediately in the case of retired employees.

disclosed as a subsequent event.

For defined contribution plans, the group pays contributions to

Treasury shares: Where the company or other entities within

publicly or privately-administered pension insurance plans on

group purchases the company’s equity share capital, the

a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no

consideration paid is deducted from total shareholders’ equity

further payment obligations once the contributions have been

as treasury shares until they are cancelled. Where such shares

paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit

are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received

expense when they are due.

is included in shareholders’ equity. These shares are treated
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as a deduction from the issued number of shares and taken
into account in the calculation of the weighted average
number of shares.
Distribution of non-cash assets: A dividend payable is
recognised when the distributions are appropriately authorised
and are no longer at the discretion of the entity. The group
measures the liability to distribute the non-cash assets as a
dividend to owners at fair value of the asset to be distributed.
The carrying amount of the dividend payable is remeasured at
the end of each reporting period and on the date of settlement, with changes recognised in equity as an adjustment to
the distribution. The difference between the carrying amount
of the dividend payable and the fair value of the assets on the
date of settlement is recognised in profit or loss for the period.
Distributions of non-cash assets under common control are
specifically excluded from the scope of IFRIC 17 and are
measured at the carrying amount of the assets to be distributed.

17. Segment reporting

Accounting POLICIES

An operating segment is a component of the group that
engages in business activities from which the group may earn
revenues and incurs expenses. An operating segment is also a
component of the group whose operating results are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in allocating
resources, assessing its performance and for which discrete
financial information is available.

19. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value and
include cash at hand, short-term deposits held with banks and
listed government bonds under resale agreements.
Short-term deposits with banks and listed government bonds
under resale agreements are considered instruments that can
be liquidated within a period of three months from the
reporting date. Short-term deposits which cannot be accessed
within this period are classified as financial assets.

20. Insurance contracts

Classification of insurance and investment
contracts
The group issues investment contracts and contracts that
transfer insurance risk:

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
chief executive officer of the group. The group’s identification
and measurement of operating segments is consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief executive officer. The
operating segments have been identified and classified in
a manner that reflects the risks and rewards related to the
segments’ specific products and services offered in their
specific markets.

• Contracts are classified as insurance contracts if the group
accepts significant insurance risk. Insurance risk is defined as
a risk on the occurrence of a defined uncertain insured
event. The amount paid may significantly exceed the amount
payable should the event not have occurred.
• Investment contracts are contracts that transfer financial risk
without significant insurance risk. Financial risk refers to the
risk of a possible future change in the value of an asset
or financial instrument, due to a change in the interest rate,
commodity prices, and index of prices, foreign exchange
rate or other measurable variable.

Segments with a majority of revenue earned from charges to
external customers and whose revenue, results or assets are
10% or more of all the segments, are reported separately.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract
the class will remain unchanged for the lifetime of the contract
even if the policy conditions change significantly over time.

18. Share-based payments

Insurance contracts

The group operates equity-settled and cash-settled sharebased compensation plans.

Insurance contracts are classified into two main categories,
depending on the duration of the risk.

Equity settled: The group expenses the fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the
options, over the vesting period of the options, as employee
costs, with a corresponding credit to a share-based payment
reserve. The total value of the services received is calculated
with reference to the fair value of the options at grant date.
The fair values of the options are determined excluding nonmarket vesting conditions. These vesting conditions are
included in the assumptions of the number of options
expected to vest. At each reporting date, the group revises its
estimate of the number of options expected to vest.
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Cash settled: The group measures the services received and
liability incurred in respect of cash settled share based payment
plans at the current fair value of the liability. The group
remeasures the fair value of the liability at each reporting date
until settled. The liability is recognised over the vesting period
and any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised
in profit or loss.
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20.1 Short-term insurance
Short-term insurance is the providing of benefits under shortterm policies which includes property, accident and health,
liability, miscellaneous and motor or a contract comprising a
combination of any of those policies.

Recognition and measurement
• Premium revenue
	Gross insurance premium revenue reflects business written
during the year, and excludes any taxes or levies payable on

• Unearned premium provision
	
The provision for unearned premiums comprises the
proportion of gross premium revenue which is estimated to
be earned in the following or subsequent financial years,
computed separately for each insurance contract using the
method most reflective of any variation in the incidence of
risk during the period covered by the contract.

• Unexpired risk provision
	Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from insurance
contracts where the expected value of claims and expenses
attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in force at
the reporting date exceeds unearned premiums provision in
relation to such policies after the deduction of any deferred
acquisition costs.

• Provision for claims reported but not paid
	
Claims outstanding comprise provisions for the group’s
estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred
but unpaid at the reporting date, and, if applicable related
internal and external handling expenses and an appropriate
prudential margin. Claims outstanding are assessed by
reviewing individual claims and making allowance for claims
reported but not yet paid, the effect of both internal and
external foreseeable events, such as changes in claims
handling procedures, inflation, judicial trends, legislative
changes and past experience and trends. Adjustments to
claims provisions established in prior years are reflected in the
financial statements of the period in which the adjustments
are made and disclosed separately if material. The methods
used, and the estimates made are reviewed annually.

• Provision for claims incurred but not reported
	Incurred but not reported reserves represent a provision for
claims incurred up to the end of the financial year but not
yet reported. The provision for claims incurred but not
reported is estimated based on actual reported claims and
referring to net premium written.

• Salvage and subrogation recoveries
	Certain insurance contracts permit the group to sell (usually
damaged) property acquired in settling a claim (i.e. salvage)
as well as to pursue third parties for payment of some or all
costs (subrogation). Salvage and subrogation recoveries are
recognised when it is reasonably certain that the amounts
will be recovered. The recoveries are credited to claims
incurred in profit or loss.

• Deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”)
	Acquisition costs, which represent commission paid in
respect of insurance contracts are recognised as an intangible
asset and amortised over the duration of the insurance
agreement as premium is earned. All other costs are
recognised as expenses when incurred.

• Deferred acquisition revenue (“DAR”)
Reinsurance commission is recognised as a liability and
amortised over the duration of the reinsurance agreement
as reinsurance premium is expensed.

Reinsurance contracts held
The group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business
for the purpose of limiting its net loss potential through the
diversification of its risks. Only rights under contracts that give
rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for
as reinsurance assets. Rights under contracts that do not
transfer significant insurance risk are accounted for as financial
instruments.
Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured
consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured
insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each
reinsurance contract.
The benefits to which the group is entitled under its reinsurance
contracts held are recognised as assets. These assets consist of
short-term balances due from reinsurers (classified within
loans and receivables) on settled claims, as well as receivables
(classified as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the
expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured
insurance contracts.

Accounting POLICIES

premium. Premium revenue includes all premiums for the
period of risk covered by the policy, regardless of whether or
not these are due for payment in the accounting period.
Premiums are shown before deduction of commission.

Reinsurance premiums paid under reinsurance contracts are
recognised as reinsurance assets and expensed as the gross
premiums are released to income. Reinsurance liabilities are
primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts.
The group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on
a six monthly basis. If there is objective evidence that the
reinsurance asset is impaired, the group reduces the carrying
amount of the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and
recognises that impairment loss in profit or loss. The group
gathers the objective evidence that a reinsurance asset is
impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets
held at amortised cost. The impairment loss is also calculated
following the same method used for these financial assets.

• Contingency reserve
	
A reserve is made in respect of the group’s short-term
insurance operations in South Africa as required by the
regulatory authorities. Transfers to and from this reserve are
treated as appropriation of retained income. The contingency
reserve is not distributable. The contingency reserve is
calculated as 10% of the net written premiums in terms of
the South African Short-Term Insurance Act, 1998.

• R
 eceivables and payables related to insurance
contracts
	Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These
include amounts due to and from brokers and insurance
contract holders.
	If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable
is impaired, the group reduces the carrying amount of the
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insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in profit or loss. The group gathers the objective
evidence that an insurance receivable is impaired using
the same process adopted for loans and receivables. The
impairment loss is also calculated under the same method
used for these financial assets.

• Cash bonus provision
	A provision is made for probable future cash bonus payments
during the period in which the premium is collected using
statistical techniques, past experience and management’s
expectations regarding future trends in claims experiences.
Certain personal lines clients are eligible for this benefit,
which returns a contracted percentage of the client’s
premium paid, upon achievement of a pre-specified claim
free period as stipulated in the client’s insurance contract.

20.2 Long-term insurance
Long-term insurance provides benefits under various classes of
long-term insurance risk. Premium revenue includes all premiums
for the period of risk covered by the policy, regardless of

Accounting POLICIES

whether or not these are for payment in the accounting period.
Premiums are shown before the deduction of commission.
Benefits are recorded as an expense when they are incurred.
The liabilities under life insurance contracts are valued in
accordance with the Actuarial Society of South Africa’s
guidelines and in particular PGN103 (version 4) and PGN104
(version 6). The operating surpluses or losses arising from life
insurance contracts are determined by the annual valuation.
These surpluses or losses are arrived at after taking into
account the movement in actuarial liabilities under matured
policies, provisions for profit commissions accrued and adjustments to other reserves within the policyholder liabilities.
Assets and liabilities were valued on consistent bases. Valuation
assumptions regarding future mortality, morbidity, expenses
and yields are based on prudent best estimates taking into
account the company’s expected future experience and
allowing for any specific conditions of the various policy classes.

20.3 Liability adequacy test
At each reporting date, liability adequacy tests are performed
to ensure the adequacy of the contract liabilities net of related
DAC assets. In performing these tests, current best estimates
of future contractual cash flows and claims handling and
administration expenses are used. Any deficiency is immediately
charged to profit or loss initially by writing off DAC and by
subsequently establishing a provision for losses arising from
liability adequacy tests (the unexpired risk provision). Any DAC
written off as a result of this test cannot subsequently be
reinstated.
In respect of short-term insurance transaction the provision
is made for unexpired risks arising from insurance contracts

54

2011 annual integrated report

where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable
to the unexpired periods of policies in force at the reporting
date exceeds unearned premiums provision in relation to such
policies after the deduction of any deferred acquisition costs.

20.4 Accounting for cell captive arrangements
Certain cell captive arrangements have been entered into by
businesses within the group. Per these arrangements, certain
risk products marketed and distributed by these companies are
underwritten by the company’s subsidiary.
The collection of premium and the payment of claims is a
function that is performed by the cell or its administrator.
The results of the cell are fully consolidated into the results of
the group.
Economic benefits generated by the cell are distributed by
way of a bi-annual preference dividend to the preference
shareholder, an entity independent of the cell. Losses incurred
by the cell are for the group and there is no recourse against
the cell for such losses. The group however, retains the right to
offset such losses against future profits generated by the cell
in the determination of any preference dividends to be paid to
the preference shareholder.
The profitability of cell captive business is reviewed on a
monthly basis to ensure that the group is not exposed to
uneconomical risks over which it has no day-to-day management
control.
Provisions in relation to insurance contracts, other than the
provision for incurred but not reported claims and the provision
for unearned premium, concluded by the cell are determined
by the cell administrator. The provision for incurred but not
reported claims is carried by the group at the statutory rate of
7% of net written premiums.
Recognition and measurement of cell captive arrangements is
consistent with the principles applied to other insurance
arrangements.

20.5 Investment contracts
Policyholder contracts that do not transfer significant insurance
risk are classified as investment contracts. The proceeds from
payments against these contracts are excluded from profit or
loss and recognised directly against the liability. The results
from investment contracts included in profit or loss is limited
to administration fees earned as well as fair value gains or
losses from the revaluation of assets underlying the investment
contracts.
Liabilities for individual market related long-term insurance
policies where benefits are in part dependent on the
performance of underlying investment portfolios are taken as
the aggregate value of the policies’ investment in the investment portfolio at the valuation date. The liability is based on
assumptions of the best estimate of future experience.

21. Convertible debentures
Convertible debentures originated by the group are initially
recognised as the proceeds, less attributable transaction costs
and subsequently carried at this value. The convertible
debentures can be converted at the option of the debenture
holder to non-redeemable preference shares. The carrying
amount equals the amount at which the debentures could be
converted to non-redeemable preference shares. The dividend
rights to the non-redeemable preference shares have been
contractually determined and are non-discretionary. The
convertible debentures are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest incurred on the convertible debentures is recognised in
profit or loss using the effective yield method.

22. Preference shares

Accounting POLICIES

The group issues variable and fixed rate cumulative redeemable
preference shares to fund the statutory capital requirements
of its insurance subsidiaries, and while the redemption is at
the option of the issuer, the group has no intention to defer
redemption of the various allotments of shares beyond the
duration of the underlying transactions in respect of which the
shares were issued. Accordingly, these preference shares are
classified as long-term liabilities. The preference shares
originated by the group are initially recognised at the proceeds
received, less attributable transaction costs and subsequently
carried at that value, which equals redemption value. The
dividends on these shares are non-discretionary and recognised
in profit or loss as a charge against the profit before tax, and
disclosed separately. Provision for dividends payable is disclosed
separately in the statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

23. Policyholders’ interest
The group and its clients share in the operating result of the
insurance business. The entitlement to the participation in the
operating result remains contingent until the termination of
the agreement with the client or until contractually determined.
During the duration of the profit sharing agreement the
estimated entitlement to profit or losses by clients is determined
annually and transferred to the policyholder interest liability.
Increases and decreases in the estimated entitlement to
operating result that may become apparent in future periods
are transferred from or to the operating result of that period.
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24. Standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective
The group will comply with the new standard and interpretations from the effective date:
Effective date for
annual periods
commencing on
or after
Amendment to
IAS 24 – Related
party disclosures

This amendment provides partial relief from the requirement for government
related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and
other government-related entities. It also clarifies and simplifies the definition
of a related party.

1 January 2011

This amendment addresses disclosure in the annual financial statements and
will not affect recognition and measurement. The impact of the revised
disclosure is not expected to be significant.
Improvements
to IFRS (Issued
May 2010)

This is a collection of amendments to IFRS. These amendments are the result
of conclusions the IASB reached on proposals made in its annual
improvements project.
There are no significant changes in the improvement projects that are
expected to affect the group.

Accounting POLICIES

Amendments to
IFRS 1, ’First time
adoption’ on
hyperinflation
and fixed dates

The first amendment replaces references to a fixed date of ’1 January 2004’
with ’the date of transition to IFRS’, thus eliminating the need for companies
adopting IFRS for the first time to restate derecognition transactions that
occurred before the date of transition to IFRS. The second amendment provides
guidance on how an entity should resume presenting financial statements in
accordance with IFRS after a period when the entity was unable to comply with
IFRS because its functional currency was subject to severe hyperinflation.

Unless otherwise
specified the
amendments are
effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
1 January 2011
1 July 2011

This amendment will result in additional disclosures in the annual financial
statements and will not affect recognition and measurement.
Amendment to
IFRS 7 Disclosures
– Transfer of
financial assets

The amendments are intended to address concerns raised during the financial
crisis by the G20, among others, that financial statements did not allow users
to understand the ongoing risks the entity faced due to derecognised
receivables and other financial assets.

1 July 2011

This is not expected to have a significant impact on the disclosures provided
by the group.
Amendment to
IAS 12, ’Income
taxes’ on
deferred tax

Currently IAS 12, ’Income taxes’, requires an entity to measure the deferred tax
relating to an asset depending on whether the entity expects to recover the
carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. It can be difficult and
subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when
the asset is measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 Investment Property.
Hence this amendment introduces an exception to the existing principle for the
measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property
measured at fair value. As a result of the amendments, SIC 21, ’Income
taxes-recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets’, would no longer apply to
investment properties carried at fair value. The amendments also incorporate
into IAS 12 the remaining guidance previously contained in SIC 21, which is
accordingly withdrawn.
This is not expected to have a significant impact on the group.
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1 January 2012

Effective date for
annual periods
commencing on
or after
IFRS 9 – Financial
Instruments
(2009)

This IFRS is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 addresses
classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces the multiple
classification and measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that
has only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value.

1 January 2013

The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 9 would have on
the financial statements. Until the process is completed, the group is unable
to determine the significance of the impact of IFRS 9.
IFRS 9 – Financial
Instruments
(2010)

The IASB has updated IFRS 9, ’Financial instruments’ to include guidance on
financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments. The accounting
and presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising financial
instruments has been relocated from IAS 39, ’Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement’, without change, except for financial liabilities
that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

1 January 2013

IFRS 10 –
Consolidated
financial
statements

This standard builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of
control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included
within the consolidated financial statements. The standard provides additional
guidance to assist in determining control where this is difficult to assess.
This new standard might impact the entities that a group consolidates as
its subsidiaries.

Accounting POLICIES

The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 9 would have on
the financial statements. Until the process is completed, the group is unable
to determine the significance of the impact of IFRS 9.
1 January 2013

The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 10 would have
on the financial statements. Until the process is completed, the group is
unable to determine the significance of the impact of IFRS 10.
IFRS 11 – Joint
arrangements

This standard provides for a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements
by focusing on the rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather than its
legal form. There are two types of joint arrangements: joint operations and
joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint operator has rights to the
assets and obligations relating to the arrangement and hence accounts for
its interest in assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise
where the joint operator has rights to the net assets of the arrangement
and hence equity accounts for its interest. Proportional consolidation of joint
ventures is no longer allowed.

1 January 2013

The standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the group.
IFRS 12 –
Disclosures of
interests in
other entities

This standard includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests
in other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose
vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.

1 January 2013

This amendment addresses disclosure in the annual financial statements and
will not affect recognition and measurement. The group is still in the process
of assessing the impact of the revised disclosure.
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24. Standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective continued
Effective date for
annual periods
commencing on
or after
IFRS 13 – Fair
value
measurement

This standard aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing
a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement
and disclosure requirements for use across IFRS. The requirements, which are
largely aligned between IFRS and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair
value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where
its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRS or
US GAAP.

1 January 2013

Accounting POLICIES

The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 13 would have
on the financial statements. Until the process is completed, the group is
unable to determine the significance of the impact of IFRS 13.
IAS 27 (revised
2011) – Separate
financial
statements

This standard includes the provisions on separate financial statements that
are left after the control provisions of IAS 27 have been included in the
new IFRS 10.

IAS 28 (revised
2011) – Associates
and joint
ventures

This standard includes the requirements for joint ventures, as well as
associates, to be equity accounted following the issue of IFRS 11.

IAS 19 (revised
2011) – Employee
benefits

1 January 2013

This amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the
group’s results.
1 January 2013

This amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the
group’s results.
The main changes include the removal of the corridor approach, which
allowed entities the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and
losses on defined benefit plans. The revised standard requires that all
remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans be presented in other
comprehensive income. It also includes enhanced disclosure requirements for
defined benefit plans.

1 January 2013

The group is in the process of assessing the impact the revised IAS 19 would
have on the financial statements.

25. Critical accounting assumptions
The following critical accounting assumptions have been
applied by management in the current year accounting for the
restructure. For further detail on the restructure refer to the
directors’ report.
• Dividend-in-specie from FirstRand: FirstRand issued a
dividend-in-specie, in the form of MMI, on which it
recognised a gain as required by IFRIC 17 ’Distributions of
non-cash assets to owners’. This was treated as an upstream
transaction and, therefore, the gain has been excluded
when accounting for the group’s equity accounted share of
FirstRand’s earnings. The gain was, however, realised in the
group’s own IFRIC 17 revaluation of RMI Holdings when
unbundling the insurance assets to its shareholders. In
addition, the portion of MMI Holdings Limited (“MMI”)
attributable to Metropolitan Limited (“Metropolitan”) was
recognised as negative goodwill on initial recognition of the
new MMI associate on the basis that it was not previously
included in the FirstRand carrying value.
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• Date of the restructuring transaction: The unbundling
was approved by the shareholders of RMBH on 18 February
2011 and RMI Holdings was listed on 7 March 2011. The
accounting standards allow an entity to designate the
transaction date as a month end where the transaction
takes place during a month. On that basis, 28 February
2011 has been used by management as the effective date
of the unbundling.
• Treatment of OUTsurance: OUTsurance was previously
consolidated by the group based on de facto control which
considered the 45% direct holding and the additional
indirect shareholding through FirstRand, resulting in an
effective shareholding of 61,7% as at June 2010. Following
the unbundling of RMI Holdings, the group ceased to
consolidate OUTsurance on the assumption that it no longer
had de facto control as it had passed to RMI Holdings.
FirstRand ceased to equity account for its share of OUTsurance
as from December 2010 based on the agreement to sell its
shareholding to RMI Holdings.

management of FINANCIAL RISK
for the year ended 30 June

The group is exposed to various financial risks in connection with its current operating activities, such as market risk, currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and capital adequacy risk. These risks contribute to the key financial risk that the proceeds from the group’s
financial assets might not be sufficient to fund the obligations arising from insurance and investment policy contracts.
To manage these risks the subsidiary and associate boards established sub-committees to which it has delegated some of its
responsibilities in meeting its corporate governance and fiduciary duties. The sub-committees include an audit committee, a
compliance committee, an investment committee, an actuarial committee and a remuneration committee. Each committee
adopted a charter, which sets out the objectives, authority, composition and responsibilities of the committee. The boards
approved the charters of these committees.
Additional information on the management of financial risks is provided below.
Market risk – the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency
may fluctuate due to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the currency in which
such instrument is denominated.

Management of FINANCIAL RISK

The group had no exposure to currency risk at 30 June 2011. The group’s prior year exposure to currency risk was mainly in respect
of foreign investments made. The group had invested in foreign subsidiaries operating in Ireland, Mauritius and Australia.
The table below lists the group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at 30 June 2010:

As at 30 June 2010 – R million
Total assets
Total liabilities
Exchange rates:
Closing rate at 30 June
Average rate for the year

Rand

Australian
Dollar

Namibian
Dollar

United
States
Dollar

Euro

Total

30 928,6
7 205,1

414,9
284,5

29,3
20,0

32,3
14,0

1,7
–

31 406,8
7 523,6

6,490
6,690

1,000
1,000

7,650
7,600

9,381
10,640

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is when the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates.
The group makes use of asset managers and internal resources to invest in securities exposed to interest rate risk. The securities
managed by asset managers are contractually agreed with specific risk levels. The internally managed money market investments
are managed in line with the mandate approved by the investment committee. The investment committee monitors the
performance of all the investments and reports to the board on a quarterly basis.
The group’s financial instruments, other than policyholders’ assets, are exposed to interest rate risk. A change in interest rates
would have an impact on the profit before tax of the group as set out below. Policyholders’ funds are exposed to interest rate
risk and the capital loss on fixed rate instruments would be for the policyholders’ account as the liability is calculated with
reference to the value of the assets.
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The table below reflects the shareholders’ exposure to interest rate risk. An increase or decrease in the market interest rate would
result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the group:
200bps
Increase
2011
R million
Financial assets
Unlisted preference shares
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Short-term portion of financial liabilities

200bps
Decrease
2011
R million

200bps
Increase
2010
R million

200bps
Decrease
2010
R million

–
0,3

–
(0,3)

8,9
55,0

(8,9)
(55,0)

(5,7)
(2,6)
–

5,7
2,6
–

(5,7)
(7,0)
(0,2)

5,7
7,0
0,2

Other price risk

Management of FINANCIAL RISK

Equity risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting
all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
Equity securities are mandated to stockbrokers and asset managers. Asset managers’ mandates include benchmarks by which
performance is measured based on fee structures. The investment committee monitors the performance for each asset manager
against benchmarks and reports to the board on a quarterly basis.
All equities are split between listed and unlisted securities. Listed equities which relate to linked policies do not require a sensitivity
analysis as the liability is not guaranteed and will be determined solely by reference to the value of the assets. These assets do not
expose the group to any risks.
The table below reflects the shareholders’ exposure to equity price risk. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the equity
prices would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the group:
10%
Increase
2011
R million
Financial assets
Listed preference shares
Collective investment scheme
Listed equity shares

–
–
1,9

10%
Decrease
2011
R million

–
–
(1,9)

10%
Increase
2010
R million

10%
Decrease
2010
R million

39,3
104,1
8,0

(8,9)
(104,1)
(8,0)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge
an obligation. The key areas where the group is exposed to credit risk are:
• loans and receivables; and
• cash and cash equivalents.
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At 30 June 2011
R million
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

At 30 June 2010
R million
Equity securities –
preference shares
– available-for-sale – unlisted
– available-for-sale – listed
Collective investment scheme
Money market instruments
Debt securities
– available-for-sale – unlisted
– held-to-maturity
– at fair value through profit
or loss
– fixed rate
– variable rate
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

A

Not rated

Total

–
15,1

15,3
–

15,3
15,1

15,1

15,3

30,4

AAA

AA

A

F1

BBB+

Not rated

Total

33,3
73,8
132,1
70,5

95,0
265,5
763,5
118,6

–
53,6
145,4
44,4

–
–
–
47,3

–
–
–
–

12,7
–
–
–

141,0
392,9
1 041,0
280,8

–
–

444,5
–

40,0
–

–
–

–
–

–
77,3

484,5
77,3

7,2
32,6
0,8
412,0

54,5
708,3
4,8
1 935,9

342,5
24,0
0,8
204,3

–
–
–
197,0

–
–
–
–

–
–
326,9
–

404,2
764,9
333,3
2 749,2

762,3

4 390,6

855,0

244,3

–

416,9

6 669,1

Management of FINANCIAL RISK

Significant concentrations of credit risk, if applicable, are disclosed in the financial statements. The credit worthiness of existing
and potential exposures is monitored quarterly at the board meeting. The table below provides information on the credit risk
exposure by credit ratings at the year end (if available):

The ratings were obtained from Fitch. The ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings are not
available, the financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. The ratings are defined as follows:

Long-term Investment grade
AAA	The financial instrument is judged to be of the highest credit quality, with minimal credit risk and indicates the best quality
issuers that are reliable and stable.
AA

The financial instrument is judged to be of high quality and is subject to a very low credit risk and indicates quality issuers.

A		The financial instrument is considered upper-medium grade and is subject to low credit risk although certain economic
situations can more readily affect the issuers’ financial soundness adversely than those rated AAA or AA.
BBB+	The financial instrument is subject to moderate credit risk and indicates medium class issuers, which are currently
satisfactory.

Short-term ratings
F1

Highest credit quality. Indicates the strongest capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.

Not rated
The credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain assets do not have a
formal rating.
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Fair value
The carrying amounts of the following categories of financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Amounts receivable from policyholders;
Other amounts receivable;
Cash and cash equivalents;
Financial assets – debt securities held-to-maturity;
Unlisted preference shares investments;
Accounts payable and accruals; and
Provisions for liabilities and charges.

Liquidity risk and asset liability matching

Management of FINANCIAL RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The group’s
liabilities are matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid resources to cover its obligations. The group’s liquidity and
ability to meet such calls are monitored quarterly at the board meeting.

Total
R million

0–6
month
R million

7 – 12
months
R million

1–5
years
R million

>5 years
R million

No
liquidity
risk
R million

30 June 2011
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Long–term liabilities
Provisions
Trade and other payable

1 366,7
131,7
7,0
5,0
48,6

46,2
131,7
–
2,5
48,6

46,2
–
–
2,5
–

1 274,3
–
7,0
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Total liabilities

1 558,8

228,8

48,7

1281,3

–

–

4 184,4

1 185,1

239,2

520,8

114,6

2 124,7

15,0
1 603,7
349,9
93,1
12,1

–
47,6
306,2
–
–

–
47,6
–
–
–

–
1 508,5
43,7
–
–

15,0
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
93,1
12,1

942,2
1,7
14,4
21,9
468,5
23,1
23,3

–
–
–
21,9
468,5
–
23,3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
1,7
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

942,2
–
14,4
–
–
23,1
–

8,2

3,8

4,4

–

–

–

7 761,5

2 056,4

291,2

2 074,7

129,6

3 209,6

30 June 2010
Liabilities
Insurance contracts
Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Policyholders’ interest
Contingency reserves
Investment contracts:
– at fair value through income
Long-term liabilities
Deferred acquisition reserve
Provisions
Trade and other payable
Deferred taxation liabilities
Taxation
Short-term portion of
financial liabilities
Total liabilities
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Capital management
Capital adequacy risk is the risk that there are insufficient reserves to provide for variations in actual future experience that is worse
than what has been assumed in the financial soundness valuation. The group must maintain a capital balance that will be at least
sufficient to meet obligations in the event of substantial deviations from the main risk assumptions affecting the group’s business.
This is used to determine required capital levels that will ensure sustained solvency within an acceptable confidence level.
The group’s objectives when managing capital are:
• to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and
• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance commensurately with the level of risk.

Management of FINANCIAL RISK

Management regard share capital, share premium, retained earnings, contingency reserves, preference shares and borrowings as
capital when managing capital. During the year the group’s strategy remained unchanged from 2010.
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1.

Land and
buildings
R million

Lease
hold
improvements
R million

Furniture,
fittings
and
equipment
R million

Motor
vehicles
R million

Total
R million

At 1 July 2009
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

74,0
(9,7)

–
–

237,2
(157,5)

3,2
(1,0)

314,4
(168,2)

Net book amount

64,3

–

79,7

2,2

146,2

64,3
–
–
–

–
3,5
–
0,1

79,7
67,6
–
0,6

2,2
0,1
–
–

146,2
71,2
–
0,7

(2,9)

(0,1)

(49,4)

(0,7)

(53,1)

Closing net book amount

61,4

3,5

98,5

1,6

165,0

At 30 June 2010
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

74,0
(12,6)

3,6
(0,1)

304,8
(206,3)

3,2
(1,6)

385,6
(220,6)

Net book amount

61,4

3,5

98,5

1,6

165,0

61,4
7,6
–
–

3,5
1,7
–
0,2

98,5
39,2
(0,1)
1,6

1,6
0,8
(1,3)
–

165,0
49,3
(1,4)
1,8

(2,2)

(0,6)

(39,8)

(0,1)

(42,7)

(66,8)

(3,7)

(98,4)

(1,0)

(169,9)

Property and equipment

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Foreign currency translation reserve
Depreciation charge – includes
discontinued operations

Year ended 30 June 2011
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Foreign currency translation reserve
Depreciation charge – includes
discontinued operations
Transferred to non-current assets and
subsequently unbundled
Closing net book amount

–

1,1

1,0

–

2,1

At 30 June 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

–
–

1,8
(0,7)

1,7
(0,7)

–
–

3,5
(1,4)

Net book amount

–

1,1

1,0

–

2,1

In the prior year, land and buildings comprised of Erf 1478, 1479, Zwartkop Ext 7, Centurion. The finance lease liability is
detailed in note 13. Motor vehicles were held under hire purchase agreements as indicated under note 13.
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Total
R million

19,7
(16,4)

35,2
(19,9)

54,9
(36,3)

Net book amount

3,3

15,3

18,6

Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation charge – discontinued operations

3,3
–
–

15,3
41,9
(14,4)

18,6
41,9
(14,4)

Closing net book amount

3,3

42,8

46,1

19,7
(16,4)

77,1
(34,3)

96,8
(50,7)

3,3

42,8

46,1

3,3
–
–
–
(3,3)

42,8
14,0
(0,4)
(19,2)
(37,2)

46,1
14,0
(0,4)
(19,2)
(40,5)

Intangible assets
At 1 July 2009
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

At 30 June 2010
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount
Year ended 30 June 2011
Opening net book amount
Additions
Settlements
Amortisation charge – discontinued operations
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Closing net book amount

–

–

–

At 30 June 2011
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

–
–

–
–

–
–

Net book amount

–

–

–

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Goodwill
R million

Intellectual
property
bonuses
R million

Goodwill and intellectual property bonuses were derived from investments in previously held subsidiaries.
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3.

2011
R million

2010
R million

Shares at cost including amortisation of goodwill
Treasury shares held by associate(s) in the company
Change in effective holding due to treasury shares of associate(s)
Share of retained income
Share of associates’ non-distributable reserves

9 591,9
257,9
(1 787,2)
15 825,6
1 172,5

7 873,4
(26,3)
(1 242,8)
16 010,9
(243,8)

Closing carrying value

25 060,7

22 371,4

22 371,4
8 283,5

20 100,0
–

(2 353,1)
(7 741,1)
4 255,0
656,6
(1 451,7)
1 324,1
32,6
–
(600,9)
284,3
–

–
–
2 543,5
785,0
(1 046,8)
(167,7)
60,3
(24,7)
(91,0)
30,2
182,6

Closing carrying value

25 060,7

22 371,4

Carrying value comprises:
FirstRand Limited
Discovery Holdings Limited
OUTsurance Insurance Company of Namibia Limited

25 060,7
–
–

19 130,1
3 232,0
9,3

Closing carrying value

25 060,7

22 371,4

Market values and directors’ valuation:
Listed
Unlisted

37 922,1
–

35 798,0
68,0

Analysis of income:
Per audited financial statements

4 911,6

3 328,5

Retained income for the year
Dividends received for the year

3 459,9
1 451,7

2 281,7
1 046,8

Total income

4 911,6

3 328,5

Number
of shares

%
of equity

Investment in associates

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Analysis of the movement in the carrying value of associates:
Opening carrying value
Associate acquired
Share of acquisition attributable to MMI Holdings which was previously accounted
for under FirstRand
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Share of after-tax profits of associate companies (continuing)
Share of after-tax profits of associate companies (discontinuing)
Dividends received
Share of associates’ non-distributable reserves
Dividend declared by subsidiary to associate
Accumulated loss from fund previously consolidated
Change in effective holding
Treasury shares
Investment in fund de-consolidated

The group’s interest in its associate is as follows:
Name of associate
FirstRand Limited
* After consolidation of share trust

Further details of significant associates are disclosed in note 32.
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1 910 433 050

35,1*

2010
R million

Equity securities
Debt securities

18,5
–

3 276,6
2 011,7

Equity and debt securities

18,5

5 288,3

The group’s financial assets are summarised by measurement category in the table
below
– Held-to-maturity
– Available-for-sale
– Fair value through profit or loss

–
–
18,5

77,3
1 098,8
4 112,2

Equity and debt securities

18,5

5 288,3

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Debt securities – interest bearing instruments

–

77,3

Held-to-maturity debt securities

–

77,3

–
–
–

80,4
141,0
392,9

Available-for-sale equity securities
Debt securities
– unlisted preference shares

–

614,3

–

484,5

Available-for-sale equity and debt securities

–

1 098,8

equity and debt securities

The current portion of the financial assets is R18,5 million (2010: R4 926,6 million).
The assets included in each of the categories above are detailed in the tables below:

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

2011
R million

Financial assets held-to-maturity were carried on the group’s balance sheet at
amortised cost.
At the 2010 year-end, other interest bearing instruments included an inflation-linked
annuity issued by the South African National Road Fund for the building of the
N3 toll road.
The cash flow stream paid quarterly CPI (metropolitan and other urban areas) adjusted
annuities in February, May, August and November of each year up to November 2024.
The inflation-linked cash flow stream was carried at cost plus interest amortised at the
real effective yield of 8,05% per annum and was adjusted for changes in the CPI
(metropolitan and other urban areas). The carrying amount was reduced by the cash
flows received. The held-to-maturity value approximates fair value due to the
adjustment for change in the CPI.
Available-for-sale equity and debt securities
Equity securities
– listed shares
– unlisted preference shares
– listed preference shares

Unlisted preference share investments were made in special purpose vehicles administered by large South African banks.
To mitigate credit risk, the unlisted preference share investments were secured by put options to those banks. The purpose
of the investments was to match the group’s contracted obligations to pay dividends on the variable rate cumulative
redeemable preference shares in issue (note 12).
The investments were held to redemption and were carried at fair value. Carrying value was original cost plus accrued
dividends, which equalled fair value. The preference shares were redeemable at any time with the notice period ranging
from thirty days to three years. Accrued dividends are disclosed in loans and receivables (note 5).
Dividend yields ranged from 58% to 63% of the prime overdraft rate of larger South African banks.
Listed preference share were carried at fair value as determined by current quoted market bid prices.

2011 annual integrated report

67

notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

4.

2010
R million

18,5

1 613,1

–
–

8,2
1 041,0

18,5
–

2 662,3
280,8

–
–

764,9
404,2

–

1 449,9

18,5

4 112,2

equity and debt securities continued
Equity and debt securities at fair value through profit or loss
Equity securities – listed
Designated upon initial recognition
– domestic
Equity securities – unlisted
Designated upon initial recognition
– domestic
Collective investment scheme
Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss
Money market instruments
Debt securities – listed
Designated upon initial recognition
– variable rate
– fixed rate

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2011
R million

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss
Equity and debt securities at fair value through profit or loss

Listed equity securities are ordinary listed shares traded in organised financial markets. The carrying amount represents
the quoted bid prices on these markets at the close of business on the last day of the financial year-end.
Debt securities represented South African Government issued interest securities and other listed interest securities on the
Bond Exchange of South Africa (“BESA”). The 2010 carrying amount represented the quoted bid prices at the close
of business on the last business day of the financial year-end.
The collective investment scheme assets were held at fair value through profit of loss. The fair value of these instruments
was determined by the quoted repurchase price.
Equity and debt securities classified at fair value through profit or loss are designated in this category upon initial
recognition.

68

2011 annual integrated report

Availablefor-sale
R million

76,4
–
9,6
–
(8,7)

901,8
185,0
–
–
(13,2)

4 586,4
2 152,6
–
(2 939,6)
–

5 564,6
2 337,6
9,6
(2 939,6)
(21,9)

–
–

–
25,2

312,8
–

312,8
25,2

equity and debt securities continued
The following is a reconciliation of movement in
financial asset balances:
At 1 July 2009
Additions
Interest accrued at effective yield
Disposals
Redemptions
Fair value net gains
– recognised in income statement
(including discontinued operations)
– recognised in equity
At 30 June 2010
Additions
Interest accrued at effective yield
Disposals
Redemptions
Fair value net gains
– recognised in income statement
(including discontinued operations)
– recognised in equity
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently
unbundled
At 30 June 2011

5.

Total
R million

77,3
–
5,2
–
(6,8)

–
–
(75,7)
–

1 098,8
298,6
–
(80,0)
(50,0)

–
12,6
(1 280,0)
–

4 112,2
1 904,4
–
(1 397,0)
–

423,3
–
(5 024,4)

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

Held-tomaturity
R million

Fair value
through
profit
or loss
R million

5 288,3
2 203,0
5,2
(1 477,0)
(56,8)

423,3
12,6
(6 380,1)

18,5

18,5

2011
R million

2010
R million

–
–
–

178,1
10,8
72,0

Other receivables:
– accrued investment income
– income tax receivable
– other receivables

–
1,0
14,3

18,5
5,8
48,1

Loans and receivables including insurance receivable

15,3

333,3

loans and receivables including insurance receivables
Receivables arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts:
– due from policyholders
– due from intermediaries
– due from reinsurers

Loans and receivables are considered to be current assets.
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6.

2011
R million

2010
R million

Gross insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
– unearned premiums
– unexpired risk provision
– insurance contracts cash bonuses

–
–
–
–
–

512,2
265,9
1 396,7
1 067,6
713,6

Long-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported

–
–

0,2
228,2

Gross insurance liabilities

–

4 184,4

Recoverable from reinsurers
Short-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
– unearned premiums

–
–
–

(48,6)
(17,6)
(85,4)

Recoverable from reinsurers

–

(151,6)

–
–
–
–
–

463,6
248,3
1 311,3
1 067,6
713,6

–
–

0,2
228,2

–

4 032,8

Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts

Net insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
– unearned premiums
– unexpired risk provision
– insurance contracts cash bonuses
Long-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
Net insurance liabilities
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6.1

Net
R million

384,8
2 947,7
(72,2)
(2 546,3)
(201,4)
(1,7)
1,5

(36,5)
(326,6)
9,0
280,7
24,5
0,3
–

348,3
2 621,1
(63,2)
(2 265,6)
(176,9)
(1,4)
1,5

512,4

(48,6)

463,8

Insurance contracts and reinsurance
contracts continued
Analysis of movement in net claims reported provision
At the beginning of 2010
Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year claims estimates
Current year claims paid
Previous year claims paid
Foreign exchange difference
Cell captive outstanding claims adjusted
At 30 June 2010
Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year claims estimates
Current year claims paid
Previous year claims paid
Foreign exchange difference
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
At 30 June 2011

6.2

Re-insurance
R million

1 994,3
17,3
(1 560,2)
(282,0)
4,6
(686,4)

(109,3)
0,9
26,9
19,8
2,2
108,1

1 885,0
18,2
(1 533,3)
(262,2)
6,8
(578,3)

–

–

–

At the beginning of 2010
Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year estimates
Foreign exchange difference
Previous year claims paid

551,8
(59,1)
72,2
(0,2)
(70,6)

(30,9)
11,6
–
–
1,7

520,9
(47,5)
72,2
(0,2)
(68,9)

At 30 June 2010

494,1

(17,6)

476,5

(140,9)
(4,7)
0,1
(21,4)
(327,2)

(4,7)
–
–
–
22,3

(145,6)
(4,7)
0,1
(21,4)
(304,9)

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.

Gross
R million

Analysis of movement in net claims incurred but
not reported provision

Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year estimates
Foreign exchange difference
Previous year claims paid
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
At 30 June 2011

–

–

–
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6.
6.3

Gross
R million

Re-insurance
R million

Net
R million

At the beginning of 2010
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Foreign exchange difference

1 241,6
157,4
(2,3)

(44,4)
(41,0)
–

1 197,2
116,4
(2,3)

At 30 June 2010

1 396,7

(85,4)

1 311,3

80,8
10,5
(1 488,0)

(23,0)
–
108,4

57,8
10,5
(1 379,6)

Insurance contracts and reinsurance
contracts continued
Analysis of movement in unearned premium provision

Charge to profit and loss for the year
Foreign exchange difference
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 30 June 2011

6.4

–

–

2011
R million

2010
R million

Analysis of change in unexpired risk provision
Opening balance
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
At 30 June

6.5

–

1 067,6
127,3
(1 194,9)

942,9
124,7
–

–

1 067,6

713,6
(148,7)
238,3
(803,2)

583,3
(194,4)
324,7
–

Analysis of movement in insurance contracts cash bonuses
Opening balance
Cash bonuses paid during the year
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
At 30 June

–

713,6

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
The group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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2010
R million

Deferred taxation assets
Provisions
Secondary tax on companies
Unrealised investment gains and losses
Tax loss
Operating lease charge
Service cost of employee benefits

–
9,7
–
–
–
–

210,4
7,7
0,2
44,0
0,8
1,3

Deferred taxation assets

9,7

264,4

Deferred taxation liabilities
Prepayments
Finance lease of building
Imputation of controlled foreign company

–
–
–

(1,5)
(2,5)
(19,1)

Deferred taxation liabilities

–

(23,1)

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes relates to the same fiscal authority. The amounts are as follows:

Reconciliation of movement
Deferred taxation asset at the beginning of the year
Reversal of deferred tax asset of subsidiary
Deferred tax credit for the year – includes discontinued operations
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Deferred taxation asset at 30 June
Deferred taxation liability at the beginning of the year
Deferred tax (charge)/release for the year – includes discontinued operations
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Deferred taxation liability at 30 June

264,4
–
27,8
(282,5)

226,5
(3,3)
41,2
–

9,7

264,4

(23,1)
(11,1)
34,2

(20,6)
(2,5)
–

–

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7.

2011
R million

(23,1)

Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward only to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefit is probable.
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8.

2011
R million

2010
R million

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits
Money market investments
Advances made under resale agreement

15,1
–
–
–

752,4
692,9
1 195,5
108,4

Cash and cash equivalents

15,1

2 749,2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts, call deposits and short-term fixed deposits with large banks in South
Africa (2010: South Africa, Ireland and Mauritius), or listed South African government bonds acquired by the group under
resale agreements. The short-term deposits with banks were spread among these banks to reduce the credit risk exposure.

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Advances made under resale agreements were collateralised by listed bond investments, which are South African
Government issued interest securities held under short duration resale agreements. At 30 June 2010, the group held a
nominal of R94,9 million R204 bonds at an effective yield of 8,7%. During the previous year the average yield earned on
bonds under resale agreements amounted to 6,85%.

9.

Number of
shares
Million

Ordinary
shares
R million

Share
premium
R million

Treasury
shares
R million

Total
R million

At 1 July 2009
Movement in treasury shares

1 209,1
–

12,1
–

5 315,8
–

(137,2)
(64,7)

5 190,7
(64,7)

At 30 June 2010

1 209,1

12,1

5 315,8

(201,9)

5 126,0

72,5
130,1
–
–
–

0,7
1,3
–
–
–

2 515,3
4 225,1
(7,1)
(3 238,1)
–

–
–
–
–
126,4

2 516,0
4 226,4
(7,1)
(3 238,1)
126,5

1 411,7

14,1

8 811,0

(75,5)

8 749,6

Share capital
and premium

Shares issued for cash
Shares issued in exchange for scrip
Share issue expenses
Dividend-in-specie
Movement in treasury shares
At 30 June 2011

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 000 000 000 (2009: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per
share (2009: one cent). During the year 202 591 762 ordinary shares were issued, with a par value of one cents per share,
at a premium of R33,27 per share (2009: Nil). 15% of the unissued share capital is under the control of the board of
directors until the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2010: 100 000 000), with a par
value of one cent per share (2010: one cent). During the year nil preference shares were issued (2010: Nil). As these
preference shares are redeemable they as classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (note 12). The preference shares
are unlisted.
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9.

2011
Million

2010
Million

Number of shares held at 30 June

3,2

9,1

Weighted number shares held through the year

1,8

10,0

2011
R million

2010
R million

Cost of shares held at 30 June
Fair value adjustment

75,5
0,4

201,9
67,9

Fair value of treasury shares

75,9

269,8

Share capital and premium continued
Treasury shares

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The life insurance businesses of a previously held associate and subsidiary acquired
RMBH shares as part of their investment programme aimed at meeting policyholders’
liabilities. The investment banking business of an associate traded RMBH shares as
part of its proprietary trading activities. These shares are treated as treasury shares
and any gains or losses are reversed from group earnings.

The treasury shares are eliminated from the weighted number of shares in issue
for the purposes of calculating earnings and headline earnings per shares:
Weighted number of issued shares (million)
Less: weighted number of treasury shares (million)

1 280,8
(8,4)

1 209,1
(10,0)

Weighted number of shares in issue (million)

1 272,4

1 199,1

2 624,0

2 497,2

11 988,0

14 614,2

10. Reserves
Distributable reserves
Retained earnings
Non-distributable reserves – Equity accounted reserves
Non-distributable reserves – Other
Contingency reserve of subsidiary
Retained income transferred due to dilutionary effect of share issue
by subsidiary
Currency translation reserve
Available-for-sale reserve
Share-based payments reserves
Capital surpluses on disposals and restructuring of strategic investments

–

260,9

–
–
–
6,0
333,4

(31,0)
18,5
4,0
24,4
333,4

Non-distributable reserves – Other

339,4

610,2

14 951,4

17 721,6

–

15,0

Reserves

11. Convertible debentures
Convertible debentures in issue

The debentures were transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled. The debentures were unsecured
and subordinated and could be converted at the option of the debenture holders to non-redeemable preference
shares on 30 June or 31 December of any year and are compulsorily convertible to non-redeemable preference shares
of R1 each on 30 June 2022.

2011 annual integrated report

75

notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

2011
Million

2010
Million

780,0
448,1
–

780,0
448,1
137,7

1 228,1

1 365,8

780,0

780,0

Variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by company
At beginning of year
Dividends capitalised

448,1
–

441,2
6,9

Balance at 30 June

448,1

448,1

137,7
–
(62,2)
(75,5)

131,1
6,6
–
–

12. Preference shares
Fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by company
Variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by company
Cumulative redeemable preference shares issue by subsidiary
Preference shares
Fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by company

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The company issued 7 800 fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, with
a par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share on 3 January 2008.
The shares are redeemable at the discretion of the company at any time and
compulsorily redeemable on 27 November 2012. The preference shares pay dividends
at a fixed rate of 8,55% six monthly. The preference shares are unlisted.

The company issued 4 000 variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares,
with a par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share on 3 January
2008. The shares are redeemable at the discretion of the company at any time and
compulsorily redeemable on 27 November 2012. Preference shares of R270 million
accrue dividends at rate of 63,5% of the prime interest rate, which were capitalised
up to 30 October 2009. The company elected to pay dividends going forward. The
remaining preference shares of R130 million pay dividends at a rate of 63,5% of the
prime interest rate six monthly. The preference shares are unlisted.
Cumulative redeemable preference shares issue by a previously held subsidiary
At beginning of year
Nil (2010: 3) Preference shares issued
120 (2010: Nil) Preference shares redeemed
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Balance at 30 June

–

137,7

A previously held subsidiary had 100 000 authorised variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares of 1 cent each
and had issued 2 046 (2010: 2 166) of these preference shares. During the year nil (2010: 3) variable rate cumulative
redeemable preference share were issued and 120 (2010: Nil) variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares were
redeemed.
The variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares are redeemable at the discretion of the directors of the
previously held subsidiary company
The holders of variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares have no voting rights at any meeting of the previously
held subsidiary company, unless dividends payable on these shares are in arrears, the redemption payment of any capital
is in arrears, or if a resolution is passed which affects the rights attached to the preference shares, or where the subsidiary
company proposes to dispose of a material portion of its assets.
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2011
Million

2010
Million

–

15,1

–

122,6

Interest bearing loans consist of:
Hire purchase agreements on motor vehicles
Finance lease
Secured bank borrowing originated by the group
Funding raised by the company

–
–
–
131,7

0,9
42,8
306,2
–

Total interest bearing loans

131,7

349,9

Hire purchase agreements on motor vehicles
A previously held subsidiary entered into hire purchase agreements to purchase motor
vehicles. The hire purchase agreements were secured over certain of the motor
vehicles with a book value of R1,6 million as at 30 June 2010. The borrowings were
repayable in monthly instalments and attracted interest at the bank’s prime overdraft
rate less 1,25% per annum.
Hire purchase agreements on motor vehicles
Less: amounts due within one year

–
–

1,5
(0,6)

Total hire purchase agreements

–

0,9

12. Preference shares continued

Issued to investors to meet group’s capital requirements:
Redeemable preference shares of R10 million accrued dividends at an average rate,
which varies between 58% and 62,5% of the prime interest rate. The remaining
redeemable preference shares of R5 million accrued dividends at a fixed rate of 10%.
Redeemable preference shares are issued to certain policyholders to meet the capital
requirements of their cells
Some redeemable preference shares accrued dividends equal to an amount of
dividends received from an investment in redeemable preference shares equal to
the amount in issue, included in the 2010 amount disclosed in available-for-sale
financial assets note 4. The group did not incur any costs with regard to these
redeemable preference shares

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares were issued
to investors to meet the short-term insurance subsidiaries’ statutory solvency
requirements:

Redeemable preference shares issued to policyholders may also entitle the
policyholder to participate in the operating result of its business cell, distributed
as a dividend.

13. Interest bearing loans

Reconciliation of borrowings – hire purchase agreements
Opening balance
Borrowings repaid during the year
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Balance at 30 June

1,5
(1,3)
(0,2)
–

2,3
(0,8)
–
1,5
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2011
Million

2010
Million

–
–

50,4
(7,6)

–

42,8

13. Interest bearing loans continued
Finance lease
The finance lease was secured by land and buildings with a book value of
R63,2 million as at 30 June 2010. A previously held subsidiary of the company
entered into a ten year lease on 1 February 2004. Another subsidiary company had
an option to purchase the land and buildings at the end of the ten year lease and as
a result of this the rental lease was treated as a finance lease in the books of the
group. The lease was payable monthly in advance and expires on 31 January 2014.
The liability represented the present value of the discounted expected future lease
cash flows at an average market value of 12,42% per annum.
Finance lease
Less: amounts due within one year
Total finance lease

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation of borrowings – finance leased building
Opening balance
Borrowings repaid during the year
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Balance at 30 June

50,4
(4,7)
(45,7)
–

56,3
(5,9)
–
50,4

Secured bank borrowing originated by the group
A previously held subsidiary company obtained a credit facility of R400 million from
FirstRand Bank Limited subject to a surety from RMBH of R400 million. During the
year interest accrued at an average rate of 9,53% per annum. The borrowing is
refinanced on a regular basis.
The closing carrying amount at 30 June is analysed as follows:
Cost
Borrowings raised
Repayments
Interest accrued on the effective yield
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Balance at 30 June
Funding raised by the company
The company financed its obligations by means of a loan obtained from FirstRand
Bank Limited. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate linked to the prime
interest rate.

306,2
65,4
–
18,9
(390,5)

287,9
–
(18,9)
37,2
–

–

306,2

131,7

–

14. Policyholders’ interest
Reconciliation of carrying value
Liability/(asset) balance at the beginning of the year
Transfer from/(to) contingency provision
Transfer from profit and loss
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled
Balance at 30 June – asset

93,1
9,2
129,4
(231,7)
–

(11,2)
(4,9)
109,2
–
93,1

An analysis of revenue is made between retained earnings attributable to shareholders and policyholders. The
policyholders’ interest represents the accumulated profit or loss after tax and dividends attributable to policyholders.
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2011
Million

2010
Million

15. Policyholders’ contingency provision
Reconciliation of carrying value
Balance at the beginning of the year
Transfer (to)/from policyholders’ interest
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled

12,1
(9,2)
(2,9)

Balance at 30 June

–

7,2
4,9
–
12,1

A provision is made in respect of certain of the group’s short-term insurance
operations in South Africa as required by the regulatory authorities. This provision is
held for policyholders and transfers to/from this provision are reflected in the
policyholders’ interest account. The contingency provision is not distributable to
shareholders.

16. Investment contracts
942,2
5,4
(3,4)
119,8
(1 064,0)

Balance at 30 June

810,0
3,3
(1,0)
129,9
–

–

942,2

5,3
3,7

1,7
2,4

6,0
7,0

2,4
1,7

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation of carrying value
Balance at the beginning of the year
Premium received
Fees deducted from account balances
Fair value movement credited to profit and loss
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled

Investment contracts were designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. The liabilities originated from unit-linked contracts are measured in
reference to their respective underlying assets of these contracts. Changes in the
credit risk of the entity does not impact the measurement of the unit-linked liabilities.

17. Share trusts (Remuneration schemes)
RMBH does not operate an equity settled share incentive scheme in its own right.
RMBH does operate a phantom share scheme as part of its remuneration philosophy,
which tracks the company’s share price and settles in cash. The executive director was
a member of the FirstRand executive committee. He is a participant in the FirstRand
Share Incentive Schemes, details of which are set out on page 31. Details of the
RMBH phantom scheme are as follows:
Income statement charge:
Share appreciation right scheme
Forfeitable share plan
Balance sheet effect:
Share-based payment reserves
Long-term liability

Description of the scheme
RMBH share appreciation right scheme
The purpose of this scheme is to provide identified employees, including executive directors, with the opportunity of
receiving incentive remuneration payments based on the increase in the market value of ordinary shares in RMB Holdings
Limited.
Entitlement to incentive remuneration payments is predicated on the achievement of real growth in normalised earnings.
Appreciation rights may only be exercised by the third anniversary of the grant date, provided that the performance
objectives set for the grant have been achieved.
During the year ended 30 June 2011 the strike price of the appreciation rights was adjusted to ensure that the fair value
of the employee’s awards before and after the unbundling of RMI Holdings were the same. The modification was neither
beneficial nor detrimental to the employees.
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17. Share trusts (Remuneration schemes) continued
Forfeitable share plan
The forfeitable share plan is a remuneration scheme that grants selected employees full free shares which will vest over a
period of two years.
Selected employees are awarded shares which are acquired in the open market and which are forfeited if the employee
leaves the employment of the group before the end of the vesting period of not less than two years. During the vesting
period the shares are held in trust for the employees and all dividends accrue to the employees for the duration of the
vesting period.
Valuation methodology
RMBH share appreciation right scheme
The share appreciation right scheme is valued using the Black Scholes model. The scheme is cash settled and will thus be
repriced at each reporting date.

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Market data consists of the following:
• Volatility is the expected volatility over the period of the option. Historic volatility was used as a proxy for expected
valuation.
• The interest rate is the risk free rate of return, as recorded on the last day of the financial year, on a swap curve of a
term equal to the expected life of the share appreciation right.
Dividend data consists of the following:
• A fixed dividend yield was assumed.
Employee statistic assumptions:
• No forfeiture rate is used due to the number of employees participating in the scheme.
Forfeitable share plan
The forfeitable share plan is valued using the Black Scholes model. The scheme is equity settled and will thus not be repriced
at each reporting date.
Market and dividend data consists of the following:
• Volatility is the expected volatility over the period of the plan, and historical volatility was used as a proxy for expected
volatility.
• The interest rate is the risk free rate of return as recorded on the last day of the financial year, on a swap curve of a term
equal to the expected life of the plan.
• A fixed dividend yield was assumed, based on the average historic dividend yield over a similar period.
Employee statistic assumptions:
• No forfeiture rate is use due to the short duration of the scheme.
The significant weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options and share awards granted and the
IFRS 2 expenses for the year under review are:
RMBH Share
Appreciation
Right scheme**
Weighted average strike price (Rands)
Expected volatility (%)
Expected option life (years)
Expected risk free rate (%)
Expected dividend yield (%)

7,75 – 13,32
36 – 40
3
6,24 – 6,83
3,4 – 4,2

** The strike price of the share appreciation rights scheme has been adjusted for the RMI Holdings unbundling.

Information on number of share granted, strike price and vesting dates are provided on page 31.
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Forfeitable
share plan
–
44 – 48
2
6,72 – 7,08
4,6 – 5,7

2011
R million

2010
R million

18. Provisions
Staff incentive bonus
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provisions
Unutilised provisions reversed
Utilised during the year
Transferred to non-current assets and subsequently unbundled

21,9
35,7
–
(40,2)
(12,4)

19,7
17,9
(0,3)
(15,4)
–

5,0

21,9

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Unclaimed dividends
Redeemable preference share dividends payable
Profit participation payable
Due to reinsurers
Due to intermediaries

18,5
15,2
14,9
–
–
–

259,6
13,5
24,6
53,1
103,6
14,1

Trade and other payables

48,6

468,5

Fair value assets
– dividend income
Cash and cash equivalents interest income
Loans and receivables interest income
Other investment income

7,6
2,0
–
–

0,4
10,2
1,0
5,8

Total investment income

9,6

17,4

Fair value gains – designated upon initial recognition
Fair value losses – designated upon initial recognition

0,2
–

24,8
(7,9)

Net fair value gains/(losses) before foreign currency loss
Foreign currency loss

0,2
–

16,9
(25,6)

Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets

0,2

(8,7)

Net fair value gains and losses comprise:
Equity securities

0,2

16,9

0,2
–

–
16,9

0,2

16,9

Provisions
All amounts are expected to be settled in 12 months.

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. Trade and other payables

20. Investment income

21. Net fair value gainS/(losses) on financial assets

Unrealised mark to market
Realised mark to market
Net fair value gains/(losses) before foreign currency loss
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2011
R million

2010
R million

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. Marketing and administration expenses
Expenses by nature:
Depreciation
Professional fees and regulatory compliance cost
Insurance
Operating lease rentals
Audit fees
Other expenses

(0,9)
(14,2)
(0,3)
(1,1)
(1,1)
(32,4)

(0,2)
(2,6)
(0,4)
(0,8)
(0,7)
(17,3)

Total marketing and administration expenses

(50,0)

(22,0)

Depreciation (includes discontinued operations):
Buildings
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles

(2,2)
(39,8)
(0,1)
(0,6)

(2,9)
(49,4)
(0,1)
(0,7)

Total depreciation

(42,7)

(53,1)

Audit fees (includes discontinued operations):
Statutory audit – current year
Other services

(0,8)
(0,3)

(0,7)
–

Total audit fees

(1,1)

(0,7)

The group’s operating lease commitments are as follows (includes discontinued
operations):
Up to 1 year
Between 1 to 5 years

(0,8)
(0,6)

(0,8)
(1,4)

Total operating lease commitments

(1,4)

(2,2)

Interest expense
Interest paid on bank borrowings
Dividends on redeemable preference shares

(4,5)
(93,1)

(4,1)
(96,1)

Total finance cost

(97,6)

(100,2)

(1,6)

(4,5)

–
2,6

1,1
4,5

1,0

1,1

4 120,1

2 430,0

23. Finance costs

24. Taxation
SA normal taxation
Current tax
Current year
Deferred tax
Current year
Secondary tax on companies
Total taxation
The tax on the group’s profits before taxation differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of South Africa as follows:
Profit before taxation
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28%
Net income and expenses not subject to tax
Recognition of deferred tax
Effective tax charge
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%
28,00
(27,96)
(0,06)

%
28,00
(27,82)
(0,23)

(0,02)

(0,05)

2011
R million

2010
R million

25. Headline earnings per share

Headline earnings reconciliation
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Loss/(profit) on dilution of shareholding
Profit on unbundling of discontinued operations
Negative goodwill on acquisition of associate
Adjustments made by associates:
Realised profit on sale of available-for-sale assets
Profit on sale of shares in subsidiary and associates
Loss on sale of property and equipment
Impairment of goodwill
Write off of software from business combination
Gain on disposal of joint venture
Loss on disposal of investment securities
Impairment of intangible asset
Gain from bargain purchase
Impairment of assets in terms of IAS 36
Loss due to fair value adjustment of non-current assets held for sale
Other
Tax effect of adjustments
Total non-controlling interests on adjustments

11 467,7
11,6
(4 982,8)
(1 369,7)

3 606,5
(1,9)
–
–

(159,6)
(1 210,5)
3,1
28,9
18,1
(178,1)
17,7
(1,1)
–
5,4
–
2,7
6,1
86,6

(69,6)
(37,1)
0,6
49,4
–
–
–
3,9
(65,5)
56,5
32,3
1,3
17,1
0,9

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

3 746,1

3 594,4

Headline earnings from:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

2 966,3
779,8

2 432,0
1 162,4

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

3 746,1

3 594,4

1 272 391 942
294,4

1 199 086 293
299,8

231,7
62,7

201,2
98,6

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Dilution on earnings from associates

3 746,1
(53,2)

3 594,4
(32,8)

Diluted headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

3 692,9

3 561,6

1 272 391 942
290,2

1 199 086 293
297,0

227,5
62,7

199,1
97,9

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Headline earnings per share (cents) – basic
From continuing operations (cents)
From discontinued operations (cents)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Headline earnings per share (cents) – diluted
From continuing operations (cents)
From discontinued operations (cents)
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Headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing the adjusted earnings
attributable to shareholders by the weighted number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.
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2011
R million

2010
R million

11 467,7

3 606,5

4 121,1
7 346,6

2 431,1
1 175,2

1 272 391 942
901,3

1 199 086 293
300,8

321,9
579,4

201,6
99,2

26. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to
shareholders by the weighted number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share (cents) – basic

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

From continuing operations (cents)
From discontinued operations (cents)
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Dilution on earnings from associates

11 467,7
(74,7)

3 606,5
(32,9)

Diluted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

11 393,0

3 573,6

1 272 391 942
895,4

1 199 086 293
298,0

316,1
579,3

200,7
97,3

1 448,7
1 425,8
1 411 703 218
101,0

1 197,0
1 499,3
1 209 111 456
124,0

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share (cents) – diluted
From continuing operations (cents)
From discontinued operations (cents)

27. Dividend per share
Total dividends paid during the year
Total dividends declared for the year
Number of ordinary shares in issue
Dividends declared per share (cents) (excluding special dividend)

28. Related parties
Principal shareholders
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. The principal shareholders are Remgro Limited, Royal
Bafokeng Holdings (Pty) Limited, Mr Dippenaar and Mr Ferreira.
Key management personnel
Only RMBH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in
the company appears in the directors’ report.
Subsidiaries
Details of income from and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 33.
Associates
Details of income from and investments in associates are disclosed in note 32.
Other
RMBH had invested in preference shares issued by New Seasons Financial Services (Pty) Limited (“NSFS”). NSFS is a
shareholder of RMB Structured Insurance Limited.
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2011
R million

2010
R million

628,0

468,3

6,3
1,5

7,2
1,5

1 451,7
157,2
–
178,4
3,8
27,6
12,5
26,2
12,7
–
5,5
12,2
52,8
42,9
94,4
28,1

1 046,8
186,9
(13,3)
181,0
45,1
28,3
–
154,4
177,5
10,8
6,4
14,1
0,9
34,6
95,6
59,6

–
–
–
15,1
–

65,9
185,2
21,5
2 198,6
1 766,1

Related party transactions
Transactions of RMBH and its subsidiary companies with:
Principal shareholders
Dividends paid
Key management personnel
Salaries and other benefits
Directors fees
Associates
Income statement effect (including discontinued operations):
Dividends received
Dividends paid
Gross change in unearned premium
Investment income
Preference shares dividends received
Net fair value gains on assets at fair value through income
Administration fee income
Insurance benefits and claims incurred
Acquisition expenses
Bank charges
Asset managers administration fees
Operating lease rentals
Retirement fund contributions
Medical aid premiums paid
Preference shares dividends paid
Finance costs
Balance sheet effect:
Financial assets – available-for-sale
Financial assets – at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Insurance contracts
Interest bearing loans
Balance 1 July
Relating to discontinued operations
Net borrowings repaid
Capitalised interest
Balance at 30 June
Convertible debentures
Preference shares
Trade and other payable
Other
Income statement effect
Investment income
Balance sheet effect:
Financial assets – available-for-sale
Loans and receivables

301,9
(301,9)
131,7
–

400,9
–
(103,0)
4,0

131,7

301,9

–
1 228,1
14,9

15,0
1 504,2
16,3

3,6

2,3

–
–

12,7
2,3
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2011
R million

2010
R million

28. Related parties continued

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions of RMBH’s key management with associates of
the group
Loans in normal course of business (mortgages, other loans, instalment finance
and credit cards)
Balance 1 July
Granted during year
Repayments during year
Interest paid

15,7
242,5
(205,2)
24,4

(0,1)
185,4
(170,4)
0,8

Balance at 30 June

77,4

15,7

Cheque and current accounts
Balance 1 July
Net withdrawals
Net interest, fees and bank charges

(5,3)
(2,9)
1,1

4,6
(5,8)
(4,1)

Balance at 30 June

(7,1)

(5,3)

Savings accounts
Balance 1 July
Net (withdrawals)/deposits
Interest income

176,8
(10,7)
4,6

74,0
95,0
7,8

Balance at 30 June

170,7

176,8

Investment products
Balance 1 July
Net deposits
Net investment return credited
Commission and other transaction fees

650,2
127,7
81,8
(16,7)

490,3
67,7
98,0
(5,8)

Balance at 30 June

843,0

650,2

2,9

4,6

Other fees
Financial consulting fees and commissions

29. Retirement benefits
Group companies are participants in a defined contribution pension fund and a defined contribution provident fund.
To the extent that respective companies are responsible for contributions to these funds, such contributions are charged
against profit and loss as incurred. The funds are registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1956.

30. Contingent liabilities
The following contingencies and guarantees exist at 30 June 2011:
• A guarantee provided in respect of funding facilities for a previously held subsidiary for an amount not exceeding
R400 million.

31. Post reporting date event
Final dividend declaration
The final dividend declaration is dealt with in the directors’ report.
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FirstRand Limited
2011
R million

2010
R million

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

32. Associates

Country of incorporation
Number of shares held (’000)
Interest held (%) (after consolidation of share trust)
Carrying value of investment in associates
Total share of post-acquisition increase in reserves of associates

Republic of South Africa
1 910 433
35,06
25 060,7
16 921,4

1 694 844
32,32
19 130,1
15 023,3

Income attributable to RMBH for the year
Less: Dividends received

4 386,7
(1 398,4)

2 867,9
(949,1)

Share of retained income for the year

2 988,3

1 918,8

37 922,1

30 608,9

Market value
Balance sheet
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivative financial instruments
Advances
Investment securities and other investments
Commodities
Accounts receivable
Investment in associates and joint ventures companies
Property and equipment
Deferred taxation
Post-retirement benefit asset
Intangible assets and deferred acquisition costs
Investment properties
Policy loans on insurance contracts
Reinsurance assets
Tax asset
Non-current assets held for sale
Total assets

34
37
464
124
4
7
6
10

240,0
206,0
593,0
756,0
388,0
289,0
029,0
542,0
560,0
2,0
1 691,0
203,0
–
484,0
139,0
5 805,0

27
39
434
117
2
5
6
10

697 927,0

845 240,0

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Listed associates
Financial year
Year used for equity accounting

067,0
764,0
793,0
171,0
365,0
743,0
901,0
018,0
443,0
–
2 104,0
138,0
27,0
524,0
935,0
197 247,0
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FirstRand Limited
2011
R million

2010
R million

32. Associates continued

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Deposits
Short trading positions
Derivative financial instruments
Creditors and accruals
Provisions
Tax liability
Post-retirement funding liability
Deferred taxation
Long-term liabilities
Policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts
Policyholders’ liabilities under investment contracts
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Income statement
Net profit for the year
Contingencies and commitments

553
12
36
9
3
2
2
6
1
5
61
3

657,0
413,0
361,0
930,0
621,0
288,0
292,0
223,0
690,0
047,0
94,0
092,0
150,0
069,0

512
16
36
12
3
2
2
9
1
189
55
3

469,0
735,0
035,0
115,0
359,0
157,0
162,0
132,0
183,0
868,0
101,0
961,0
951,0
012,0

697 927,0

845 240,0

21 527,0

10 674,0

112 067,0

94 305,0

Discovery Holdings Limited

Listed associates
Financial year
Year used for equity accounting
Country of incorporation

2010
R million

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

Republic of South Africa

Number of shares held (’000)
Interest held (%) (after consolidation of share trust)
Carrying value of investment in associates
Total share of post-acquisition increase in reserves of associates
Income attributable to RMBH for the year (discontinued operation)
Less: Dividends received

–
–
–
–
469,4
(53,3)

Share of retained income for the year

416,1

359,7

Market value

–

5 189,1

Balance sheet
Total assets

–

20 994,0

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Total liabilities
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders

–
–

12 612,0
8 382,0

–

20 994,0

Income statement
Net profit for the year

–

1 715,0

Contingencies and commitments

–

759,0

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities
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148 048
26,73
3 232,0
739,3
457,4
(97,7)

RMB Structured Insurance
Limited**

OUTsurance Limited*
2011
R million

2010
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

33. Subsidiaries

Country of incorporation

Republic of South Africa

Republic of South Africa

Number of shares held (’000)
Interest held (%) (after consolidation of share trust)

–
–

1 584 225
61,71

–
–

200 000
79,57

Equity shares at cost
Preference shares at cost
Subsidiaries (eliminated on consolidation)
Net profit for the year
Directors’ valuation of RMBH’s investment

–
–

90,0
271,0

–
–

25,5
–

–
–

615,2
3 485,3

–
–

12,8
184,9

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unlisted subsidiaries
Financial year
Year used for consolidation

* Indirectly held through FirstRand STI Holdings Limited.
** Indirectly held through RMBSI Investments (Pty) Limited.

Other**

RMBH
group

FirstRand*

Discovery

OUTsurance

RMBSI

Year ended 30 June 2011
Share of associates
Operating profit
Finance costs

4 255,0
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
(37,3)
(97,6)

4 255,0
(37,3)
(97,6)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

4 255,0
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(134,9)
1,0

4 120,1
1,0

4 255,0

–

–

–

(133,9)

4 121,1

191,3

465,3

521,0

27,7

6 353,1

7 558,4

4 446,3

465,3

521,0

27,7

6 219,2

11 679,5

Assets
Associates

–
25 060,7

–
–

–
–

–
–

60,7
–

60,7
25 060,7

Total assets

25 060,7

–

–

–

60,7

25 121,4

–

–

–

–

1 420,2

1 420,2

R million

34. Segment report
The segmental analysis is
based on the management
accounts prepared for the
group:

Profit for the year from
continuing operations
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations
Profit for the year

Total liabilities

* FirstRand includes the results of MMI and Momentum.
** Other includes RMBH company, Phed Investments, consolidation of treasury shares and consolidation entries.
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FirstRand*

Discovery

OUTsurance

RMBSI

Other**

RMBH
group

Year ended 30 June 2010
Share of associates
Operating profit
Finance costs

2 576,3
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

(32,8)
(13,3)
(100,2)

2 543,5
(13,3)
(100,2)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

2 576,3
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(146,3)
1,1

2 430,0
1,1

2 576,3

–

–

–

(145,2)

2 431,1

384,6

458,8

615,2

12,8

(57,6)

1 413,8

2 960,9

458,8

615,2

12,8

(202,8)

3 844,9

Assets
Associates
Goodwill

–
19 130,1
–

–
3 232,0
–

4 696,2
9,3
–

4 196,3
–
–

139,6
–
3,3

9 032,1
22 371,4
3,3

Total assets

19 130,1

3 232,0

4 705,5

4 196,3

142,9

31 406,8

–

–

2 398,1

3 954,2

1 171,3

7 523,6

R million

34. Segment report
continued

Profit for the year from
continuing operations
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Profit for the year

Total liabilities

* FirstRand includes the results of MMI and Momentum.
** Other includes RMBH company, Phed Investments, consolidation of treasury shares and consolidation entries.

Geographical Segments
RMBH does not have any geographic segments as FirstRand is viewed as a South African entity. Further details are available
in the FirstRand annual report.

35. Financial instruments measured at fair value
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by level of fair value hierarchy. The different levels are
based on the extent that quoted prices are used in the calculation of the fair value of the financial instruments. These levels
are defined as follows:
• Level 1 – fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments as measured
on reporting date.
• Level 2 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable market inputs. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates.
• Level 3 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques which use significant unobservable inputs. RMBH does
not have any financial instruments qualifying as level 3.
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Level 1
R million

Level 2
R million

Total
carrying
amount
R million

30 June 2011
Financial assets
Equity securities:
– at fair value through profit or loss

18,5

–

18,5

Financial assets recognised at fair value

18,5

–

18,5

30 June 2010
Financial assets
Equity securities:
– available-for-sale
– at fair value through profit or loss
Debt securities:
– available-for-sale
– at fair value through profit or loss

473,3
1 613,1

141,0
1 049,2

614,3
2 662,3

–
–

484,5
1 449,9

484,5
1 449,9

Financial assets recognised at fair value

2 086,4

3 124,6

5 211,0

Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
Investment contracts

–
560,5

15,0
381,7

15,0
942,2

Financial liabilities recognised at fair value

560,5

396,7

957,2

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. Financial instruments measured
at fair value continued

No transfers between levels occurred during the year ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010.

36. Effective interest in associate
The effective interest held by RMBH in its associate shows variations between years as a result of the consolidation of:
• treasury shares held; and
• shares held in its share incentive trusts.
The effective interest held as at 30 June 2011 can be compared to the actual interest held by RMBH in the statutory share
capital of the company as follows:

FirstRand

Effective
%

Actual
%

35,1

33,9
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37.	Non-current assets held for sale and subsequently unbundled
RMBH implemented a far reaching re-organisation on 7 March 2011. This included, inter alia the separation of RMBH’s
insurance and banking interests, through the transfer of RMBH’s insurance interests to a wholly-owned subsidiary, RMI
Holdings; and the unbundling of RMI Holdings to RMBH’s ordinary shareholders on a one-for-one basis and the separate
listing of RMI Holdings on the JSE as an insurance-focused investment entity.
The unbundling transaction resulted in RMBH classifying the RMI Holdings as a disposal group held for distribution in line
with the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The assets and liabilities
attributable to RMI Holdings were classified as held for distribution and separately disclosed in the statement of financial
position. In addition, RMI Holdings represents a discontinued operation as it is a component of RMBH that has been
classified as held for distribution and represents a separate major line of business. In line with the requirements of IFRS 5,
the income and expenses relating to RMI Holdings are presented in the consolidated income statement and statement of
other comprehensive income as a single amount relating to the after tax profit and other comprehensive income relating
to discontinued operations.
The dividend-in-specie was accounted for at fair value in line with the requirements of IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-Cash
Assets to Owners.

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The unbundling transaction was approved by RMBH shareholders on 18 February 2011 and effective date of the unbundling
transaction was 28 February 2011 for accounting purposes.
Profit attributable to discontinued operations
Income or expenses recognised in the income statement relating to the discontinued operations of RMI Holdings
(incorporating Discovery, MMI Holdings, OUTsurance and RMBSI):
For the
period
ended
28 February
2011
R million

June
2010
R million

658,9
–

785,0
–

Equity accounted earnings
Gross insurance premiums written
Less: reinsurance premiums

658,9
4 102,4
(213,4)

785,0
5 430,0
(339,0)

Net insurance premiums written
Change in provision for unearned premiums net of reinsurance

3 889,0
(57,8)

5 091,0
(116,4)

Net insurance premiums earned
Commission income
Fee income
Investment income
Net fair value gains on financial assets

3 831,2
–
64,5
236,0
423,8

4 974,6
58,9
85,4
346,1
303,4

4 555,5
(2 100,2)
80,9
(117,6)
(130,3)
(238,3)
(121,9)
(78,6)
(938,1)

5 768,4
(2 812,6)
118,0
(129,9)
(109,2)
(324,7)
(216,7)
–
(1 204,7)

Share of after-tax profits of associate companies
Profit on sale of associate company

Net income
Gross claims paid
Reinsurance recoveries received
Investment contract benefits
Transfer to policyholders’ interest
Provision for cash bonuses
Acquisition expenses
Fair value adjustment to financial liabilities
Marketing and administration expenses
Result of operating activities
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911,4

1 088,6

For the
period
ended
28 February
2011
R million

June
2010
R million

Profit before finance costs and taxation
Finance costs

1 570,3
(30,6)

1 873,6
(58,3)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

1 539,7
(333,8)

1 815,3
(401,5)

Profit attributable to discontinued operations

1 205,9

1 413,8

Profit after tax on unbundling of discontinued operations
Fair value of the RMI Holdings on the date of unbundling
Consolidated carrying value of the RMI Holdings on the date of unbundling
Profit on the unbundling of the RMI Holdings
Cash flow information:
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Total cash flow
Analysis of the assets and liabilities of unbundled operations:
Assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in associates
Equity and debt securities
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables
Deferred acquisition cost
Reinsurance contracts
Deferred taxation
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

16 904,4
(11 921,6)

–
–

4 982,8

–

593,0
(843,4)
79,5

1 824,6
(542,0)
(368,3)

170,9

914,3

169,9
40,5
7 741,1
6 398,0
527,4
46,4
238,7
282,6
5 046,9

162,0
43,4
3 252,6
5 184,8
327,9
37,5
151,6
257,4
2 618,7

20 491,5

12 035,9
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For the
period
ended
28 February
2011
R million

June
2010
R million

4 499,7

4 184,4

15,0
75,5
436,4
231,7
2,9

15,0
137,7
349,9
93,1
12,1

1 064,0

942,2

18,5
12,4
466,5
34,2
120,7
–

14,4
16,9
422,7
23,1
23,3
8,2

6 977,5

6 243,0

Net assets of disposal group

13 514,0

5 792,9

Portion of reserves attributable to FirstRand previously consolidated as part of:
OUTsurance
Adjustment to non-controlling interests

(285,3)
(1 307,1)

–
–

Consolidated carrying value of the RMI Holdings on the date of unbundling

11 921,6

–

37. Non-current assets held for sale and
subsequently unbundled continued

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Liabilities
Insurance contracts
Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Policyholders’ interest
Policyholders’ contingency provision
Investment contracts:
– at fair value through profit or loss
Deferred acquisition revenue
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Deferred taxation
Taxation
Short-term portion of financial liabilities
Total liabilities

2011
R million

38. Negative goodwill on acquisition of associate
MMI Holdings was received as dividend-in-specie in the current year. This amount reflects the
difference between the carrying value previously recognised as part of the FirstRand investment and
the amount recognised on acquisition which is attributable to the introduction of Metropolitan.

1 369,7

The negative goodwill on acquisition is disclosed under discontinued operations on the basis that MMI Holdings has been
unbundled as part of RMI Holdings.
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statement of FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June

ASSETS
Property and Equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Equity and debt securities
Loans and receivables
Deferred taxation
Cash and cash equivalents

Notes

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

2,1
–
11 778,9
18,5
15,3
9,7
15,1

3,0
626,2
11 107,3
112,7
5,5
7,1
130,5

11 839,6

11 992,3

8 777,8
1 641,6

5 327,9
5 384,0

10 419,4

10 711,9

1 228,1
131,7
7,0
5,0
48,4

1 228,1
–
1,7
5,0
45,6

1 420,2

1 280,4

11 839,6

11 992,3

Total assets
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders
Share capital and premium
Reserves

8
9

Statement of FINANCIAL POSITION

Total shareholders’ equity
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
– Preference shares
– Interest bearing loans
– Long term liabilities – share-based payment
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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10
10
11
12

income statement

Notes

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

Investment income
Other income

13
14

1 510,2
3,1

966,5
(0,3)

Net income
Marketing and administration expenses

15

1 513,3
(50,0)

966,2
(27,3)

Result of operating activities of the company
Finance costs

16

1 463,3
(97,6)

938,9
(100,2)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

17

1 365,7
1,0

838,7
–

Profit for the year from continuing operations

1 366,7

838,7

Profit from discontinued operations
Profit attributable to discontinued operations*
Profit after tax on unbundling of discontinued operations*

4 832,9
5 157,4

386,6
–

Profit for the year

11 357,0

1 225,3

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company

11 357,0

1 225,3

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

11 357,0
–

1 225,3
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

11 357,0

1 225,3

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company

11 357,0

1 225,3

Income STATEMENT / Statement of COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 30 June

* Refer to note 37 of the group annual financial statements.

statement of COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June
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statement of CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June

Share
capital
R million

Share
premium
R million

Nondistributable
reserves
R million

Retained
earnings
R million

Total
equity
R million

Balance at 1 July 2009
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends paid
Share option expense reserve – IFRS2

12,1
–
–
–

5 315,8
–
–
–

336,9
–
–
0,3

5 016,5
1 225,3
(1 197,0)
2,0

10 681,3
1 225,3
( 1 197,0)
2,3

Balance at 30 June 2010

12,1

5 315,8

337,2

5 046,8

10 711,9

2,0
–
–
–
–
–

6 733,3
–
–
(3 238,1)
(47,3)
–

14,1

8 763,7

COMPANY

Shares issued
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends paid
Dividends-in-specie paid
Treasury shares
Share option expense reserve – IFRS2

Statement of CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at 30 June 2011
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–
–
–
–
–
2,2
339,4

–
11 357,0
(1 448,7)
(13 654,2)
–
1,3
1 302,2

6
11
(1
(16

735,3
357,0
448,7)
892,3)
(47,3)
3,5

10 419,4

statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Dividends paid to shareholders

A

1 460,5
(2,7)
(1 447,1)

Company
2010
R million

935,5
(4,6)
(1 195,4)

Net cash generated from operating activities – continuing operations

10,7

(264,5)

Net cash generated from operating activities – discontinued operations

72,8

386,7

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Net proceeds from sale of investments
Proceeds from redemption of preference shares

–
(47,3)
–

(3,2)
293,4
13,2

Net cash (used in)/received from investing activities – continuing operations

(47,3)

303,4

(130,0)

(181,0)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of shares
Net amount of borrowings raised/(repaid)
Preference dividends paid
Cost of funding

2 461,5
131,7
(94,4)
(4,4)

–
(113,2)
(86,0)
(4,1)

Net cash raised/(used in) financing activities

2 494,4

(203,3)

2 400,6

41,3

(2 516,0)
130,5

–
89,2

Net cash used in investing activities – discontinued operations

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing and
discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents transferred to non-current assets and
subsequently unbundled
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

15,1

130,5

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

1 365,7

838,7

Statement of CASH FLOWS / Notes to the STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes

Company
2011
R million

notes to the STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June

A.

Cash flows from operating activities
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:
Profit before taxation (from continuing operations)
Adjusted for:
Depreciation
Dividend-in-specie received
Share option expenses
Interest paid
Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue
Fair value adjustment
Changes in working capital
– Current receivables and prepayments
– Current payables and provisions
Cash generated from operations

0,9
(6,1)
9,0
4,4
93,1
(0,2)

0,2
–
4,0
4,1
96,1
0,8

(8,8)
2,5

(3,8)
(4,6)

1 460,5

935,5
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for the year ended 30 June 2011

1.

Lease
hold
improvements
R million

Furniture,
fittings
and
equipment
R million

Motor
vehicles
R million

Total
R million

Cost

–

0,3

–

0,3

Accumulated depreciation

–

(0,3)

–

(0,3)

Net book amount

–

–

–

–

Property and equipment
At 1 July 2009

Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Closing net book amount

–

–

–

–

0,4

1,0

1,8

3,2

–

(0,1)

(0,1)

(0,2)

0,4

0,9

1,7

3,0

0,4

1,3

1,8

3,5

–

(0,4)

(0,1)

(0,5)

0,4

0,9

1,7

3,0

At 30 June 2010
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended 30 June 2011
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount

0,4

0,9

1,7

3,0

(0,1)

(0,2)

(0,6)

(0,9)

0,3

0,7

1,1

2,1

At 30 June 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

100
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0,4

1,3

1,8

3,5

(0,1)

(0,6)

(0,7)

(1,4)

0,3

0,7

1,1

2,1

2.

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

Shares at cost
Non-cumulative non-redeemable preference shares
Interest free loans

*
*
*

115,5
271,0
239,7

Investment in subsidiaries

*

626,2

*

3 456,9

Number
of shares

%
of equity

100

100,0

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

Shares at cost
Fair value of unbundled shares received – dividend-in-specie

11 778,9
–

8 586,8
2 520,5

Investment in associate

11 778,9

11 107,3

Number
of shares

%
of equity

Investment in subsidiaries

The non-cumulative non-redeemable preference shares are paid dividends at a rate
of 75% of the prime interest rate.
Directors’ valuation
Unlisted

Name of subsidiary
Phed Investments (Pty) Limited (dormant company)

3.

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

* Amount less than R50 000.

Investment in associates

The company’s interests in its associate, which is listed, are as follows:
Name of associate
FirstRand Limited

1 910 433 050

35,1*

* After consolidation of share trust

Market values based on total holding
Listed

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

37 922,1

35 798,0
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4.

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

The company’s financial assets are summarised by measurement category in the
table below.
Available-for-sale
Fair value through profit or loss

–
18,5

112,7
–

Equity and debt securities

18,5

112,7

Available-for-sale equity and debt securities
Equity securities – unlisted preference shares
Debt securities – unlisted preference shares

–
–

12,7
100,0

Available-for-sale equity and debt securities

–

112,7

Equity and debt securities at fair value through profit and loss
Equity security – listed

18,5

–

Equity and debt securities at fair value through profit and loss

18,5

–

equity and debt securities

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The current portion of financial assets is R18,5 million (2010: Nil), the remaining being
non-current.
The assets comprised in each of the categories above are detailed in the tables below.

The investments were held to redemption and were carried at cost, which equals redemption value and approximates fair
value. The investments were sold to RMI Holdings as part of the restructuring of the group.
Preference shares to the amount of R12,7 million were redeemable at any time but not later than 31 December 2014 with
the notice period being five business days. Accrued dividends were disclosed as accrued investment income. The dividend
yield is 13,7%.
Preference shares to the amount of R100,0 million were redeemable at any time but not later than 12 February 2013 with
the notice period being thirty days. Accrued dividends were disclosed as accrued investment income. The dividend yield is
62% of prime interest rate.

Availablefor-sale
R million

Far value
through
profit or
loss
R million

Total
R million

At 1 July 2009
Additions
Disposals (sales and redemptions)
Fair value net losses
Foreign currency losses

25,9
100,0
(13,2)
–
–

375,1
–
(374,3)
24,8
(25,6)

401,0
100,0
(387,5)
24,8
(25,6)

At 30 June 2010
Additions
Disposals (sales and redemptions)

112,7
–
(112,7)

–
18,5
–

112,7
18,5
(112,7)

18,5

18,5

At 30 June 2011
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–

5.

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

Accrued investment income
Income tax receivable
Other receivables

–
1,0
14,3

4,6
–
0,9

Financial assets – loans and receivables

15,3

5,5

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes relates to the same fiscal authority.
Deferred tax asset at the beginning of the year
Deferred tax credit for the year (see note 17)

7,1
2,6

2,6
4,5

Deferred tax asset at 30 June

9,7

7,1

The net deferred tax asset at the end of the year can be analysed as follows:
STC Credit

9,7

7,1

Deferred tax asset at 30 June

9,7

7,1

15,1

130,5

loans and receivables

All loans and receivables are current.

Deferred taxation

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.

Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward only to
the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable

7.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts, call deposits and short-term fixed deposits.
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8.

Number
of shares
million

Ordinary
shares
R million

Share
premium
R million

Total
R million

At 1 July 2009
Movement in share capital and premium

1 209,1
–

12,1
–

5 315,8
–

5 327,9
–

At 30 June 2010
Shares issued for cash
Shares issued in exchange for scrip
Share issue expenses
Dividend-in-specie
Treasury shares

1 209,1
72,5
130,1
–
–
–

12,1
0,7
1,3
–
–
–

5 315,8
2 515,3
4 225,1
(7,1)
(3 238,1)
(47,3)

5 327,9
2 516,0
4 226,4
(7,1)
(3 238,1)
(47,3)

At 30 June 2011

1 411,7

14,1

8 763,7

8 777,8

Share capital and premium

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 000 000 000 (2010: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per
share (2009: one cent). During the year 202 591 762 ordinary shares were issued, with a par value of one cents per share,
at a premium of R33,27 per share (2010: Nil). 15% of the unissued share capital is under the control of the board of
directors until the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2010: 100 000 000), with a par
value of one cent per share (2010: one cent). During the year nil preference shares were issued (2010: Nil). As these
preference shares are redeemable they as classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (note 10). The preference shares
are unlisted.

9.

Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

1 302,1

5 046,8

Non-distributable reserves
Share based payments reserves
Capital surpluses on disposals and restructuring of strategic investments

6,2
333,4

3,8
333,4

Total non-distributable reserves

339,6

337,2

1 641,7

5 384,0

Reserves
Distributable reserves
Retained earnings

Total reserves
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Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

10. Financial liabilities
Preference shares
Fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares
Variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares

780,0
448,1

780,0
448,1

1 228,1

1 228,1

Fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares
At beginning of year
Nil (2010: Nil) Preference shares issued

780,0
–

780,0
–

Balance at 30 June

780,0

780,0

Variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares
At beginning of year
Dividends capitalised

448,1
–

441,2
6,9

Balance at 30 June

448,1

448,1

Interest bearing loans

131,7

–

Interest bearing loans

131,7

–

Financial liabilities

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The company issued 7 800 fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, with
a par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share on 3 January 2008.
The preference shares are redeemable at the discretion of the company at any time
and compulsorily redeemable on 27 November 2012. The preference shares pay
dividends at a fixed rate of 8,55% six monthly. The preference shares are unlisted.

The company issued 4 000 variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares,
with a par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share on 3 January
2008. The preference shares are redeemable at the discretion of the company at any
time and compulsorily redeemable on 27 November 2012. Preference shares of
R270 million accrue dividends at rate of 63,5% of the prime interest rate, which were
capitalised up to 30 October 2009. The company elected to pay dividends going
forward. The remaining preference shares of R130 million pays dividends at a rate
of 63,5% of the prime interest rate six monthly. The preference shares are unlisted.

The company financed its obligations by means of a loan obtained from Rand
Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited. The loan is unsecured and
bears interest at a rate linked to the prime interest rate.

11. Provisions
Staff incentive bonus
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provisions
Utilised during the year
Balance at 30 June

5,0
5,0
(5,0)

4,0
5,0
(4,0)

5,0

5,0

All amounts are expected to be settled in 12 months.
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Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

12. Trade and other payables
Trade payables and accrued expenses
Accrued redeemable preference share dividends
Unclaimed dividends

18,3
14,9
15,2

15,9
16,2
13,5

Trade and other payables

48,4

45,6

Dividend income from subsidiaries and associates
Other investment income
Interest income on secured short-term loan
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents

1 500,8
7,6
–
2,0

949,5
5,8
1,0
10,2

Total investment income

1 510,2

966,5

Fee income
Fair value gains
Foreign currency losses

2,9
0,2
–

0,5
24,8
(25,6)

Total other income

3,1

(0,3)

Fair value gains comprise:
Equity securities

0,2

24,8

0,2
–

–
24,8

0,2

24,8

All amounts are expected to be settled in 12 months

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. Investment income

14. Other income

Unrealised mark to market
Realised mark to market
Total fair value gains
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Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

Expenses by nature:
– Depreciation
– Professional fees and regulatory compliance cost
– Insurance
– Operating lease rentals
– Audit fees
– Other expenses

(0,9)
(14,2)
(0,3)
(1,1)
(1,1)
(32,4)

(0,2)
(2,6)
(0,4)
(0,8)
(0,7)
(22,6)

Total marketing and administration expenses

(50,0)

(27,3)

Audit fees
Statutory audit – current year
Other services

(0,8)
(0,3)

(0,7)
–

Total audit fees

(1,1)

(0,7)

The company’s operating lease commitments are as follows:
– Up to 1 year
– Between 1 to 5 years

(0,8)
(0,6)

(0,8)
(1,4)

Total operating lease commitments

(1,4)

(2,2)

Interest paid on bank borrowings
Redeemable preference share dividends

(4,5)
(93,1)

(4,1)
(96,1)

Total finance costs

(97,6)

(100,2)

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. Marketing and administration expenses

16. Finance costs
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Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

17. Taxation
SA normal taxation
Current tax
– Current year
Deferred tax
– Secondary tax on companies
Taxation
The tax on the company’s profits before taxation differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of South Africa as follows:
Profit before taxation

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28%
Net income and expenses not subject to tax
Recognition of deferred tax asset
Effective tax charge

(1,6)

(4,5)

2,6

4,5

1,0

–

1 365,7

838,7

%
28,00
(27,88)
(0,19)

%
28,00
(27,46)
(0,54)

(0,07)

–

18. Dividend per share
Total dividends paid during the year
Total dividends declared during the year
Number of ordinary shares in issue
Dividends declared per share (cents) (excluding special dividend)
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1 448,7
1 425,8
1 411 703 218
101,0

1 197,0
1 499,3
1 209 111 456
124,0

19. Related parties
Principal shareholders
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. The principal shareholders are Remgro Limited, Royal
Bafokeng Holdings (Pty) Limited, Mr Dippenaar and Mr Ferreira.

Key management personnel
Only RMBH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the
company appears in the directors’ report.

Subsidiaries
Details of investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 2.
RMBSI paid RMBH a guarantee fee of R3,1 million for surety provided by RMBH in respect of a loan obtained by RMBSI
from FirstRand Bank Limited.

Associates

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Details of investments in associates are disclosed in note 3.

Other
RMBH previously invested in preference shares issued by New Seasons Financial Services (Pty) Limited (“NSFS”). NSFS is a
shareholder of RMBSI.
Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

628,0

468,3

6,3
1,5

7,2
1,5

110,9
11,9
3,1

274,7
15,7
4,7

–

239,7

1 443,8
4 565,9
3,8
6,9
93,1
4,4

1 036,3
–
2,3
9,9
96,1
4,1

Related party transactions
Transactions of RMBH with:
Principal shareholders
Dividends paid
Key management personnel
Salaries and other benefits
Directors fees
Subsidiaries
Income statement effect:
Dividends received
Preference share dividends received
Guarantee fee received
Balance sheet effect:
Loan granted
Associates
Income statement effect:
Dividends received
Dividend-in-specie
Preference share dividends received
Interest received
Preference share dividends paid
Finance costs
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Company
2011
R million

Company
2010
R million

–
–
15,1
1 228,1
14,9

100,0
2,3
130,5
1 228,1
16,2

–
131,7
–

113,1
(117,2)
4,1

131,7

–

3,6

2,3

–
–

12,7
2,3

19. Related parties continued
Related party transactions continued
Balance sheet effect
– Preference shares investment
– Loans and receivables
– Cash and cash equivalents
Preference shares liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing loans
Balance 1 July
Borrowing raised/(repaid)
Capitalised interest

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance at 30 June
Other
Income statement effect
– Investment income
Balance sheet effect:
– Financial assets – available-for-sale
– Loans and receivables

20. Contingent liabilities
	The following contingencies and guarantees exist at 30 June 2011:
• A guarantee provided in respect of funding facilities for an amount not exceeding R400 million.

21. Retirement benefits
	The company is a participant in a defined contribution pension fund and a defined contribution provident fund.
	To the extent that the company is responsible for contributions to these funds, such contributions are charged against
income as incurred. The funds are registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1956.

22. Financial risk management
	The company is exposed to various financial risks in connection with its current operating activities, such as market risk,
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
 arket risk – the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
M
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
Currency risk
	Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the reporting
currency may fluctuate due to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the
currency in which such instrument is denominated.
The company had no exposure to currency risk at 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010.
Interest rate risk
	Interest rate risk is when the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuates because of changes in
market interest rates.
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200bps
Increase
2011
R million

200bps
Decrease
2011
R million

200bps
Increase
2010
R million

200bps
Decrease
2010
R million

T he table below reflects the company’s exposure to
interest rate risk. An increase or decrease in the
market interest rate would result in the following
changes in the profit before tax of the company:
Financial assets
– Unlisted preference shares
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
– Preference shares
– Interest bearing loans

–
0,3

–
(0,3)

1,2
2,6

(1,2)
(2,6)

(5,7)
(2,6)

5,7
2,6

(5,7)
–

5,7
–

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. Financial risk management
continued

Other price risk
	Equity risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
	The table below reflect the company’s exposure to equity price risk. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the equity
prices would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the company:
10%
Increase
2011
R million
Financial assets
Listed equity shares

1,9

10%
Decrease
2011
R million

(1,9)

10%
Increase
2010
R million

10%
Decrease
2010
R million

–

–

Credit risk
	Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation. The key areas where the company is exposed to credit risk are:
• loans and receivables; and
• cash and cash equivalents.
	Significant concentrations of credit risk, if applicable, are disclosed in the financial statements. The credit exposure to any
one counterparty is managed by the board of directors and by setting transaction/exposure limits, which are reviewed at
each board and audit committee meeting. The credit worthiness of existing and potential clients is monitored by the board.

2011 annual integrated report

111

notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

22. Financial risk management continued
The table below provides information on the credit risk exposure by credit ratings at the year end (if available):
R million

A

Not rated

Total

–
15,1

15,3
–

15,3
15,1

15,1

15,3

30,4

–

12,7

12,7

100,0
2,3
130,5

–
3,2
–

100,0
5,5
130,5

232,8

15,9

248,7

Credit risk continued
At 30 June 2011
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 30 June 2010
Equity securities
– available-for-sale – unlisted
Debt securities
– available-for-sale – unlisted
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

The ratings were obtained from Fitch. The ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings
are not available, the financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. The ratings are defined as
follows:
Long-term Investment grade:
A	The financial instrument is considered upper-medium grade and is subject to low credit risk although certain
economic situations can more readily affect the issuers’ financial soundness adversely than those rated AAA
or AA.
Not rated	The credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain
assets do not have a formal rating.
Liquidity risk and asset liability matching
	Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The
company’s liabilities are matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid resources to cover its obligations. The
company’s liquidity and ability to meet such calls are monitored quarterly at the board meetings.
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Total
R million

0–6
month
R million

7 – 12
months
R million

1–5
years
R million

30 June 2011
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
– Preference shares
– Interest bearing loans
– Long term liabilities – share-based payment
Provisions
Trade and other payable

1 366,7
131,7
7,0
5,0
48,4

46,2
131,7
–
2,5
48,4

46,2
–
–
2,5
–

1 274,3
–
7,0
–
–

Total liabilities

1 558,8

228,8

48,7

1 281,3
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22. Financial risk management continued
Liquidity risk and asset liability matching continued

Total
R million

0–6
month
R million

7 – 12
months
R million

1–5
years
R million

30 June 2010
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
– Preference shares
– Long term liabilities
Provisions
Trade and other payable

1 466,0
1,7
5,0
45,6

47,6
–
2,5
45,6

47,6
–
2,5
–

1 370,8
1,7
–
–

Total liabilities

1 518,3

95,7

50,1

1 372,5

23. Financial instruments measured at fair value
Notes to the ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by level of fair value hierarchy. The different levels are
based on the extent that quoted prices are used in the calculation of the fair value of the financial instruments. These levels
are defined as follows:
• 	Level 1 – fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments as measured
on reporting date.
• Level 2 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable market inputs. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates.
• Level 3 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques which use significant unobservable inputs. RMBH does
not have any financial instruments included in level 3.

Level 1

Level 2

Total
carrying
amount

30 June 2011
Financial assets
Equity securities:
– at fair value through profit or loss

18,5

–

18,5

Total financial assets recognised at fair value

18,5

–

18,5

–

12,7

12,7

–

100,0

100,0

–

112,7

112,7

R million

30 June 2010
Financial assets
Equity securities:
– available-for-sale
Debt securities:
– available-for-sale
Total financial assets recognised at fair value
All financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.
No transfers occurred during the year ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010.

24. Post reporting date event
•

Final dividend declaration

The final dividend declaration is dealt with in the directors’ report.
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notice of annual GENERAL MEETING

RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1987/005115/06)
Share code: RMH
ISIN: ZAE000024501
(“RMBH” or “the company”)
Notice is hereby given in terms of section 62(1) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”) that the
twenty fourth annual general meeting of the shareholders of RMBH will be held in the executive boardroom, 4th floor, 4 Merchant
Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton on Friday, 2 December 2011 at 09:00 to consider, and if approved, pass
the following resolutions with or without modifications.
The record date in terms of section 59 of the Companies Act for shareholders to be recorded on the shareholders register of the
company in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the annual general meeting, is Friday, 25 November 2011.
Accordingly, the last day to trade in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the annual general meeting, is Friday,
18 November 2011.
The Companies Act came into effect on 1 May 2011 (“the effective date”). From the effective date the company’s memorandum
of association and articles of association became known as the memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”). In this notice of the
annual general meeting, the term MOI is used to refer to the company’s MOI (previously known as the memorandum of

Notice of ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

association and the articles of association).

AGENDA
1.

Presentation of the group and separate audited annual financial statements

	Presentation of the group audited annual financial statements of the company (as approved by the board of directors of the
company), including the reports of the external auditor, audit committee and directors for the financial year ended 30 June
2011, all of which are included in the annual integrated report 2011, distributed as required to shareholders.

2.

Ordinary resolution number 1

Re-election of directors
	To re-elect, by way of separate resolutions, the following directors who retired in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
2.1 Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar (62)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 12 November 1987
Educational qualifications: MCom, CA (SA)
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited, MMI Holdings Limited, Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
2.2 Jan Willem Dreyer (60)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 12 November 1987
Educational qualifications: BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDipTax
Listed directorships: Dorbyl Limited, Remgro Limited, Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
2.3 Paul Kenneth Harris (61)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 1 July 1992
Educational qualifications: MCom
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited, MMI Holdings Limited, Remgro Limited, Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 1
	A brief CV of each of these directors appear on pages 28 to 29 of the annual integrated report of which this notice
forms part.
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3.

Ordinary resolution number 2

Election of directors
	To elect, by way of separate resolutions, the following directors appointed during the year and who retire in terms of the
company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
3.1 Leon Crouse (58)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 25 May 2011
Educational qualifications: CA (SA)
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited, Remgro Limited
3.2 Niall David Joseph Carroll (46)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 25 May 2011
Educational qualifications: CA (SA) CFA
Listed directorships: Impala Platinum Holdings Limited, Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

4.
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Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 2
	A brief CV of each of these directors appear on pages 28 to 29 of the annual integrated report of which this notice
forms part.

Ordinary resolution number 3

Approval of the directors’ remuneration
	Resolved that the remuneration of the directors, as described on page 30 of the annual integrated report be approved.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 3
	In terms of the King III, the company’s remuneration policy should be tabled for a non-binding advisory vote at the annual
general meeting. The essence of this vote is to enable the shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policies
adopted and on their implementation. The company has continued with its historical practice of seeking specific approval,
hereby exceeding the requirement of the King III.

5.

Ordinary resolution number 4

Place 15% of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors
	Resolved that 15% of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the company, be and are hereby placed under the
control of the directors as a general authority until the forthcoming annual general meeting and that they be and are hereby
authorised to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such shares to such person or persons upon such terms and conditions
as the directors in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the company’s MOI and the JSE Listings
Requirements, when applicable.
	Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 4
	15% of the company’s authorised but unissued ordinary shares represents approximately 6% of issued ordinary shares.
At 30 June 2011 this was valued at approximately R2,25 billion.

6.

Ordinary resolution number 5

General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
	Resolved that the board of directors of the company be hereby authorised, by way of a renewable general authority, to issue
those shares in the share capital of the company under the control of the directors for cash as and when they in their
discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the company’s MOI and JSE Listing Requirements, when applicable, and
the following limitations, namely that:
• this authority shall be valid until the company’s next annual general meeting or for fifteen (15) months from the date of
this resolution, whichever period is shorter;
• the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case,
must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;
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• the shares must be issued to public shareholders as defined by the JSE Listings Requirements and not related parties;
• in respect of securities which are the subject of the general issue of shares for cash:
	  – in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 10% (ten per cent) of the company’s relevant number of
equity securities in issue of that class (for purposes of determining the securities comprising the 10% number in any
one year, account must be taken of the dilution effect, in the year of issue of options/convertible securities, by including
the number of any equity securities which may be issued in future arising out of the issue of such options/convertible
securities);
	  – of a particular class, will be aggregated with any securities that are compulsorily convertible into securities of that class,
and, in the case of the issue of compulsorily convertible securities, aggregated with the securities of that class into which
they are compulsorily convertible;
	  – as regards the number of securities which may be issued (the 10% number), shall be based on the number of securities
of that class in issue added to those that may be issued in future (arising from the conversion of options/convertible
securities), at the date of such application:
• less any securities of the class issued, or to be issued in future arising from options/convertible securities issued, during the
current financial year;
• plus any securities of that class to be issued pursuant to:
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	  – a rights issue which has been announced, is irrevocable and is fully underwritten; or
	  – an acquisition (which has had final terms announced) may be included as though they were securities in issue at the
date of application;
• the maximum discount at which the shares may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of the company’s
shares measured over 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors
of the company and the party subscribing for the securities; and
• a paid press announcement giving full details, including the impact on net asset value and earnings per share, will be
published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within one financial year, 5% or more of the number
of shares in issue prior to that issue, in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements; and
• any such general issue is subject to exchange control regulations and approval at that time.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 3
	Approval for this ordinary resolution is obtained by achieving 75% majority of the votes cast in favour of this resolution at
the annual general meeting by all equity security holders present or represented by proxy.

7.

Ordinary resolution number 6

Approval of re-appointment of auditors
	Resolved that, as nominated by the Audit and Risk committee, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc be re-appointed as auditors of
the company until the next annual general meeting and Mr Tom Winterboer, as the individual registered auditor who will
undertake the audit for the company, for the ensuing year.

8.

Ordinary resolution number 7

Appointment of the company’s Audit and Risk committee members
	Resolved that Messrs Dreyer, Carroll and Ms Sebotsa, who are non-executive directors of the company, be and are hereby
elected, by way of separate resolution, as members of the Audit and Risk committee with effect from the end of this annual
general meeting.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 7
	A brief CV of each of these directors appear on pages 28 to 29 of the annual integrated report of which this notice forms part.
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9.

Special resolution number 1

Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration with effect from 2 December 2011
	Resolved, as a special resolution in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, that the remuneration of the non-executive
directors for their services as directors of the company as set out below be and is hereby approved:
Per annum
Board (4 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Director
Audit Committee ( 2 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Member
Ad hoc meetings (per hour)

R180 000
R120 000
R60 000
R30 000
R2 800

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 1
	The reason for special resolution number 1 is to approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors effective from
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1 December 2011.

10. Special resolution number 2

General authority to repurchase company shares
	Resolved that, in terms of a general authority contemplated in section 48 of the Companies Act, read with sections 46, 114
and 115, as amended, the acquisition by the company, and/or any subsidiary of the company, from time to time of the issued
ordinary shares of the company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the company may
from time to time determine, be and is hereby authorised, but subject to the company’s MOI, the provisions of the
Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable, and provided that:
• this authority shall be valid until the company’s next annual general meeting provided that it shall not extend beyond
fifteen (15) months from the date of passing this special resolution;
• any such repurchase be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any prior
understanding or agreement between the company and the counterparty;
• a paid press release giving such details as may be required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements be published when
the company or its subsidiaries have cumulatively repurchased 3% of the initial number of the relevant class of shares, and
for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter;
• a general repurchase may not in the aggregate in any one financial year exceed 10% of the number of shares in the
company’s issued share capital at the beginning of the financial year provided that a subsidiary/subsidiaries of the company
may not hold at any one time more than 10% in aggregate of the number of issued shares of the company;
• no repurchases will be effected during a prohibited period unless there is in place a repurchase programme where the
dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any variation) and full
details of the programme have been disclosed in an announcement over SENS prior to the commencement of the
prohibited period;
• at any point in time, the company may only appoint one agent to effect repurchases on the company’s behalf;
• in determining the price at which shares may be repurchased in terms of this authority, the maximum premium permitted
be 10% above the weighted average traded price of the shares as determined over the five (5) days prior to the date of
repurchase;
• a resolution has been passed by the board of directors, confirming that the board has authorised the general repurchase,
that the company passed the solvency and liquidity test and that since the test was done, there have been no material
changes to the financial position of the group;
• the sponsor to the company provides a letter to the JSE on the adequacy of working capital in terms of section 2.12 of
the JSE Listings Requirements prior to any repurchases being implemented; and
• any such general repurchase is subject to exchange control regulations and approvals at the point in time, where relevant.
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	The board has no immediate intention to use this authority to repurchase company shares. However, the board is of the
opinion that this authority should be in place should it become appropriate to undertake a share repurchase in the future.
	The directors undertake that they will not effect a general repurchase of shares as contemplated unless the following can
be met:
• the company and the group will be able in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after
the date of the repurchase;
• the assets of the company and the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the company and the group for a period of
12 months after the date of the repurchase. The assets and liabilities have been recognised and measured for this
purpose in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited annual group financial statements;
• the company’s and the group’s ordinary share capital and reserves will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a
period of 12 months following the date of the repurchase; and
• the company and the group will, after such repurchase, have sufficient working capital for ordinary business purposes for
a period of 12 months following the date of the repurchase.
Additional information in respect of special resolution number 2
	The reason for and the effect of the special resolution is to grant the company’s directors a general authority, up to and
including the date of the following annual general meeting of the company, to approve the company’s purchase of shares
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in itself, or to permit a subsidiary of the company to purchase shares in the company. The effect of special resolution number
2 is to grant a general authority to the company’s directors accordingly.
	For purposes of considering the special resolution and in compliance with Rule 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the
information listed below has been included in the Annual Integrated Report in which this notice of annual general meeting
is included, at the places indicated:
• Directors and management – refer page 38;
• Major shareholders – refer page 37;
• Material change – refer page 39;
• Directors’ interests in securities – refer page 30;
• Share capital of the company – refer page 37;
• The directors, whose names are set out on pages 28 to 29 of this report, collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this special resolution and certify that to the best of their
knowledge and belief that there are no other facts, the omission of which would make any statement false or misleading
and that they have made all reasonable queries in this regard and that this resolution contains all information required by
law and the JSE Listings Requirements; and
• Litigation – There are no legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings that are pending or threatened
of which the company is aware) which may have or have had in the previous 12 months, a material effect on the group’s
financial position.

11. Special resolution number 3

 eneral authority to provide financial assistance for the acquisition of securities in the company and/
G
or any related or inter-related company
	Resolved as a special resolution of the company that, subject to compliance with the JSE Listing Requirements, the Companies
Act (specifically the provisions of section 44 of the Companies Act) and the company’s MOI, the shareholders hereby approve
of the company providing, at any time and from time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of
this special resolution, any financial assistance as contemplated in such section of the Companies Act to any 1 (one) or more
directors and/or employees of the company and/or to any companies or other persons related or inter-related (as defined in
the Companies Act) to the company, and/or any 1 (one) or more companies or other persons related or inter-related to the
company, for the purpose of or in connection with the acquisition of any securities of the company or a company related or
inter-related to the company, on such terms and conditions as the board of directors of the company, or any one or more
persons authorised by the board of directors of the company from time to time for such purpose, deems fit.
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Additional information in respect of special resolution number 3
	The reason for special resolution no. 3 is to grant the directors of the company the authority required by the Companies Act
to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to, inter alia, its subsidiaries, associates and other persons related or interrelated to the company and/or to directors and/or employees of the company or its subsidiaries or associates, inter alia for
purposes of management or employee share schemes.

12. Special resolution number 4

General authority to provide financial assistance to related companies and inter-related parties
	Resolved as a special resolution of the company that subject to compliance with the JSE Listing Requirements, the Companies
Act (specifically the provisions of section 45 of the Companies Act), and the company’s MOI, the shareholders hereby approve
of the company providing, at any time and from time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date
of this special resolution, any direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in such section of the Companies Act to
any 1 (one) or more related or inter-related companies or corporations of the company and/or to any 1 (one) or more
members of any such related or inter-related company or corporation, or any 1 (one) or more persons related to any such
company, corporation on such terms and conditions as the board of directors of the company, or any one or more persons
authorised by the board of directors of the company from time to time for such purpose, deems fit.

Notice of ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 4
	The reason for special resolution no. 4 is to grant the directors of the company the authority required by the Companies Act
to provide direct or indirect financial assistance through inter alia the lending of money, guaranteeing of a loan or other
obligation and securing any debt or obligation, to its subsidiaries, associates and inter-related parties to the company.

NOTICE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY IN TERMS OF SECTION 45(5) OF
	
THE COMPANIES ACT OF A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE BOARD AUTHORISING
THE COMPANY TO PROVIDE DIRECT OR INDIRECT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE:
• by the time that this notice of the annual general meeting is delivered to shareholders, the board would have adopted a
written board resolution (“the Section 45 Board Resolution”) authorising the company to provide at any time and from
time to time during the period of two (2) years from the date that the above special resolution number 4 are adopted, any
direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to any one or more related or
inter-related companies or corporations of the company and/or to any one or more members of any such related or interrelated company or corporation and/or to any one or more persons related to any such company or corporation;
• the Section 45 Board Resolution will only be subject to and only effective to the extent that special resolution number 4
is adopted by shareholders and the provision of any such direct or indirect financial assistance by the company, pursuant
to such resolution, will always be subject to the board being satisfied that immediately after providing such financial
assistance, the company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act
and that the terms under which the financial assistance will be given are fair and reasonable to the company as required
in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and
• the company hereby provides notice of the Section 45 Board Resolution to shareholders of the company.

13. To transact any other business that may be transacted at an annual general meeting

APPROVALS REQUIRED FOR RESOLUTIONS
	Ordinary resolutions number 1,2,3,4,6 and 7 contained in this notice of annual general meeting require the approval by more
than 50% of the votes exercised in the resolutions by shareholders present of represented by proxy at the annual general
meeting, and further subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the company’s MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements.
	Ordinary resolutions number 5 (general authority to issue shares for cash) and special resolutions number 1 to 4 contained
in this Notice of annual general meeting require the approval at least 75% of the votes exercised in the resolutions by
shareholders present of represented by proxy at the annual general meeting, and further subject to the provisions of the
Companies Act, the company’s MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING ATTENDANCE AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
General
	Shareholders wishing to attend the annual general meeting have to ensure beforehand with the Transfer Secretaries of the
company that their shares are in fact registered in their name.
	In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, shares held by a share trust or scheme, treasury shares and unlisted shares will not
have their votes at the annual general meeting taken into account for the purposes of resolutions proposed.

Certificated members
Shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration are
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting and are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in their stead.
The person so appointed need not be a member. Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the registered office of the company/
company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or to fax number 011 688 5238 and be received by them no later than 09:00 on Wednesday,
30 November 2011.

Dematerialised shareholders
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Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than those members who have dematerialised their shares with “own
name” registration, should contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker in the manner and time
stipulated in their agreement:
– to furnish them with their voting instructions; and
– in the event that they wish to attend the meeting, to obtain the necessary authority to do so.

Proof of identification required
Kindly note that participants at the meeting (including shareholders and proxies) will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory
identification before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity
documents, driver’s licences and passports.
By order of the board of directors

EJ Marais
BCom (Hons), CA (SA)
Company secretary

19 October 2011
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shareholders’ information
as at 30 June 2011

Shares held
(000’s)
Analysis of shareholding
Major shareholders (owners) holding more than 5%
Financial Securities Limited (Remgro)
Public Investment Commissioner
LL Dippenaar (direct and indirect)
GT Ferreira (direct and indirect)
Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Pty) Limited

444
184
85
81
72

520
651
179
235
464

31.5
13,1
6.0
5.8
5.1

Sub-total
Other

868 049
543 654

61,5
38,5

1 411 703

100,0

Total
Shareholder type
Corporates
Pension Funds
Insurance Companies
Unit Trusts
Private Investors
Other Managed Funds

594
250
35
152
46
331

219
957
439
365
832
891

42.1
17.8
2.5
10.8
3.3
23.5

1 411 703

100.0

Number of
shareholders

Shares
held

%

28 296

683 532

48.4

2
7

516 984
211 187

36.6
15.0

28 305

1 411 703

100.0

Shares held

%

Geographic Ownership
South Africa
International

1 271 499
140 204

90.1
9.9

Total

1 411 703

100.0

Before
unbundling

Since
unbundling

2010

1 209 111

1 411 703

1 209 111

2
2
2
2

3
3
2
2

Total

Public and non-public shareholders
Public
Non-public
– Corporates (Remgro)
– Directors and associates
Total

Shareholders’ INFORMATION

%

* Extracted from shareholder analysis provided by Orient Capital Limited.

PERFORMANCE ON THE JSE LIMITED

Number of shares in issue (000’s)
Market prices (cents per share):
Closing*
High**
Low**
Weighted average**
Closing price/net asset value per share*
Closing price/earnings (Headline)*
Volume of shares traded (millions)**
Value of shares traded (R millions) **
Market capitalisation (R millions)*

–
4 089
3 100
3 590
–
–
325
11 665
–

665
928
351
654
1,7
11,5
210
5 577
37 622

120
505
314
266
1,7
10.4
492
14 422
37 724

* as at 30 June.
** for the period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ diary

Reporting

Dividends

Interim for 2012
– Announcement of results
Final for 2012
– Announcement of results for 2012
– Annual report posted by
– Annual general meeting

31 December 2011
Mid-March 2012
30 June
Mid-September
End October
December

2012
2012
2012
2012

Interim for 2012
– Declared
– Payable

Mid-March 2012
Early April 2012

Final for 2012
– Declared
– Payable

Mid-September 2012
Mid-October 2012

ADMINISTRATION

RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Registration number 1987/005115/06)
Share code: RMH ISIN ZAE000024501 (“RMBH”)

Shareholders’ DIARY / Administration

Company secretary
EJ Marais, BCom (Hons), CA (SA)
Registered office
3rd floor
2 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road
Sandton
2196
Postal address
PO Box 786273
Sandton
2146

Rand Merchant Bank (a division of FirstRand Bank Limited)
1 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road
Sandton
2196
Telephone
National
International

(011) 282 8000
+27 11 282 8000

Telefax
National
International

(011) 282 8008
+27 11 282 8008

Transfer secretaries

Telephone
National
International

(011) 282 1010
+27 11 282 1010

Telefax
National
International

(011) 282 4210
+27 11 282 4210

Website
www.rmbh.co.za

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated
2 Eglin Road
Sunninghill
2157
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Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001
Postal address
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107
Telephone
National
International

(011) 370 5000
+27 11 370 5000

Telefax
National
International

(011) 688 5221
+27 11 688 5221

form of PROXY
Only for use by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name”
registration.

RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1987/005115/06))
Share Code: RMH
ISIN: ZAE000024501
(“the company”)
For use by shareholders, who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares but with own name registration,
at the annual general meeting to be held at 09:00 on Friday 2 December 2011, in the Executive boardroom, 4th floor, 4 Merchant Place,
Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, and at any adjournment thereof.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares other than with own name registration, must inform their Central Securities Depository
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them
with the necessary authorisation to attend or they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish
to attend the annual general meeting in person.
I/We, the undersigned (name)
of (address)
the registered holder of
ordinary shares in RMB Holdings Limited (Reg No 1987/005115/06), hereby appoint
1.

of

or failing him

2.

of

or failing him

3. t he chairperson of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to be present and act on my/our behalf, speak and on a poll, vote on
my/our behalf as indicated below at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the company to be held at 09:00 on Friday
2 December 2011 and at any adjournment thereof as follows: (see Note 2).
Insert an “X” or the number of votes
exercisable
(one vote per ordinary share)
Against

Abstain

Form of PROXY

In favour of
Ordinary resolution number 1
Re-election of the following directors:
1.1 Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar
1.2 Jan Willem Dreyer
1.3 Paul Kenneth Harris
Ordinary resolution number 2
Election of the following directors:
2.1 Leon Crouse
2.2 Niall David Joseph Carroll
Ordinary resolution number 3
Approval of directors’ remuneration
Ordinary resolution number 4
Place 15% of the unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Ordinary resolution number 5
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
Ordinary resolution number 6
Approval of re-appointment of auditors
Ordinary resolution number 7
Appointment of the company’s Audit & Risk committee members
1.1 Jan W Dreyer
1.2 Niall DJ Carroll
1.3 Sonja EN Sebotsa
Special resolution number 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
Special resolution number 2
General authority to repurchase company shares
Special resolution number 3
General authority to provide financial assistance for the acquisition of securities in
the company and/or any related or inter-related company
Special resolution number 4
General authority to provide financial assistance to related companies and
inter-related parties

Instructions to my/our proxy are indicated by a cross in the space provided above or by the number of shares in the appropriate boxes
where all shares held are not being voted.
2011
Signature of registered shareholder (assisted by me as applicable)

PLEASE SEE NOTES ON REVERSE SIDE OF THE FORM

Date
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notes
1.	A shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, may appoint one or more proxies to attend,
speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.
2.	Every shareholder present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting of the company shall, on
a show of hands, have one vote only, irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder holds, but in the event of a poll,
every ordinary share in the company shall have one vote.
3.	Dematerialised shareholders registered in their own names are shareholders who appointed Computershare Custodial
Services as their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) with the express instruction that their uncertificated
shares are to be registered in the electronic sub-register of members in their own names.

Instructions on signing and lodging the proxy form

Explanatory notes to the NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

1.	A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholders choice in the
space/s provided overleaf, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion
must be initialled by the member. Should this space be left blank, the chairperson of the annual general meeting will exercise
the proxy. The person whose name appears first on the proxy form and who is present at the annual general meeting will
be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.
2.	A shareholders’ voting instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the number of votes exercisable by that
shareholder in the appropriate spaces provided overleaf. Failure to do so shall be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or
to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting, as he/she thinks fit in respect of all the shareholders’ exercisable votes.
A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by his/her proxy, but the total number of votes
cast, or those in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total number of votes exercisable by the
member or by his/her proxy.
3.	A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are
produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.
4.	To be valid the completed proxy forms must be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare
Investor Services (Pty) Limited at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or to fax
number 011 688 5238 to be received by no later than 09:00 on Wednesday 30 November 2011. Proxy forms may only be
completed by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own
name” registration. Any forms of proxy not received by this time must be handed to the chairperson of the annual general
meeting immediately prior to the annual general meeting.
5.	Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative capacity must be
attached to this proxy form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the annual
general meeting.
6.	The completion and lodging of this proxy form shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such
shareholder wish to do so.
7.	The completion of any blank spaces overleaf need not be initialled. Any alterations or corrections to this proxy form must be
initialled by the signatory/ies.
8.	The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed other than in
accordance with these instructions provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.
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RMBH
3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, Corner Fredman Drive & Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 282 1010 // Telefax (011) 282 4210
www.rmbh.co.za
Contact: Ellen Marais

FirstRand
4 Merchant Place, Corner Fredman Drive & Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 650149, Benmore, 2010
Telephone (011) 282 1801 // Telefax (011) 282 8088
www.firstrand.co.za
Contact: Bruce Unser
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